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Key figuresThe year 2015

Figures for 2013 are unofficial and have been amended for purposes of comparison to correspond to the 
organizational structure at the end of 2015. As a result, they differ from the official/reported figures for 2013.

Revenio Group

Continuing operations 2015 2014 2013

Net sales 20.3 16.0 13.5

Operating profit 5.8 4.4 4.3

Revenio Health Tech

Net sales 20.3 16.0 13.5

Operating profit 7.4 5.4 5.4

Average number of personnel

Revenio Health Tech 32 23 19

Parent company 5 5 6

Discontinued operations 0 44 48

Group Key Figures

2015 2014 2013

Net sales 20.3 16.0 13.5

Operating profit 5.8 4.4 4.3

Operating profit, % 28.4 27.5 31.6

Return on equity, % 48.0 -5.1 25.7

Return on investment, % 55.0 1.1 29.7

Equity ratio, % 81.6 62.4 66.1

Net gearing, % -48.3 -22.4 -16.8

Earnings per share, continuing 
operations, undiluted, EUR 0.61 0.47 0.38

Equity per share 1.96 1.52 1.95

Trade in Revenio shares 2015

Share price development 2015

2.8
million shares

62.3  
EUR million

35.5%
of shares

6,507
shareholders

Growth Net sales EUR million Profitability Operating profit EUR million

Dividends € Equity ratio %
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Revenio aims to be the 
global leader in screening 
technologies

Global leader  in screening 
technologies

Although Revenio's markets are global, the compa-
ny retains a strong ownership base and R&D activities 
in Finland. Revenio's objective is to rely on its exist-
ing products to further expand its geographic reach, 
while investing strongly in the development of new 
health technologies.

1
GROWTH AND 
PROFITABILITY

Existing products
New products
Market shares

Processes

2
BUILDING 
SUCCESS 

FOR ICARE

Global market 
leadership

Winning products 
å Continuous R&D

3
NEW 

TECHNOLOGIES

Licensing
Productization and 
commercialization

Acquisitions

4
INCREASING 

SHAREHOLDER 
VALUE

Continuous 
business 

development

Revenio is a Finnish-owned and globally op-
erating health technology corporation whose 
worldwide success is based on a Finnish in-
vention – strongly patented intraocular pres-
sure measurement technology. The Revenio 
Group consists of Icare Finland Oy, Revenio 
Research Oy, Icare Inc. and Oscare Medical 
Oy, in which Revenio holds a 53% interest. 

The main product and the core business 
of Icare Finland is Icare tonometers for the 
measurement, monitoring, and screening 
of intraocular pressure as part of diagnos-
ing glaucoma. Revenio Research focuses on 
R&D projects with the objective of identifying 
and commercializing new health tech-related 
screening technologies. 

After selecting specific screening technolo-
gies, Revenio’s role is to produce simple and 
easy-to-use methods and devices that will re-
place old-fashioned and inefficient operating 
models in the screening of large populations. 
The common denominators in all operations 
include screening, follow-up and the global 
need to generate cost savings through pre-
ventive health care Innovations that are easi-
ly available everywhere in the world increase 
the quality and productivity of health care. 
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Revenio in brief Focus strategy

 We want to play a 
key role in preven-

tive health care.
 Our goal is to be the 

global market leader in 
tonometry.



Olli-Pekka Salovaara
President & CEO
Revenio Group

 
Revenio performed well in 2015, as evidenced by growing sales and a strong
foothold in the US markets. In terms of numbers, 2015 was successful and we  
were able to build on past performance, with net sales up by 26.3 per cent from 
the previous year, reflecting our growing market share as one of the leading suppli-
ers of tonometers worldwide. During the year, we received sales permits for Icare 
TA01i in China and Brazil, which will provide more growth potential in these new 
markets. Meanwhile, the systematic progress made with new product concepts re-
lated to asthma and skin cancer is providing us with what we need to achieve our 
goal: to be the global leader in screening technologies.

The year began with the introduction of a 
new organizational structure following the 
official launch of Revenio Research Oy. The 
decision to separate the research and de-
velopment of new products from operating 
activities better equips us to pursue further 
systematic development based on our prod-
uct concepts, while our companies engaged 
in business activities can focus fully on the 
sales and marketing of existing products.

All our teams have done a great job and 
we should be proud of our achievements in 
2015. However, becoming the global lead-
er in selected screening technologies will 
require continuous efforts in research and 
development, as well as in sales, marketing 
and quality assurance. To help us meet this 
goal, we have recruited new personnel in the 
preparation of new product launches and 
entry into new market areas. For skilled pro-
fessionals, we can offer challenging positions 
in an international environment within a lead-
ing health technology company.

New opportuni-
ties and a stronger 
foothold in existing 
markets
More than 40% of the world's health tech-
nology products are sold in the United 
States. Accounting for an approximately 50 
per cent share of our net sales, the United 
States is Revenio's key market area. Net 
sales in the United States grew organically 
by 24.4 per cent.

An updated version of the Icare tonome-
ter TA01i, ic100, was granted a CE mark-
ing in Europe and thereby a sales permit in 
the EU. The market launch and sales of this 

new product took place in early 2016. The 
ic100 has required significant R&D invest-
ments, and we expect it to gradually replace 
the Icare TA01i tonometer introduced to the 
markets in 2003. Probe sales are expected 
to become more substantial following growth 
in device sales and increasingly active use of 
the devices.

In September, we filed a sales license appli-
cation with the United States Food and Drug 
Administration (FDA) for the Icare HOME to-
nometer designed for monitoring eye pressure 
at home. The FDA sent additional questions 
regarding the application in November. These 
were routine questions, requesting further clar-
ifications and additional analyses. The ques-
tions were answered after the review period in 
February 2016. We are ready to launch sales in 
the United States immediately after the license 
has been granted. A sales license application 
for the Icare ic100 tonometer has also been 
filed in the United States. We expect to receive 
a sales licence for both products during 2016.

We have also taken steps to align the Icare 
organization in the United States with the 
growth prospects of this major market, by 
hiring a financial manager and a product 
marketing manager specializing in the mar-
ket launch of the HOME tonometer. Similarly, 
much of my personal input will be dedicated 
to the US market, which is why I have been 
working at our Raleigh office since early May.

Sales efforts related to the Oscare SonoTM 
osteoporosis detection device in 2015 fo-
cused on locating distributors and end cus-
tomers. Although sales volumes were rel-
atively modest, we are moving in the right 
direction. I believe that the actions and prod-
uct improvements currently under way will 
boost device sales in 2016.

The product concept development work 
carried out at Revenio Research on the de-
tection, patient-led screening and follow up 
of asthma and skin cancer is proceeding as 
planned. I feel very confident about the fu-
ture of these product concepts and believe 
that we will be able to announce more de-
tails in 2016 on the productization of both 
concepts and the timing of their global mar-
ket launch. In 2015, we invested EUR 1.5 
million in health technology project develop-
ment projects that were not related to the 
Icare product range.

Seeking continuous 
improvement
As stated in our strategy, our goal is to be 
the global leader in selected screening tech-
nologies. To achieve this goal, we need to 
generate profitable growth, which we have 
been able to do for several years. Supporting 
the success of Icare with continuous re-
search and development is an important 
part of our strategy. In addition, we must 
strengthen our position through licensing, 
productization and commercialization, and 
acquisitions. 

We owe this success to our committed em-
ployees and partners around the world. 
I also want to thank our shareholders for 
their trust and confidence in our work.

Dear Reader,
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Revenio Health Tech segment

Revenio aims to develop more efficient 
methods for the early-stage detection of 
diseases that have a significant impact 
on public health. Over the next few years, 
Revenio will focus on the detection of glau-
coma, osteoporosis, skin cancer and asth-
ma, and the monitoring of these during the 
treatment process.

Revenio Health Tech performed strongly in 
2015. The Group's growth driver is Icare, 
which continued to strengthen its position 
as one of the market leaders in intraocular 
pressure measurement. The Revenio Health 
Tech segment generated net sales of EUR 
20.3 (16.0) million; an increase of 26.3% on 
the previous year. Operating profit amounted 
to EUR 7.4 (5.4) million; up by 37.6% on the 
previous year. The second and third quarter 
of 2015 were the strongest in Icare's history.

The Icare success 
story continues
Icare develops, sells and markets easy-to-
use portable tonometers, which use the 
company's patented rebound technology 
and provide a painless experience for the 
patient. Icare's business consists of the sale 
of tonometers and disposable probes.

Icare had a very successful year in 2015, 
with both sales and profitability on a strong 
growth track. Sales performance was excel-
lent throughout the year in the United States 
in particular. Great sales trends were also re-
corded in the UK, Spain, Sweden and India.

Sales of disposable probes for tonome-
ters also grew strongly. Probe sales are 

expected to generate a growing, recurring 
cash flow, and to provide a solid foundation 
for device sales. Going forward, probe sales 
should account for an increasingly large 
share of Icare's net sales.

Icare's focus areas include increasing sales 
of the Icare HOME tonometer designed for 
self-monitoring of intraocular pressure as 
part of the treatment process and obtaining 
a sales license for the device in the US, the 
market launch of the new generation Icare 
ic100 tonometer, building a stronger global 
distribution network, and boosting sales in 
the Chinese and Brazilian markets, where 
sales permits were granted in 2015. 

The most important market for Icare is the 
United States, which is the largest individ-
ual market for health technology products 
worldwide. Icare also plans to expand its 
product sales to new geographical areas 
and new user groups. Besides ophthalmol-
ogists, potential user groups include opti-
cians, optometrists, emergency clinics, gen-
eral practitioners and nurses.

In September Icare filed a sales license ap-
plication with the United States Food and 
Drug Administration (FDA) for the Icare 
HOME tonometer designed for monitoring 
eye pressure at home. The FDA sent ad-
ditional questions regarding the applica-
tion inNovember 2015. These questions 
were answered after the review period in 
February 2016. A sales license application 
for the Icare ic100 tonometer has also been 
filed in the United States. Company expects 
to receive a sales licence for both products 
during 2016. Alongside the more wide-
spread use of the Icare HOME tonometer, 

Icare aims to create new treatment practices 
in which a doctor treating a glaucoma pa-
tient can lend an Icare HOME tonometer to 
the patient for around-the-clock home mea-
surement. The resulting information on the 
patient’s 24-hour intraocular pressure (IOP) 
fluctuation would help the doctor to make 
the proper treatment decisions. For patients 
diagnosed with glaucoma, continuous IOP 
monitoring forms a key part of the treatment 
in order to contribute to preventing progres-
sion of the disease and to determine the 
proper medication.

The launch of the new tonometer, Icare 
ic100, is expected to provide future growth 
potential in the device replacement mar-
kets. The Icare ic100 tonometer will replace 
gradually Icare's most sold device, the Icare 
TA01i. The Icare ic100 includes several ad-
vanced features that increase user comfort, 
such as a modern user interface (EasyNav), 
automatic serial measurement (six measure-
ments with a single press of the button) and 
a patented LED light solution (EasyPos) for 
easy positioning.

Revenio Research 
focuses on R&D
Revenio Research manages the Revenio 
Group's research and development projects 
for future products. The aim is to create new 
successful products and future growth paths 
for the Group, based on its licensed asth-
ma and skin cancer screening technologies. 
The common denominators of these product 
concepts include screening, follow-up and 
the global need to generate cost savings 
through preventive health care. Licensing 
provides Revenio with a quick and cost-effi-
cient way of building future growth opportu-
nities for the Group.

The device designated to facilitate asthma di-
agnosis has received positive feedback from 
medical specialists. Tampere University of 
Technology has been studying the technology 
in cooperation with Helsinki University Central 
Hospital and Tampere University Hospital 
since 2012. During the test period, more than 
150 patients participated in four separate 
studies. A study currently in progress is moni-
toring the post-medication results. The results 
are very encouraging. The device is used 
to measure the night-time expiratory flow 

rate, especially in infants and small children. 
Traditional spirometry is unsuitable for as-
sessing lung functionality in this target group. 
The measurements detect the changes in 
respiration that are typical of asthma, which 
helps the physician to diagnose the condition 
and optimize the medication of each patient. 
Development work is progressing as planned. 
Revenio will announce more specific details 
on the product launch schedule in 2016.

A prototype of Revenio's skin cancer screen-
ing device underwent clinical trials in the der-
matology department of Päijät-Häme Central 
Hospital in the period 2013–2014 and was 
used to analyze more than 100 patients 
during this time. The results have been very 
encouraging: the device has a clearly wider 
imaging area and greater precision than de-
vices already on the market. Revenio wants to 
make this easy-to-use, mobile screening de-
vice – intended for the early detection of skin 
changes – available to dermatologists quick-
ly and cost-effectively. Development work 
is progressing according to the company's 
plans and schedules. Based on the feedback 
collected from the clinical trials, a set of three 
prototypes was completed in late 2015 and 
the devices are now in clinical use.

Oscare detects changes 
in bone density 
The Oscare Sono® device for the screening 
and monitoring of osteoporosis, developed by 
Oscare Medical, a company 53% owned by 
the Revenio Group, is now in serial produc-
tion. In 2015, the focus was primarily on sales 
and marketing, particularly on building an ex-
tensive distribution network.

Oscare Medical's small and lightweight Oscare 
Sono® osteoporosis measurement device can 
measure bone strength from arm and to re-
duce the number of avoidable bone fractures. 
The device does not challenge the DXA mea-
surement system that is considered the stan-
dard in the field, but functions as an effective 
screening method in support of the system. 
The Oscare Medical measurement meth-
od and device have been granted patents in 
Finland, Japan and China. 

Revenio Health Tech

Revenio's objective is to become a leading global 
health technology company specializing in pa-
tient-led screening. The health care sector is 
now facing many challenges, such as an aging 
population and the need to focus on prevention 
and cost efficiency – screening provides a feasible 
solution to these problems. What the health care 
sector needs is innovative tools that are easy to use 
and can be adopted worldwide at low cost. 
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Revenio strives  
for strong growth  
in health technologies

The Revenio Group's objective is to become 
a global leader in health tech-related screening 
technologies. Meeting this objective requires a long-
term commitment to research and development in var-
ious fields of health technology. Revenio is a Finnish com-
pany, and its product manufacture, assembly and quality 
control take place in Finland. Its number of personnel 
has been growing as the Group prepares for sales 
growth and the launch of new products. 

11 12
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Research and 
development
Revenio Research, which launched its op-
erations in early 2015, is tasked with man-
aging the Group's outsourced research and 
development activities. Some operation-
al adjustments were made to ensure that 
Revenio plays an active and systematic 
role in the projects. Optimal team size and 
skilled subcontractors guarantee operation-
al quality and agility. The objective of these 
operations is to identify and commercialize 
new health tech opportunities and turn new 
product concepts into growth paths along-
side the Group's existing products.

In January 2015 Revenio announced two 
significant new health technology inno-
vations: a screening device for the ear-
ly detection of skin cancer, and a patent-
ed invention for diagnosing asthma. Both 
of these openings are related to major na-
tional diseases, early detection of which is 
essential for successful treatment. A pa-
tient-led screening approach is the common 

denominator between these proj-
ects. The R&D projects are pro-
gressing as scheduled and the 
announcement of product launch 
schedules is expected to take 
place during 2016.

Production

All research and development on 
Icare tonometers, as well as their 
manufacture and assembly, take place in 
Finland. Similarly, most of Icare's long-term 
subcontractors are Finnish. The company's 
subcontractor and distributor network and 
its medical specialist partners are the best 
in the business.

Following the gradual move of probe pro-
duction to Finland, a new production line 
was opened in 2015. These actions were 
taken to prepare for sales growth and to im-
prove delivery chain control as part of maxi-
mizing the Icare products' growth potential. 

Markets
Icare is a leading manufacturer, distribu-
tor and marketer of tonometers worldwide, 
with sales permits in all key markets. While 
the United States continues to be the num-
ber one market area, other strong markets 
include Japan, Australia, England, Germany, 
and Scandinavia. A strong distributor net-
work contributes significantly to our market 
success.

Quality
Icare's success is built on strong compe-
tencies in product development, produc-
tion, quality, sales and marketing. A skilled 
subcontractor and distributor network, 
backed up by partnerships with medical 
specialists, contributes to making Icare a 
hallmark of quality around the world. Icare’s 
quality management system has been cer-
tified in accordance with an international 
standard for health tech service providers 
and manufacturers and designers of med-
ical devices. Understanding of legislative, 
product and safety requirements is a major 
component of quality. These requirements 
are duly observed in the Icare quality sys-
tem over its entire life cycle from R&D to 
production and market surveillance. One 
quality-related process continuously under-
way at Icare is country-specific product reg-
istration, including all necessary updates. 
Successful completion of the sales license 
application process is required for market 
entry. 

Sales and marketing 
Approximately 50,000 Icare tonometers 
have been sold in more than 75 countries.

The sales and marketing organization un-
derwent a major overhaul in late 2015, 
when all Revenio Group products were 
moved under a single support function.  
The matrix organization now has three sales 
regions: Europe and the rest of the world, 
North America, and Asia. 

Our sales and marketing personnel, which 
grew by a total of four people in 2015 in 
different sales regions, are tasked with an-
ticipating the increase in demand and pro-
viding the appropriate response. More sales 
people were recruited to intensify the sales 
and marketing of both existing and new 
products.

Global distribution 
network 

Icare's success is based not only on its in-
novative products but also on its interna-
tional distribution network. This international 
distribution network has made a major con-
tribution to the success of the company's 
sales efforts.

In the United States, Icare entered in-
to distribution cooperation in the United 
States by signing an agreement with Iridex 
Corporation (OEM) in May and with Topcon 
Medical Systems in July.

Efforts will continue to build a stronger dis-
tribution network with the best distribu-
tion partners for all key user groups in all 
countries.

Personnel
Revenio Group's personnel increased, total-
ing 40 at the end of 2015 as the Group pre-
pared for the launch of Icare's new tonom-
eter, the Icare ic100, for the sales license 
process of Icare HOME in the US markets, 
and for further progress based on new 
product concepts. 

Two new employees responsible for growth 
prospects in the US markets joined the US 
organization. In addition, Revenio Group's 
CEO Olli-Pekka Salovaara moved to the 
United States in May 2015 to work in the 
Raleigh office.

Revenio seeks to employ the most skilled 
and competent people available. In return, 
it offers exciting and challenging job roles, 
continuous training and education, and the 
opportunity for professional growth in a 
leading health technology company. Icare's 
success is built on high quality, an efficient 
production process and skilled employees.

Globally recognized competence Globally recognized competence 

In April, the FDA conducted a four-day quality 
inspection at Icare's premises in Finland. 
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Production and warehouse 
capacity was doubled in 
preparation for increase in 
demand and growth.

Icare HOME was granted a sales permit 
in China, Brazil, South Korea and Taiwan. 
Icare TA01i was granted a sales permit in 
China and Brazil. 



The provision of cost-efficient and cor-
rectly targeted health care is a challenge 
societies all over the world are facing. The 
quality and productivity of health care can be 
enhanced with innovations that are easily avail-
able everywhere in the world. User-friendliness 
and reliability are the features behind the Icare prod-
uct line's success. The Icare product line includes to-
nometers for humans and animals, tonometers for use 
at home, and the related disposable probes. The 
Icare product line is extensively protected with 
more than 20 patents worldwide. Revenio's 
growth in the health technology sector is 
bolstered by its majority shareholding in 
Oscare Medical Oy, and new product 
concepts. 

A pioneer 
in its business 
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Quick, reliable, accurate and easy-to-use 
measurement devices are needed in the 
diagnosis of glaucoma. Unlike traditional 
examination methods, use of a tonometer 
does not require local anesthesia or exper-
tise in ophthalmology. The Icare tonometers 
are easy to use and therefore reliable in all 
conditions. Thanks to their high quality, us-
er-friendliness and quick and painless mea-
surement, our tonometers have won the ap-
proval of patients and professionals alike. 

By the end of 2015, more than 50,000 de-
vices had been sold in over 75 countries. 
Sales permits were granted for the Icare 
TA01i in China and Brazil in 2015. 

Probe sales represent a 
growing part of net sales

In the case of Icare tonometers, the probe is 
discarded after a single use. During measure-
ment, the probe touches the cornea for 0.05 
seconds. The following rebound is measured 
using electromagnetic induction, enabling the 
calculation of intraocular pressure. 

Probe sales continued to grow in 2015 and 
are expected to become more substan-
tial following growth in device sales and in-
creasingly active use of the devices. 

Revenio the 
majority shareholder 
in Oscare Medical
Osteoporosis is the cause of approximate-
ly nine million bone fractures each year. 
Treatment is often delayed because osteo-
porosis is not detected in time. 

A majority shareholding (53%) in Oscare 
Medical fits Revenio's strategic objective of 
expanding as a health technology corpo-
ration. In 2015, sales efforts related to the 
Oscare SonoTM osteoporosis detection de-
vice focused on locating distributors and 
end customers. Some technical improve-
ments were made 2015 in response to the 
results of European population studies. 

Positioned to weather 
the storm in the 
health care sector
The growth and aging of the world's popu-
lation, the increase in chronic diseases and 
population and the increase in represent 
a major challenge for cost-efficient health 
care provision across the globe. Existing 
infrastructures are insufficient considering 
the number of patients in need of care, and 
societies cannot afford any rise in health 
care costs. Health care is a very conserva-
tive sector in which changes are implement-
ed slowly. 

Making use of health 
technologies
New technologies and innovations facilitate 
the early detection of diseases, thereby help-
ing to contain health care costs and improve 
the quality of patients' lives. Early detection is 
of the utmost importance in terms of cost-ef-
fectiveness and from the patient's perspec-
tive, as it forms the basis of better quality of 
life and an effective treatment plan. 

Revenio’s role is to produce simple and 
easy-to-use methods and devices that will 
replace old-fashioned and inefficient oper-
ating models in the screening of large pop-
ulations. The common denominators in all 
Revenio Group operations include screen-
ing, follow-up and the global need to gener-
ate significant cost savings through preven-
tive health care 

For the time being, the number of screen-
ings is too low considering the benefits that 
could be achieved. Icare has been work-
ing with doctors and veterinarians and with 
its distributors and partners to increase 

awareness of the benefits of tonome-
ter use in the diagnosis and monitoring of 
glaucoma. 

The Icare product 
family is the corner-
stone of Revenio's 
success.

The risk of developing glaucoma increases 
with age. Early detection improves the like-
lihood of preventing serious eye damage or 
blindness. 

GLAUCOMA
Glaucoma is the second-most common cause of 
blindness worldwide. It is estimated that 150 million 
people suffer from glaucoma, approximately half of 
them without knowing it. 

OSTEOPOROSIS
Osteoporosis is a bone disease characterized by 
a reduction in bone mass, damage to bone struc-
tures and a resulting increase in fracture risk. 
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In September 2015 Icare submitted a license 
application for the Icare HOME tonometer, in-
tended for at-home IOP measurement, to the 
United States Food and Drug Administration. 
The FDA sent additional questions regard-
ing the application in November 2015. The 
questions were answered after the review 
period in February 2016. The company ex-
pects to receive the license in 2016, and 
is prepared for immediate product launch 
thereafter.

The Icare HOME tonometer has been grant-
ed a sales license in all European countries, 
Japan, China and Canada. In 2015, sales 
development for the Icare HOME tonome-
ter in these markets was slightly slower than 
planned, primarily due to lack of reimburse-
ment policies in the key markets. 

Numerous studies associated with the 
Icare HOME tonometer are currently under 

way, and a significant number (approxi-
mately 200) of scientific publications ad-
dress its 24/7 measurements, indicating 
the widespread interest in continuous intra-
ocular pressure measurement. 

With wider use of the home measurement, 
Icare aims to create new treatment prac-
tices in which a doctor treating a glaucoma 
patient can lend an Icare HOME tonometer 
to the patient for around-the-clock home 
measurement. The resulting information on 
the patient’s 24-hour intraocular pressure 
(IOP) fluctuation would help the doctor to 
make the proper treatment decisions. For 
patients diagnosed with glaucoma, con-
tinuous IOP monitoring forms a key part of 
the treatment in order to contribute to pre-
venting progression of the disease and to 
determine the proper medication.

At-home IOP measure-
ment delivers results in 
glaucoma treatment

Considering the fact that intraocular 
pressure can vary significantly during 
the day, measurement at home increas-
es the reliability of glaucoma treatment. 
In order to obtain reliable information, 
measurements must be taken at differ-
ent times of the day.
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The Icare ic100 tonometer is an updat-
ed version of the Icare TA01i, launched in 
2003. Special attention has been paid to 
product design to ensure maximum user 
comfort and ergonomics.

In the beginning of 2016 Icare received 
a major international design award, 
iF DESIGN AWARD, which is one of the 
world's leading design awards. The new 
features of the Icare ic100 make it even eas-
ier to measure intraocular pressure. Familiar 
from the Icare HOME tonometer, the Icare® 
AMS allows a series of six measurements at 
a single touch of a button. Icare® EasyPos 
uses green and red light to guide the tonom-
eter into the correct position, while the Icare® 
EasyNav interface and a large color screen 
make the device easy to use.

The launch and initial sales of the Icare 
ic100 started on January 4, 2016, coincid-
ing with the launch of the new Icare web-
site. A CE mark has already been granted 
for the product in the European markets, 
based on which it has gained the rele-
vant sales permit for all EU countries. A 
sales license application was filed in late 
December 2015 in the United States. A few 
additional questions sent by the licensing 
authority were answered in early February 
2016. The company expects to receive a 
sales licence for the Icare ic100 tonometer 
during 2016.

Icare has recruited more personnel to build 
a stronger sales and marketing organiza-
tion. Over years, the Icare ic100 will gradu-
ally replace the Icare TA01i tonometer.

Market launch of Icare 
ic100 on January 2016

Icare ic100 Icare ic100 

Icare ic100 is a tonometer for all health 
care and eye care professionals.
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Icare TONOVET is a device for measuring 
intraocular pressure in animals. The device 
looks similar to the original Icare TA01i model 
intended for human IOP measurement, ex-
cept that its coloring is darker and it has no 
forehead rest. It features two programs, one 
for measuring IOP in horses and the other for 
cats and dogs. 

TONOVET enjoys significant global market 
share. Accounting for roughly one third of sales, 
the United States is the company's biggest 
market, with Europe and Asia following suit, 
particularly the UK, France, Germany, Japan 
and South Korea. Negotiations are currently 
under way with distributors in Latin America.

Animal well-being is very important to pet own-
ers. New technologies enable early diagnosis of 
diseases. Unlike with human IOP measurement, 
the TONOVET enables the diagnosis of glauco-
ma. Dogs can develop acute glaucoma, which 
can be very a painful condition and almost in-
evitably leads to blindness. If diagnosed early, 
medication can delay blindness dramatically, 
from 8 months to 32 months.

There are very few veterinarians – only around 
3,000 – worldwide that specialize in ophthal-
mology. Icare's veterinary products are de-
signed to produce training material and instruct 
partners, and to increase the understanding of 
glaucoma among general veterinarians.

Icare tonometers a market lead-
er in animal intraocular pressure 
measurement 

TONOVET TONOVET
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Early diagnosis of  
glaucoma leads to a 

delay in the onset  
of blindness

fourfold

In some breeds, as 
many as 5-6 per cent 
of dogs are affected 

by glaucoma. 



New product concepts New product concepts

Asthma is the most common 
chronic disease in children
In February 2015, Revenio signed a license agreement for pat-
ented technology related to the long-term measurement of lung 
function. 

Diagnosing asthma is difficult, particularly in small children, and 
is based on the physician's subjective viewpoint. The device 
measures the expiratory flow of breathing as the child sleeps at 
night. These measurements detect changes in respiration that 
are typical of asthma, helping physicians to diagnose the condi-
tion and determine the optimal medication for it.

Tampere University of Technology has been studying the tech-
nology in cooperation with Helsinki University Central Hospital 
and Tampere University Hospital since 2012. During the test pe-
riod, more than 150 patients participated in four separate stud-
ies. A study currently in progress is monitoring the post-medica-
tion results. The results are very encouraging.

An asthma monitoring product by Revenio won the Health 
Challenge innovation competition organized by GSK, Mehiläinen 

and the British UK Trade and Investment organization in August 
2015. As part of the award, opportunities are provided for 
co-operation, a pilot project or research with the organizers or 
with their assistance.

A product development project meeting regulatory require-
ments is currently under way.

Melanoma accounts for more 
than 30% of all new cancers 
Revenio signed an exclusive joint cooperation agree-
ment with VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland and 
University of Jyväskylä for the commercialization of tech-
nology for skin cancer screening and early diagnosis. 

A hyper-spectral camera recognizes the early stages of 
cancer and the borders of tumors that are invisible to the 
naked eye, allowing more precise identification of the af-
fected skin area and treatment follow-up in order to avoid 
unnecessary re-excisions.

Prototypes for clinical trials were completed in late 2015. 
Revenio aims to launch an easy-to-use, mobile screening 
device that enables dermatologists to detect skin can-
cers and their precursors.

The hyper-spectral camera can see underneath a mole 
and indicate the depth and extent of skin that needs to 
be excised in order to fully remove the tumor and avoid 
repeat surgery. Three prototypes of the hyper-spectral 
camera were ready by the year 2015.

More than 300 million people 
suffer from asthma. Diagnosing 
asthma can be difficult, particu-
larly in children. One in five chil-
dren have asthma-like symp-
toms, and one in ten is diagnosed 
with asthma.

Skin cancers and their precursors 
are increasing rapidly throughout the 
world. The underlying cause of vari-
ous skin changes lies in continuously 
increasing exposure to UV radiation. 
Some three million cases of skin can-
cer are diagnosed each year.
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Sales license application 
for Icare HOME 

submitted in the US 
in September 2015.

Sales license application 
for Icare ic100 

submitted in the US 
in December.

Revenio set up 
an office in the 
United States 
in Raleigh, NC. 

A new production 
line was opened 

in Finland for 
probe production.

Icare was 
granted a sales 
license in China 
in January 2015.

Icare ic100 
was granted 

a sales license 
in the European 

markets. 

Icare was granted 
a sales license in the 

Brazilian markets 
in March 2015. Icare donated 

devices and probes 
to Tanzania.

Icare has been 
available in the 

Australian markets 
for 10 years. 

Global markets Global markets

Global markets
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Investors

General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of the Revenio Group Corporation 
will be held on Tuesday, March 15th, 2016, at Finlandia Hall, 
Mannerheimintie 13 e, 00100 Helsinki, Finland. The listing of per-
sons registered for the meeting and the distribution of voting tick-
ets will commence at 3.30 p.m.

Shareholders who have been registered in the Company’s share-
holder register, maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd, by March 3, 
2016, have the right to attend the Annual General Meeting.

Revenio's annual report will be available on the company website 
at www.revenio.fi on week 8/2016.
More information on the Annual General Meeting is available at  
www.reveniogroup.fi/en/annual-general-meeting-2016/

Payment of dividend
The Board of Directors of Revenio Group Corporation propose a 
dividend of EUR 0.70 per share for 2015. If the Annual General 
Meeting approves the Board’s proposal, the balance date of 
dividend payment will be March 17, 2016 and the payment date 
March 24, 2016.

Share register
Shareowners are requested to notify the book-entry register in 
which they have their book-entry account of any changes in their 
contact details.

Financial information
Revenio Group Corporation will publish its 2016 financial reports in 
Finnish and English as follows:
• Interim report Q1: April 25, 2016
• Interim report Q1-Q2: August 8, 2016 
• Interim report Q1-Q3: October 31, 2016

Revenio as an investment
Revenio represents Finnish health technology expertise 
on the international market. We use Finnish technology to improve 
the life expectancy and quality of life of people around the world. 
Health care megatrends, such as aging populations and a global 
need for cost savings, support our growth targets. We have strong 
evidence of the growth of net sales and our good level of profit-
ability. We have an excellent operating profit margin. Approximately 
56 per cent of our share capital is owned by private investors and 
briskly traded. We always seek to remember our owners and have 
a history of good dividend payment performance.

Principles of investor relations
Revenio is committed to proactive, transparent communications 
with all stakeholders. The company’s communications are based 
on facts and transparency. They are systematic, honest, impartial, 
and up to date. Revenio’s communications seek to provide a fac-
tual picture of the company’s operations, operating environment, 
strategy, targets and financial performance.

Revenio’s website, www.revenio.fi, and its stock exchange releas-
es are the most important publication channels for information re-
garding the company’s operations and finances. All stakeholders 
have an equal opportunity to use the information provided on the 
website.

A separate document about Revenio's disclosure policy, approved 
by the Board of Directors, describes the principles and key chan-
nels of the company's communications.

The Revenio Group Corporation’s President & CEO is responsible 
for investor relations. 

www.revenio.fi

Investor information
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Ari Kohonen
Ari Kohonen is Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of Gerako Oy. His previous po-
sitions include several international and 
investment banking positions at Nordea 
(1983-2003) and a CEO’s position at Tekla 
Oyj (2004–2013). Mr. Kohonen has been 
a member of Revenio’s Board of Directors 
since March 21, 2013.

Pekka Rönkä
Pekka Rönkä, M.Sc. (Eng), has acted as 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of HLD 
Healthy Life Devices Oy and Magnasense 
Technologies Oy. He has also acted as 
Senior Vice President and General Manager 
of Thermo Fisher Scientific (1999–2012). 
Mr. Rönkä has been a Member of Revenio’s 
Board of Directors since March 20, 2014. 

Pekka Tammela
Pekka Tammela, M.Sc. (Econ. & Bus.Adm.), 
APA, is a partner in Pajamaa Partners Oy. 
He served in various managerial posts in 
1999–2006, such as CFO of Solteq Oyj and 
of Panostaja Oyj and as a senior manager in 
both KPMG and PricewaterhouseCoopers. 
Mr. Tammela has been a member of Revenio’s 
Board of Directors since April 3, 2007. 

Rolf Fryckman
Rolf Fryckman is Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of Eyemaker's Finland Oy. He is also 
a partner in the company, and plays a leader-
ship role in companies in which Eyemaker's 
Finland Oy has a stake. Since 2000, he has 
served in health technology startups and var-
ious sales and marketing roles. Mr. Fryckman 
has been a member of Revenio’s Board of 
Directors since April 8, 2010.

Kyösti Kakkonen
Kyösti Kakkonen is the founder of 
Tokmanni Group and served as CEO of the 
Group for 20 years until 2009. Today, Mr. 
Kakkonen acts as CEO in several compa-
nies of his own, such as Joensuun Kauppa 
ja Kone Oy, K2 Invest Oy and Kakkonen-
Yhtiöt Oy. Mr. Kakkonen has been a mem-
ber of Revenio’s Board of Directors since 
March 20, 2104.

Olli-Pekka Salovaara
Olli-Pekka Salovaara, M.Sc. (Econ.), has 
served as the Revenio Group Corporation's 
President & CEO since September 2007. 
On December 1, 2012 he was also ap-
pointed Segment Director of Revenio Health 
Tech.

Timo Hildén
Timo Hildén, M.Sc. (Econ.), is CEO of both 
Icare Finland Oy and Revenio Research 
Oy. Mr. Hildén has been a member of the 
Revenio Group's Management Team since 
May 22, 2014.

Robin Pulkkinen
Robin Pulkkinen, M.Sc. (Econ.), is the 
Revenio Group's CFO. Mr. Pulkkinen 
has been a member of Revenio Group's 
Management Team since August 6, 2015.

Ari Kukkonen
Ari Kukkonen acts as the R&D Director of 
Revenio Research Ltd. Mr. Kukkonen was 
appointed a member of Revenio Group's 
Management Team starting from August 6, 
2015.

Tomi Karvo
Tomi Karvo is the Sales and Marketing 
Director of Icare Finland Ltd. Mr. Karvo was 
appointed a member of Revenio Group's 
Management Team starting from August 6, 
2015.

Tiina Olkkonen
Tiina Olkkonen (not pictured) participates in 
the Management Team's work as an exter-
nal communications specialist.

More detailed information on the Management Team is available at www.reveniogroup.fi/en/management-team

Board of Directors Management Team
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Review by the Board of 
Directors 1 January–31 
December 2015
Revenio is a Finnish, globally operating 
health technology corporation whose world-
wide success is based on a strongly pat-
ented intraocular pressure measurement 
technology. In addition to the parent com-
pany, the Revenio Group consists of Icare 
Finland Oy, Revenio Research Oy, Icare Inc., 
and Oscare Medical Oy, in which Revenio 
holds a 53% interest. 

The common denominators of Revenio's busi-
ness operations include screening, follow-up 
and the global need to make cost savings in 
health care via preventive measures. Revenio 
seeks vigorous growth in health technolo-
gy. Revenio aims at developing even more 
efficient and easily adopted methods for the 
early-stage detection of diseases with signifi-
cance for public health. The focus of Revenio’s 
screening technology is on the early detection 
of glaucoma, osteoporosis, skin cancer and 
asthma, and the monitoring of these during 
the treatment process.

Operating environment 
and development of 
business operations

Revenio Health Tech 

The Revenio Health Tech segment com-
prises Icare Finland Oy, research and de-
velopment company Revenio Research 
Oy, and the 53% owned subsidiary Oscare 
Medical Oy.

Revenio's objective is to become a leading 
global health technology company specializ-
ing in patient-led screening. The health care 
sector is now facing many challenges, such 
as an aging population and the need to focus 
on prevention and cost efficiency – screen-
ing provides a feasible solution to these prob-
lems. What the health care sector needs is 
innovative tools that are easy to use and can 
be adopted worldwide at low cost.

Revenio aims to develop more efficient meth-
ods for the early-stage detection of diseas-
es that have a significant impact on public 
health. Over the next few years, Revenio will 
focus on the detection of glaucoma, osteopo-
rosis, skin cancer and asthma, and the moni-
toring of these during the treatment process.

Revenio Health Tech performed strongly in 
2015. The Group's growth driver is Icare, 

which continued to strengthen its position as 
one of the market leaders in intraocular pres-
sure measurement. 

In January–December, the net sales of the 
Revenio Health Tech segment totaled EUR 
20.3 million (16.0), up 26.3% on the previ-
ous year. Operating profit was EUR 7.4 (5.4) 
million, an increase of 37.6%.

In October–December, the net sales of the 
Revenio Health Tech segment totaled EUR 
5.5 (5.0) million, up 10.4% on the previous 
year. The operating profit for the same pe-
riod was EUR 1.8 million (1.6), representing 
growth of 13.4%.

Icare Finland Oy
Icare recorded an outstanding performance 
in 2015, with Q2 and Q3 accounting for the 
strongest result ever in the company's his-
tory. Sales were excellent in all key mar-
ket areas, and showed an improvement of 
26.3% from the previous year. In terms of 
sales, December was the best month in the 
company's history. During the period, sales 
to the UK, Spain, Sweden and India were 
at a healthy level. In the United States, our 
strongest market area, the Senate's unex-
pected decision at the end of December to 
grant VAT relief on health care devices (sec-
tion 179) boosted sales considerably. A sim-
ilar tax relief was granted in December 2014.

Probe sales amounted to EUR 5.1 (3.7) mil-
lion; an increase of 35% from the previous 
year. Steady sales growth indicates that our 
installed devices are in active use. Probe 
sales are expected to represent 25–30% of 
Icare's net sales in the next few years.

Medical specialists have shown significant 
interest in Icare HOME tonometers. More 
than 200 studies have been published on 
continuous 24/7 intraocular pressure mea-
surement, which speaks for medical special-
ists' keen interest in the matter. The use of 
the HOME tonometer gradually leads to new 
treatment practices in which a doctor treat-
ing a glaucoma patient can lend a device to 
the patient for around-the-clock home mea-
surement. The resulting information on the 
patient’s 24-hour intraocular pressure (IOP) 
fluctuation would help the doctor to make 
the proper treatment decisions. Unresolved 
compensability issues in key markets slowed 
down device sales, which were at the previ-
ous year's level.

A sales license application for the Icare 
HOME tonometer was filed with the United 
States Food and Drug Administration 
FDA in early September. The FDA sent 

additional questions regarding the applica-
tion on November 5, within the permitted pro-
cess schedule. Dialog between the parties 
is an essential part of the marketing authori-
zation process. Icare received a list of ques-
tions from the FDA which the company has 
answered after the reviw period in February 
2016. Revenio is unable to accurately esti-
mate when the FDA will issue its decision, but 
prepares that it will obtain the license in 2016.

In December, Revenio announced the launch 
of a new generation tonometer, Icare ic100, 
to the European markets. This device will re-
place in stages the Icare TA01i tonometer 
introduced in 2003. The company expects 
sales of the new device to begin in stages as 
the change of product generations proceeds. 
Around 50,000 Icare tonometers have been 
sold since 2003. The Icare ic100 tonometer 
has already been awarded a CE mark for 
the European markets, based on which it has 
gained the relevant sales permit for all EU 
countries. The company has reinforced its 
sales and marketing organization in prepa-
ration for sales of the new product genera-
tion. A sales license application for the Icare 
ic100 tonometer was filed in late December 
2015 in the United States. A few addition-
al questions sent by the licensing authority 
were answered in early February 2016. The 
company expects to receive a sales licence 
for the Icare ic100 tonometer during 2016

The launch of the next-generation Icare 
ic100 to the European market had the antici-
pated effect on the previous generation Icare 
TA01 tonometer sales in Europe, as distrib-
utors prepared for the launch of a new prod-
uct by reducing their inventories. However, 
Icare TA01i saw strong sales growth in new 
markets such as China, India and Mexico. 
Icare TA01i's sales are believed to continue 
for years, especially in developing countries. 
The company believes users will replace 
their Icare TA01i with the next-generation 
Icare ic100 tonometer on a needs basis.

In 2015, Icare took determined steps to 
build a stronger organization. A new Sales 
and Marketing Director and R&D Director 
joined the company in August. At the same 
time, the former R&D Director of Icare took 
up the duties of R&D Director of Revenio 
Research Oy. In addition, a Commercial 
Product Manager and a Regional Director, 
Asia Pacific, were appointed in October, and 
a Sales Manager in China in November. 
Icare organization was also strengthened in 
the United States. In the final quarter, new 
people were recruited in key sales positions, 
in product manager positions for key prod-
ucts, and in R&D testing.
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Revenio Research Oy
In December 2014, Revenio established a 
subsidiary, Revenio Research Oy, to man-
age R&D projects of Revenio Group’s new 
product concepts. The company will focus 
on health tech-related R&D projects with the 
purpose of identifying and commercializing 
new health tech products. The common de-
nominators of our projects include screening, 
follow-up and the global need to make cost 
savings in health care via preventive mea-
sures. The goal is to build growth paths from 
these new openings alongside the current 
products of the Revenio Group.

Skin cancer
At the beginning of the review period, in 
January, Revenio announced the licensing of 
a technology related to the detection of skin 
cancer. The agreement will give Revenio ex-
clusivity to the end product, a result of licens-
ing and product development. 

The first prototype of the skin cancer detec-
tion device underwent clinical trials in the 
dermatology department of Päijät-Häme 
Central Hospital in the period 2013–2014 
and has been used to analyze more than 100 
patients during this time. The results have 
been extremely encouraging: the device has 
a clearly wider imaging area and greater pre-
cision than devices already on the market. A 
set of three prototypes, built on the basis of 
feedback from clinical trials, was completed 
on schedule at the year-end, and will now be 
introduced for clinical measurements.

Asthma
In February 2015, Revenio signed a license 
agreement for patented technology related to 
the long-term measurement of lung function.

This agreement gives Revenio an exclusive 
right to use this invention to develop and com-
mercialize products for the investigation of 
asthma symptoms, and for the monitoring and 
treatment of asthma. Licensing provides a 

quick and cost-efficient way of building future 
growth opportunities for the Revenio Group.

Assessment of asthma symptoms is difficult, 
particularly in small children, and is based on 
the physician's subjective viewpoint.

Tampere University of Technology, in coop-
eration with the Helsinki University Central 
Hospital and the Tampere University 
Hospital, has been studying Revenio's li-
censed technology since 2012. More than 
150 pediatric patients have participated in 
five separate trials, and a study of the medi-
cation outcomes is currently in progress. The 
results are extremely promising. The device 
measures the expiratory flow of breathing 
as the child sleeps at night. These measure-
ments detect changes in respiration that are 
typical of asthma, helping physicians to diag-
nose the condition and determine the optimal 
medication for it. 

Revenio's product, to be launched in the 
near future, won the Health Challenge in-
novation competition organized by GSK, 
Mehiläinen and the British UK Trade and 
Investment organization in August 2015. As 
part of the award, opportunities are provided 
for co-operation, a pilot project or research 
with the organizers or with their assistance.

A product development project meeting reg-
ulatory requirements is currently under way.

Oscare Medical Oy
Oscare Medical Oy is Revenio Group's 53% 
owned subsidiary. Oscare Medical's small 
and lightweight Oscare Sono™ osteoporo-
sis measurement device can measure bone 
strength and identify people with an elevat-
ed risk of osteoporosis. The device does not 
challenge the DXA measurement system 
that is considered the standard in the field, 
but functions as an effective screening meth-
od in support of the system. OsCare Sono® 
enables early detection of osteoporosis and 

helps to reduce the incidence of avoidable 
fractures. The Oscare Medical measurement 
method and device have been granted pat-
ents in Japan and China.
 
Determined action was taken in 2015 to ex-
pand the Oscare Medical distributor net-
work. Agreements with new distributors were 
signed in Poland, Italy, Middle East, the UK, 
Sweden and Norway. Distributor negotiations 
are under way in Germany, Switzerland, 
Spain, Portugal, Ireland and Turkey.
 
Especially pharmacies have given a warm 
welcome to this easy and reliable method of 
measuring bone strength. Oscare Sono® of-
fers pharmacies an opportunity to grow their 
businesses by offering a measurement ser-
vice that appeals to their customers.
 
A study on 250 patients led by Professor 
Ferrari was launched at the University 
of Geneva. The study involves compar-
ing Oscare Sono® measurement results 
against those provided by DXA and HR-
pQCT measurements from the patient's 
arm (DXA = Dual Energy X-ray, HR-pQCT 
= High Resolution Peripheral Quantitative 
Computed Tomography ). So far, measure-
ments have been carried out on 105 pa-
tients, and the results show that the results 
provided by OsCare Sono® are reproduc-
ible and independent of the measurer, and 
correlate well with bone strength measure-
ments gained using the reference methods. 
The measurement results confirm the results 
of earlier studies.

Net sales and financial 
review 
Consolidated net sales from the Revenio 
Group’s continuing operations for the period 
January 1–December 31, 2015 totaled EUR 
20.3 million (16.0). This represented net 
sales growth of 26.3%. Profit before taxes 
totaled EUR 5.9 million (4.7), or 29.2 (29.1)% 

Segment net sales and profit 1–12/2015 and 1–12/2014, continuing operations:

Health Tech Parent company Group

Net sales 2015 20.3 0.0 20.3
Net sales 2014 16.0 0.0 16.0

Change (%) 26 0 26
    
Segment profit margin 
2015 7.4 -1.6 5.8

Segment profit margin 
2014 5.4 -0.9 4.4

Change (%) 38 -71 31

of net sales, up by 26.7%. 

In January–December 2015, consolidated 
operating profit totaled EUR 5.8 (4.4) million, 
up 30.5% on the previous year.

Undiluted earnings per share from continu-
ing operations were EUR 0.61 (0.47) and 
diluted earnings per share were EUR 0.61 
(0.47). Equity per share was EUR 1.89 
(1.52). Diluted earnings per share for con-
tinuing and discontinued operations for the 
period were EUR 0.85 (-0.09).

Revenio Group's net sales in Q4 totaled 
EUR 5.5 (5.0) million; up by 10.4%. Profit 
before taxes totaled EUR 1.3 million (1.4), 
or 23.0 (28.0)% of net sales, down by 9.1%. 
In January–December 2015, the operating 
profit of the Revenio Health Tech segment 

totaled EUR 7.4 (5.4) million, up 37.6% on 
the previous year. The increase in operat-
ing profit could be largely attributed to strong 
demand in the US and dollar-based sales.

Revenio Health Tech segment's net sales 
in January–December 2015 increased by 
26.3%. The consolidated net sales of con-
tinuing operations saw a year-on-year in-
crease of 26.3% and totaled EUR 20.3 (16.0) 
million. 

In January–December 2015, the operating 
profit of the Revenio Health Tech segment to-
taled EUR 7.4 (5.4) million, up 37.6% on the 
previous year. The increase in operating profit 
could be largely attributed to strong demand 
in the US and dollar-based sales.
Changes in currency exchange rates had a fa-
vorable impact on the growth of net sales and 
operating profit in 2015. The dollar exchange 
rate against euro strengthened by nearly 20% 
in 2015 from the previous year. In 2015, ap-
proximately 45% of net sales were denomi-
nated in US dollars, which means nearly 9% 
of net sales growth recorded in 2015 was due 
to exchange rate changes.

Balance sheet, financial 

position and investments 

The consolidated balance sheet total stood 
at EUR 18.4 (19.3) million on December 
31, 2015. Shareholders’ equity came to 
EUR 15.0 (12.1) million. At the end of the 
review period, interest-bearing net liabili-
ties amounted to EUR -7.1 (-2.7) million and 
gearing stood at -48.3 (-22.4)%. The consol-
idated equity ratio was 81.6 (62.4)%. The 
Group’s liquid assets amounted to EUR 8.3 
(4.1) million on December 31, 2015. Interest-
bearing liabilities totaled EUR 0.9 (1.4) mil-
lion. Despite investments in the Health Tech 
segment's future growth, the Group’s finan-
cial position remained stable during the re-
porting period. The consolidated goodwill re-
corded on the balance sheet on December 
31, 2015 was EUR 1.1 (1.1) million.
Cash flow from operations totaled EUR 4.9 

(3.6) million. The Group’s purchases of PPE 
and intangible assets totaled EUR 1.5 (1.2) 
million. These investments were concentrat-
ed primarily on product development. 

Group structure

At the end of the fi scal year, the Revenio 
Group consisted of the parent company 
Revenio Group Corporation and its whol-
ly owned subsidiaries, all active companies: 
Icare Finland Oy and Revenio Research Oy. 
Kauhajoen Sisälogistiikka Oy has been clas-
sified as discontinued operation in Group re-
porting. The Group includes Oscare Medical 
Oy as a 53% owned subsidiary and Done 
Medical Oy as a 100% owned subsidiary.

Personnel 

The annualized average number of person-
nel employed by the Group in continuing op-
erations during the period amounted to 37 
(28). At the end of the period, the number of 
employees was 40 (27).

Robin Pulkkinen, M.Sc. Econ., was appointed 
Revenio Group Corporation's CFO and mem-
ber of the management group as of July 15, 

2015. Pulkkinen reports to the Revenio Group's 
President and CEO Olli-Pekka Salovaara.

Revenio strengthened its Management Team 
in August. As of August 6, 2015, Revenio's 
Management Team comprises CEO Olli-
Pekka Salovaara (chair), Icare Finland's 
CEO Timo Hildén, Revenio Group's CFO 
Robin Pulkkinen, and as new members Icare 
Finland's Sales and Marketing Director Tomi 
Karvo, Revenio Research’s R&D Director Ari 
Kukkonen and as an external communica-
tions specialist Tiina Olkkonen.

Management
Olli-Pekka Salovaara is the President and 
CEO of Revenio Group Corporation. The 
Management Team consists of President 
and CEO Olli-Pekka Salovaara, The 
Management Team consists of President 
and CEO Olli-Pekka Salovaara, Icare 
Finland's CEO Timo Hildén, Revenio 
Group's CFO Robin Pulkkinen, Icare 
Finland's Sales and Marketing Director Tomi 
Karvo, Revenio Research’s R&D Director 
Ari Kukkonen and as an external communi-
cations specialist Tiina Olkkonen.

Timo Hildén is the CEO of the Group's sub-
sidiaries (Icare Finland, Revenio Research). 
Olli-Pekka Salovaara acts as the CEO 
of discontinued operation Kauhajoen 
Sisälogistiikka Oy.

Shares, share capital and 
management holdings 
On December 31, 2015, the Revenio Group 
Corporation’s fully paid-up share capital reg-
istered with the Trade Register was EUR 
5,314,918.72 and the number of shares to-
taled 7,946,428.

During the reporting period, the number of 
shares increased by 14,350 following sub-
scriptions made on the basis of the 2007 
stock option scheme. Series 2007A option 
rights were used to subscribe for 0 shares, 
2007B option rights to subscribe for 0 shares 
and 2007C options rights to subscribe for 
14,350 shares. The subscription period for 
Series 2007A options ended on May 1, 2013 
and that for Series 2007B options ended on 
November 1, 2014. The outstanding 2007C 
options can be used to subscribe for a total 
of 32,980 shares until the close of the sub-
scription period on May 1, 2016.

The company has one class of share, and all 
shares confer the same voting rights and an 
equal right to dividends and the company’s 

Average no. of employees by segments:

31 Dec 2015 31 Dec 2014 Change
Revenio Health Tech 32 23 9
Parent Company 5 5 0
Group total 37 28 9

Wages, salaries, and other remuneration paid for personnel in continuing operations during 
the period totaled EUR 2.7 (2.1) million.

Review of operations and financial statements Review of operations and financial statements
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funds. On December 31, 2015, the President 
& CEO, members of the Board of Directors 
and their related parties held 15.5% of the 
company’s shares, or 1,228,945 shares and 
4.0% of the option rights. 

Changes in shareholding 

During the review period, on May 8, 2015, 
Revenio received a notification of change in 
ownership, according to which Jyri Merivirta's 
shareholding and votes in Revenio Group 
Corporation fell below one tenth (1/10). At the 
same time, Joensuun Kauppa ja Kone Oy, an 
entity administered by Kyösti Kakkonen, be-
came Revenio's largest shareholder.

On the same day, Revenio received a noti-
fication of change in ownership, according 
to which the shareholding and votes of Evli 
Bank Plc in Revenio Group Corporation rose 
to more than one twentieth (1/20).

Buyback of own shares 

The company did not buy back any of its 
own shares during the fiscal year. Of the 
2,701 treasury shares acquired in earlier 
fiscal periods that were held by the compa-
ny at the beginning of the fiscal year, 2,147 
were used for the payment of emoluments to 
Members of the Board of Directors in accor-
dance with the decision taken by the Annual 
General Meeting of shareholders on March 
19, 2015. Board members Rolf Fryckman, 
Ari Kohonen, Kyösti Kakkonen and Pekka 
Rönkä were each issued 358 shares in emol-
uments. Pekka Mäntylä, the Chairman of the 
Board, received 715 shares in Board emolu-
ments. At the end of the fiscal year, the com-
pany held a total of 554 of its own shares.

Option schemes 

The company has a corporate option scheme 
that began in 2007. On the basis of the share 
issue authorization approved by the Annual 
General Meeting of April 3, 2007, the Board 
of Directors of the Revenio Group Corporation 
decided, on November 23, 2007, on a new 
corporate option scheme comprising a max-
imum of 3,684,365 option rights. Ten option 
rights entitle the holder to subscribe for one 
(1) Revenio Group Corporation share. On 
December 31, 2015, the proportion of shares 
that can still be subscribed for on the basis of 
the option rights issued represented a maxi-
mum of 0.4 per cent of the company’s shares 
and votes, once all new shares subscribed for 
with these option rights have been registered. 
New shares subscribed for via the option pro-
gram entitle the holder to a dividend from the 

year of subscription onwards.

The option rights are divided into three series: 
A (1,684,365 option rights), B (1,000,000 op-
tion rights) and C (1,000,000 option rights). 
The share subscription periods with the 
Series A and B ended before the beginning 
of the review period. Shares can be sub-
scribed with the Series C in May 1, 2012–
May 1, 2016. The share subscription price 
will be the trade-weighted average price 
during November 1–30, 2010 multiplied by 
ten (EUR 1.24, Series C). 

Based on the share issue authorization grant-
ed by the Annual General Meeting of March 
19, 2015, Revenio Group Corporation's Board 
of Directors decided, on August 10, 2015, to 
implement a new option scheme comprising 
a maximum of 150,000 option rights. One op-
tion right entitles its holder to subscribe for 
one share. The option rights will be allocated, 
as determined by the Board of Directors, to 
key personnel employed or to be employed 
by the Revenio Group in accordance with the 
terms and conditions of the option scheme. 

The option rights are divided into three se-
ries: Series A (50,000), Series B (50,000) and 
Series C (50,000). The subscription periods 
for options are as follows: Series A: May 31, 
2017–May 31, 2019; Series B: May 31, 2018–
May 31, 2020; and Series C: May 31, 2019–
May 31, 2021. The share subscription price 
for Series A options will be the trade-weight-
ed average price of Revenio share quot-
ed on Nasdaq Helsinki Oy during the period 
September 1 – October 15, 2015 plus 15 per 
cent, for Series B options the trade-weight-
ed average price of Revenio share quot-
ed on Nasdaq Helsinki Oy during the peri-
od September 1 – October 15, 2016 plus 
15 per cent, and for Series C options the 
trade-weighted average price of Revenio 
share quoted on Nasdaq Helsinki Oy during 
the period September 1 – October 15, 2017 
plus 15 per cent. During the review period, 
41,000 series A options rights were issued to 
personnel. The subscription price for series A 
shares was EUR 26.94.

Trading on Nasdaq 
Helsinki 
During the period January 1–December 31, 
2015, the Revenio Group Corporation’s share 
turnover on the Nasdaq Helsinki exchange 
totaled EUR 62.3 (38.4) million, represent-
ing 2.8 (2.7) million shares or 35.5 (33.7)% 
of all shares outstanding. The highest trading 
price was EUR 34.90 (17.20) and the lowest 
EUR 14.33 (11.32). At the end of the period, 

the closing price was EUR 28.61 (14.55), 
and the average share price for the period 
was EUR 22.06 (14.38). The Revenio Group 
Corporation’s market value stood at EUR 
227.3 million (115.4) on December 31, 2015. 

An Assessement Of 
Major Business Risks And 
Uncertainty Factors
The Revenio Group’s risks are divided into 
the following categories: strategic, operation-
al, trade cycle, hazard, and financial risks.

The Group’s strategic risks include compe-
tition in all sectors, the threat posed by new 
competing products, and any other actions 
of the company’s rivals that may affect the 
competitive situation. Another factor posing 
a strategic risk is related to success in R&D 
operations and, therefore, preservation of 
the product range’s competitiveness. In the 
Group’s sectors, requiring particular exper-
tise in accordance with the strategy, essen-
tial risks also include those related to the re-
tention and development of key personnel as 
well as dependence on the operational ability 
of the subcontractor and supplier network.

Corporate acquisitions and the purchase of 
assets with growth potential related to health 
tech are part of Group strategy. The success 
of these acquisitions has a significant impact 
on the reaching of growth and profitability 
targets. Acquisitions may also change the 
Group’s risk profile.

Strategic risks and the need for action are 
regularly assessed and are monitored in 
connection with day-to-day management, 
monthly Group reporting, and annual strat-
egy updates.

Operational risks are associated with the re-
tention and development of major custom-
ers, the operations of the distribution network 
and success in extending the customer base 
and markets. In the Revenio Health Tech 
segment especially, operational risks include 
factors related to expansion into new mar-
kets, such as various countries’ regulation 
of sales licenses for medical instruments im-
posed at national level and the related official 
decisions concerning the health care mar-
ket. Success in health tech R&D projects 
launched in accordance with the strategy 
can also be classified as an operational risk.

The operational risks related to the manufac-
ture, product development, and production 
control of medical instruments are estimat-
ed to be higher than average in the Revenio 

Health Tech segment, because of that sec-
tor’s requirements concerning quality.

Hazard risks are covered by insurance. 
Property and business interruption insurance 
provide protection against risks in these ar-
eas. The business pursued is covered by in-
ternational liability insurance.

Financial risks consist of credit, interest, li-
quidity, and foreign exchange risks. To man-
age credit loss risks, the Group has taken out 
credit insurance covering all companies in 
the Group. Every month, and more frequent-
ly if necessary, the Board, in its meetings, as-
sesses matters related to financial issues. If 
required, the Board provides decisions and 
guidelines for the management of financial 
risks concerning interest-rate and currency 
hedging, for instance. The liquidity risk can 
be affected by the availability of external fi-
nancing, the development of the Group’s 
credit standing, the trend in business opera-
tions and changes in the payment behavior 
of customers. Liquidity risks are monitored 
by means of cash forecasts, which are drawn 
up for periods of 12 months at most at a time.

Annual General Meeting 
And Board Authorizations 
In Effect
The Annual General Meeting of Revenio 
Group Corporation held on March 19, 
2015 elected five members to the Board 
of Directors. Rolf Fryckman, Ari Kohonen, 
Pekka Rönkä, Kyösti Kakkonen and Pekka 
Tammela were re-elected as Board members. 
At its meeting held after the Annual General 
Meeting, the Board of Directors re-elected 
Pekka Tammela as Chairman of the Board.

The AGM decided that the Chairman of the 
Board should be paid a director’s fee of EUR 
36,000 per annum and other Board members 
a director’s fee of EUR 18,000 per annum. A 
total of 40 per cent of Board members’ emol-
uments will be paid out in the form of compa-
ny shares, while 60 per cent will comprise a 
monetary payment.

The AGM re-appointed Pricewaterhouse-
Coopers Oy, Authorized Public Accountants, 
as the company’s auditors with Samuli 
Perälä, Authorized Public Accountant, as 
principal auditor. The AGM decided to com-
pensate the auditors upon the presentation 
of a reasonable invoice.
The AGM accepted the Board's proposal on 
profit distribution, according to which the par-
ent company's profit for the financial period, 
EUR 1,047,421.70, will be added to retained 

earnings, and a dividend of EUR 0.45 per 
share will be paid.

The Annual General Meeting rescinded the 
earlier authorization to buy back 785,047 
of the company’s own shares, and autho-
rized the Board of Directors to buy back a 
maximum of 793,207 of the company’s own 
shares following the approval of the reverse 
share split, either in one or several tranch-
es, using the company's unrestricted equity, 
in which case any buyback will reduce the 
amount of distributable earnings. The com-
pany may buy back shares in order to de-
velop its capital structure, in order to finance 
and implement any corporate acquisitions or 
other transactions, and to implement share-
based incentive plans or otherwise dispose 
of or cancel them.

The Company may buy back shares, based on
a. A bid submitted to all shareholders on 
equal terms and conditions in proportion to 
their current holdings in company shares and 
at the same price, decided by the Board of 
Directors; or

b. In public trading on marketplaces whose 
rules and regulations allow the Company to 
trade in its own shares. In such a case, the 
Company buys back shares through a direct-
ed purchase, that is, in a proportion other 
than its shareholders’ holdings in Company 
shares, with the consideration for the shares 
based on their publicly quoted market price.

This authorization is valid until April 30, 2016.

The AGM authorized the Board of Directors, 
following the approval of the reverse share 
split, to decide on the issuance of a maxi-
mum of 793,207 shares or to grant special 
rights (including stock options) conferring en-
titlement to shares, as referred to in Section 
1 of Chapter 10 of the Limited Liability 
Companies Act, in one or several tranches.

This authorization was granted for the pur-
pose of financing and implementing any 
prospective corporate acquisitions or other 
transactions, implementing the company’s 
share-based incentive schemes, or for other 
purposes determined by the Board.

The authorization grants the Board the right 
to decide on all terms and conditions gov-
erning the said share issue and the granting 
of special rights, including the subscribers or 
grantees of the special rights, and the con-
sideration payable. It also includes the right 
to waive shareholders' pre-emptive subscrip-
tion rights, i.e. through a directed purchase, 

and covers the issue of new shares and the 
transfer of any shares that may be held by 
the company.

This authorization is valid until April 30, 2016. 
This authorization shall supersede the au-
thorization to decide on an issuance of new 
shares and on the granting of special rights 
giving entitlement to shares granted at the 
AGM of March 20, 2014.

The AGM ratified the following amendment to 
section 2 of the Articles of Association:
“The company engages in the trade, inter-
mediation, research, product development, 
commercialization and marketing of devic-
es and equipment, products, methods and 
services related to health care and health 
technology, training and consulting related 
to health care, sales of expert services, and 
other business related or comparable to the 
health care sector. The company may act 
as a Group parent company and produce 
administration services, engage in other 
business operations, own and manage re-
al estate and securities and other financial 
instruments, and trade in them. The compa-
ny may engage in the aforementioned activ-
ity either directly or through subsidiaries and 
associated companies.”

Board Of Directors And 
Auditors
The members of the Board of Directors are 
Rolf Fryckman, Ari Kohonen, Pekka Rönkä, 
Kyösti Kakkonen and Pekka Tammela, who 
serves as Chairman.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy, Authorized 
Public Accountants, serves as the compa-
ny’s Auditors, with Samuli Perälä, Authorized 
Public Accountant, as Principal Auditor.

In 2015, the Board of Directors met 20 times, 
and the average attendance of Board mem-
bers at meetings was 97%. In accordance 
with the AGM’s decision, 40 per cent of Board 
members’ total emoluments were paid out in 
the form of shares in the company, while 60 
per cent consisted of monetary payment. In 
the course of the fiscal year, the company 
made, in total, EUR 108,000 in monetary 
payments as Board emoluments. In addition, 
2,147 Revenio Group Corporation shares in 
all were granted as Board emoluments. In 
the 2015 fiscal year, the President and CEO 
was paid EUR 295,568.87 in salary.

Compliance With 
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Corporate Governance 
Recommendations
Revenio Group Corporation complies 
with the Guidelines for Insiders issued by 
NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd, which came 
into force on July 1, 2013, and the Finnish 
Corporate Governance Code, which entered 
into force on October 1, 2015. The compa-
nys general principles of corporate gover-
nance are stated in the Investors section of 
Revenio’s website.

Disputes
The company is not currently involved in any 
disputes or trials that would have a signifi 
cant impact on the Group’s financial position
according to the opinion of the Board.

Environmental factors

The direct environmental impact of the 
Revenio Group Corporation’s operations is 
minor.

Research and 
development activities
R&D expenditure during the fi scal year to-
taled EUR 0.9 million (EUR 1.0 million). A 
total of EUR 0.8 (0.6) million of R&D costs 
were capitalized during the reporting period.

Major events after the 
close of the period
After the review period, Revenio announced 
that its subsidiary Icare Finland Oy had 
answered to the questions received in 
November 2015 from the the United States 
Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regard-
ing the sales permit application. Revenio 
cannot estimate accurately 15 when the FDA 
decision will be obtained. The Corporation is 
prepared that the permit would be granted 
during the year 2016.

Outlook for 2016

Net sales growth is expected to remain 
strong. Profitability is expected to remain at 
a healthy level despite growth investments. 

The board’s proposal 
to the annual general 
meeting
The consolidated net profit for the year to-
taled EUR 6,497,206.37 and that of the 
parent company EUR 5,759,744.54. The 
parent company’s distributable earn-
ings on December 31, 2015 totaled EUR 
11,205,184.39. The proposed dividend per 
share includes non-recurring items gen-
erated by 2015 divested businesses. This 
non-recurring portion of the dividend is EUR 
0.15. The Board of Directors will propose to 
the Annual General Meeting on March 15, 
2016 that the parent company’s distribut-
able earnings be allocated by paying a per-
share dividend of EUR 0.70, for a total of 
EUR 5,562,499.60, against the total num-
ber of shares at the close of the reporting 
period. The rest of the distributable retained 
earnings will be entered under equity. In the 
Board’s opinion, the proposed distribution of 
earnings does not endanger the parent com-
pany’s or Group’s liquidity.
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Definition of key figures:

Profit before taxes:  operating profit + financing income – financing expenses

Return on equity %: 
100 x

 profit for the financial period
 shareholders’ equity + non-controlling interest (average during period)

Return on investment %: 
100 x

 profit before taxes + interest and other financial expenses
 balance sheet total – non-interest-bearing debt (average during period)

Equity ratio %: 
100 x

 balance sheet equity + non-controlling interest
 balance sheet total – advance payments received

Net gearing, %: 
100 x

 interest-bearing debt – cash & equivalents
 total equity

Equity per share:  equity attributable to shareholders
 number of shares at end of the reporting period

Earnings per share:  net profit for the reporting period
 average number of shares during the reporting period

Dividend payout ratio %:  dividend per share
 earnings per share

Effective dividend yield %:  dividend per share
 final share price at end of the reporting period

P/E ratio:  final share price at end of period
 earnings per share

Average share price:  total value of shares traded during the period, in euros
 total number of shares traded during financial period

Gearing %: 100 x  interest-bearing net debt
 total equity

Key figures

Jan–Dec, 2015
12 months
IFRS

Jan–Dec, 2014
12 months
IFRS

Jan–Dec, 2013
12 months
IFRS

Jan–Dec, 2012
12 months
IFRS

Jan–Dec, 2011
12 months
IFRS

Net sales, TEUR 20,250 16,031 13,508 21,563 21,449
Operating profit, TEUR 5,760 4,413 4,273 4,255 3,340
Operating profit, % 28.4 27.5 31.6 19.7 15.6
Profit before taxes, TEUR 5,903 4,658 4,191 4,683 3,013
Profit before taxes, % 29.2 29.1 31.0 21.7 14.0
Net profit for financial period, TEUR 6,497 -694 4,338 -287 3,911
Net profit, % 32.1 -4.3 32.1 -1.3 18.2
Gross capital 
expenditure, TEUR 2,273 1,150 913 287 707

Gross capital expenditure, % of net sales 11.2 7.2 6.8 1.3 3.3
R&D expenses, TEUR 882 1,020 846 350 360
R&D expenses, % 4.4 6.4 6.3 1.6 1.7
Return on equity, % 48.0 -5.1 25.7 -1.8 14.1
Return on investment, % 55.0 1.1 29.7 0.4 20.2
Equity ratio, % 81.6 62.4 66.1 62.2 66.6
Net gearing, % -48.3 -22.4 -16.8 -12.2 -17.3
Gearing 6.1 11.6 17.7 21.6 9.9
Average number of personnel 37 74 209 198 201

Key indicators per share
Jan–Dec, 2015
12 months
IFRS

Jan–Dec, 2014
12 months
IFRS

Jan–Dec, 2013
12 months
IFRS

Jan–Dec, 2012
12 months
IFRS

Jan–Dec, 2011
12 months
IFRS

Earnings per share, continuing opera-
tions, EUR 0.61 0.47 0.38 0.50 0.03

Earnings per share, discontinued opera-
tions, EUR 0.24 -0.56 0.18 -0.54 0.02

Equity attributable to equity owners of the 
parent per share, EUR 1.96 1.52 1.91 1.91 2.14

Dividend per share, EUR 0.70 0.45 0.30 0.20 0.20
Dividend payout ratio, % 82.1 * 54.3 * 392.2
Effective dividend yield, % 2.4 3.1 2.4 5.0 4.2
P/E ratio, continuing operations 46.7 30.7 22.4 8.0 171.4
Diluted number of shares, 
at end of period 7,946,428 7,932,078 7,850,479 7,692,973 7,688,973

Diluted number of shares, average during 
period (acquired own shares excluded) 7,936,670 7,876,183 7,845,121 7,683,379 7,686,233

Share price, year low, EUR 14.33 11,32 4.00 3.30 3.00
Share price, year high, EUR 34.90 17,20 14.30 5.00 6.20
Share price, average, EUR 22.06 14,38 8.34 4.20 4.40
Share price at end of period, EUR 28.61 14,55 12.38 4.00 4.80
Market capitalization 
at end of period, MEUR 227.3 115,4 97.2 30.8 36.9

Turnover, number of shares 2,822,593 2,669,163 2,964,541 3,268,179 3,936,797
Turnover, % 35.5 33.7 37.8 42.5 51.2

The earnings per share indicators have been calculated using the average diluted numbers of shares during the financial periods, and the equity 
per share indicators using the diluted numbers of shares at the ends of financial periods, taking account of the effect of the reverse share split 
implemented on March 27, 2013. The dividend per share of EUR 0.70 in 2015 represents the proposal made by the Board of Directors to the 
Annual General Meeting of March 15, 2016

Key figuresKey figures
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Consolidated balance sheet

Appendix Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 691 585
Goodwill 14 1,191 1,191
Other intangible assets 15 3,670 2,825
Deferred tax assets 16 237 205
Non-current assets total 5,788 4,807

Current assets
Inventories 17 1,759 1,256
Trade and other receivables 18 2,559 2,348
Cash and cash equivalents 19, 26 8,319 4,105
Current assets total 12,636 7,708

Non-current assets held for sale from discontinued operations 0 6,821

Assets total 18,425 19,336

Equity and liabilities Appendix TEUR TEUR

Parent company shareholders’ equity 20
Share capital 5,315 5,315
Share issue 9 0
Share premium reserve 2,439 2,439
Fair value reserve 300 300
Reserve for invested non-restricted equity 4,650 4,631
Other reserves 280 280
Retained earnings 2,520 -651
Translation differences 8 3
Own shares 29 -14
Parent company shareholders’ equity total 15,550 12,303
Non-controlling interest -517 -242

Shareholders’ equity total 15,033 12,061

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 16 16 18
Financial liabilities 22, 26 480 773
Other non-current liabilities 0 132
Non-current liabilities total 496 923

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 24 2,462 1,856
Financial liabilities 22, 26 433 632
Current liabilities total 2,895 2,488

Non-current liabilities from discontinued operations 1 3,864

Liabilities total 3,392 7,275

Equity and liabilities total 18,425 19,336
The notes to the financial statements form an essential part of the financial statements. Revenio has changed the presentation of the non-con-
trolling interest in its annual accounts. In the future the company will allocate its consolidated comprehensive income to the parent company share-
holders and non-controlling interest share of the net income even in the case that the noncontrolling interest share would be negative. This will have 
no impact on the net income, total balance sheet values or cash flows. The 2014 numbers have been adjusted to the new way of presenting.

Consolidated comprehensive Profit and Loss Statement

Note no. Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Continuing operations
Net sales 1, 2 20,250 16,031
Other operating income 5 78 19
Use of materials and services
Materials:
Purchases during the financial period -3,675 -3,210
Change in inventories 501 314
External services -2,130 -2,233
Materials and services total -5,303 -5,129
Employee benefit expenses 6
Salaries and fees 6, 21 -3,206 -2,111
Indirect personnel costs
Pension costs 6 -551 -456
Other indirect personnel costs -139 -51
Employee benefit expenses total -3,896 -2,618
Depreciation, amortization and impairment 7
Depreciation -542 -526
Impairment 0 0
Depreciation and amortization total -542 -526
Other operating expenses 8, 9 -4,827 -3,365
Operating profit 5,760 4,413
Financial income and expenses 10
Financial expenses -286 -37
Financial income 430 282
Financial income and expenses total 144 245
Profit before taxes 5,903 4,658
Taxes 11
Income taxes -1313 -922
Taxes total -1313 -922
Net profit from continuing operations 4,590 3,736

Discontinued operations
Net profit from discontinued operations 3 1,907 -4,430
Profit for the period 6,497 -694

Other comprehensive income items 0 0
Total comprehensive income for the period 6,497 -694

Total comprehensive income attributable to
Parent company owners 6,772 -522
Non-controlling interest -275 -172

Earnings per share calculated from the profit 
of the period attributable to the parent company shareholders 12

Basic earnings per share (EUR), continuing operations 0.61 0.47
Diluted earnings per share (EUR), continuing operations 0.61 0.47
Basic earnings per share (EUR), discontinued operations 0.24 -0.56
Diluted earnings per share (EUR), discontinued operations 0.24 -0.56
Basic earnings per share (EUR), net profit for the period 0.85 -0.09
Diluted earnings per share (EUR), net profit for the period 0.85 -0.09

The notes to the financial statements form an essential part of the financial statements. Revenio has changed the presentation of the non-controlling in-
terest in its annual accounts. In the future the company will allocate its consolidated comprehensive income to the parent company shareholders and 
non-controlling interest share of the net income even in the case that the noncontrolling interest share would be negative. This will have no impact on 
the net income, total balance sheet values or cash flows. The 2014 numbers have been adjusted to the new way of presenting.

Consolidated balance sheet Dec 31, 2015Consolidated comprehensive Profit & Loss Statement Jan 1 – Dec 31, 2015
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Consolidated cash flow statement

Appendix
Jan 1–Dec 31, 

2015
TEUR

Jan 1–Dec 31, 
2014

TEUR
Cash flow from operations
Profit for the period 4,590 -694
Adjustments:
Non-cash items 26 542 526
Interest and other financial expenses 10 286 37
Interest and other financial gains 10 -430 -282
Taxes 11 1,313 922
Change in working capital:
Changes in trade and other receivables 19 -231 -670
Changes in current assets 18 -503 -147
Changes in trade and other payables 25 252 3,686
Other items 12 770
Change in working capital, total -470 3,639
Interests paid 10 -286 -17
Interests received 10 430 3
Taxes paid 11 -1,071 -563
Net cash flow from operations 4,904 3,571
Cash flow from discontinued operations 1,907 -808
Cash flow from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary less cash and cash equivalents at the 
time of sale 3 2,816 923

Acquisitions of tangible current assets 13 -373 -440
Acquisitions of intangible assets 15 -1,120 -825
Net cash flow from investing activities 1,323 -342
Cash flow from discontinued operations -20 -89
Cash flow from financing activities
Current loans taken 22 41 0
Current loans paid back 22 -562 -589
Payments of finance lease liabilities 22 0 -17
Dividends paid and capital repayment 20 -3,569 -2,355
Share subscription through exercised options 21 28 132
Net cash flow from financing activities -4,062 -2,829
Cash flow from discontinued operations 162 0
Net change in cash and credit accounts 4,214 -497
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 19 4,105 4,602
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 19 8,319 4,105

The notes to the financial statements form an essential part of the financial statements.

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

Parent company shareholders’ equity   

EUR  
thousand Equity Share 

issue
Share 
premium 
reserve

Reserve for 
invested 
non-
restricted 
equity 

Other 
reserves

Own  
shares

Translation 
differences

Retained 
earnings Total

Non-
controlling 
interest

Total 
equity

Equity Jan 1, 
2014 5,315 0 2,439 4,499 580 -57 -2 2,253 15,028 -71 14,957

Comprehensive 
profit
Net profit for  
the period -522 -522 -172 -694

Translation 
differences 5 -27 -22 0 -22

Total compre-
hensive income 
for the period

0 0 0 0 0 0 5 -549 -544 -172 -716

Transactions 
with owners
Dividends -2,355 -2,355 0 -2,355
Direct costs re-
sulting from the 
issue of new 
shares

-12 -12 0 -12

Purchase of own 
shares 43 43 0 43

Exercised 
options 144 144 0 144

Transactions  
with owners total 0 0 0 132 0 43 0 -2,355 -2,180 0 -2,180

Equity Dec 31, 
2014 5,315 0 2,439 4,631 580 -14 3 -651 12,303 -243 12,061

Equity Jan 1, 
2015 5,315 0 2,439 4,631 580 -14 3 -651 12,303 -243 12,061

Comprehensive 
profit
Net profit for the 
period 6,772 6,772 -275 6,497

Translation 
differences 5 5 0 5

Total comprehen-
sive income for 
the period

0 0 0 0 0 0 5 6,772 6,777 -275 6,502

Transactions  
with owners
Dividends -3,569 -3,569 0 -3,569
Direct costs re-
sulting from the 
issue of new 
shares

0 0 0

Purchase of own 
shares 43 43 0 43

Other direct en-
tries to retained 
earnings

-32 -32 0 -32

Exercised 
options 9 18 28 0 28

Transactions 
with owners 
total

0 9 0 18 0 43 0 -3,601 -3,530 0 -3,530

Equity Dec 31, 
2015 5,315 9 2,439 4,650 580 29 8 2,520 15,550 -517 15,033

Revenio has changed the presentation of the non-controlling interest in its annual accounts. In the future the company will allocate its consoli-
dated comprehensive income to the parent company shareholders and non-controlling interest share of the net income even in the case that the 
noncontrolling interest share would be negative. This will have no impact on the net income, total balance sheet values or cash flows. The 2014 
numbers have been adjusted to the new way of presenting.

Consolidated cash flow statement Jan 1 – Dec 31, 2015Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
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The amount of shareholders’ equity attrib-
utable to non-controlling interests is recog-
nized either at fair value or at an amount cor-
responding to the non-controlling interests’
proportion of the individualized net assets. 
The recognition principles are determined 
separately for each acquisition. The recogni-
tion of goodwill created through acquisitions
is detailed in the section Goodwill.

Acquired companies are consolidated from 
the moment when the Group has acquired 
right of control, and divested companies until 
the moment when the right of control ceas-
es to exist.

All intercompany transactions, receivables, 
payables, unrealized profits and internal dis-
tribution of profit between subsidiaries are 
eliminated as part of the consolidation pro-
cess. Unrealized losses are not eliminated 
if the loss is a result of impairment. The dis-
tribution of profit or loss between owners of 
the parent company and non-controlling in-
terests is presented in a separate Profit & 
Loss Statement. The distribution of compre-
hensive profit between owners of the par-
ent company and non-controlling interests 
is presented in the comprehensive Profit & 
Loss Statement. The comprehensive prof-
it is shared between parent company own-
ers and non-controlling interests even if it 
means that the share of non-controlling in-
terests becomes negative. The share of eq-
uityof non-controlling interests is presented 
on the balance sheet as a separate item un-
der equity.

Changes in the parent company’s holdings in 
subsidiaries that do not lead to loss of right 
of control are treated as equity-related trans-
actions. In gradual acquisitions, the earlier 
holdings are recognized at fair value, and the 
subsequent profit or loss is recognized as a 
gain or a loss. When the Group ceases to 
have control, any retained interest in the eq-
uity is re-assessed to its fair value at the date 
when control is lost, with the change in car-
rying amount recognized as a gain or loss.

Acquisitions that took place before January 1, 
2010 are recognized according to the pre-
vailing provisions at that time.   
   
Associated companies
Associated companies are companies in 
which the Group has a significant controlling 
interest. As a rule, a significant controlling in-
terest arises when the Group holds 20% or 
more of the company’s voting power or oth-
erwise is able to exercise significant control, 
but not the right of control. Associated com-
panies are consolidated ,using the equity 

method. If the Group’s share of the asso-
ciated company’s losses exceeds the book 
value of the investment, this investment is 
entered at zero value in the balance sheet
and any losses in excess of this value are 
not recognized unless the Group has obli-
gations with respect to the associated com-
pany. Investments in associated companies 
include any goodwill arising from their acqui-
sition. Unrealized profits between the Group 
and its associated companies are eliminat-
ed on the basis of the Group’s proportionate 
holdings. The Group’s share of the results 
of its associated companies is shown as a 
separate item under operating profit. The 
Group’s share of its associated companies’ 
other changes in comprehensive income are 
recognized under other comprehensive in-
come in the consolidated comprehensive 
Profit & Loss Statement. The Group's asso-
ciated companies did not have such income 
items in the 2014 and 2015 financial periods.

Translation of foreign currency 
items
Transactions in foreign currency are recog-
nized in the Group’s operating currency (eu-
ro) using the exchange rate in effect on the 
date of the transaction. Monetary foreign cur-
rency items are translated into euros using 
the rates prevailing on the last day of the re-
porting period. 

Gains or losses from the translation of for-
eign-currency transactions and monetary 
items are recognized via a gain or a loss. 
Exchange rate gains and losses are includ-
ed in the corresponding items above opera-
tional profit. Exchange rate gains and losses 
from financing are recorded in financial gains 
and losses.

Translation of the financial 
statements of Group companies 
outside Finland
The income and expense items in the sepa-
rate Profit & Loss Statements of Group com-
panies outside Finland are translated into eu-
ros at the rates prevailing on the dates of the 
respective transactions, and balance sheets 
using the rates in effect on the last day of the
reporting month. The income and compre-
hensive income translations at varying ex-
change rates in the Profit & Loss Statement 
and comprehensive Profit & Loss Statement 
on the one hand, and on the Balance Sheet 
on the other, create a translation difference 
recognized under equity, the effect of which 
is recorded in other comprehensive income 
items. The accumulated translation differ-
ences are treated as gain or loss in the case 
of divestments.

When a Group company outside Finland is 
founded by the Group itself, its acquisition 
does not entail goodwill or adjustments to its 
fair book value that should be translated
into euros at the rate in effect on the last day 
of the reporting month.

Recognition principles 
Reported net sales include the income from 
the sale of goods and services at fair val-
ue and adjusted by indirect taxes, discounts 
and foreign currency exchange rate differ-
ences. Income from the sale of goods is rec-
ognized when the material risks, rewards 
and ownership of the goods have been 
transferred to the buyer. This usually hap-
pens at the moment of handover as stated in 
the terms and conditions of the sale of prod-
ucts. Income from services is recognized in 
the financial period when the service is de-
livered. 

Long-term projects
The income and expenses of long-term proj-
ects are recognized on a per centage-of-com-
pletion basis when the end results can be 
reliably estimated. The percentage of com-
pletion is determined by calculating the pro-
portion of the expenses for each task com-
pleted by the review date in respect of the 
estimated total expenses of the project. 
When it is probable that the total expenses 
required for the completion of the project ex-
ceed the total income for the project, the ex-
pected loss is immediately recognized as an 
expense. If the results of the long-term proj-
ect cannot be reliably estimated, the costs 
in relation to the project are recorded as an 
expense during the period when they arise, 
and income from the project is recorded only 
insofar as the income amount corresponding 
to realized cost can be recovered. Losses 
from the project are immediately recognized 
as an expense. Expenses related to projects 
not yet recognized are recorded as work-in-
progress under current assets. If realized 
expenses and recorded income exceed the 
amount invoiced for the project, the differ-
ence is presented under the balance sheet 
item “trade and other receivables.” If real-
ized expenses and recorded income are 
less than the amount invoiced for the proj-
ect, the difference is presented under the 
balance sheet item “accounts payable and 
other payables.” 

Government grants
Government grants for offsetting realized ex-
penses are recorded under other operating 
income. Government grants are recognized
at the same time as the expenses relating 
to the target of the grant are recorded as an 
expense.

Notes to the consolidated 
financial statements 
december 31, 2015  
   
General 

Revenio Group Corporation is the parent 
company of the Revenio Group. The com-
pany is a public limited company registered 
in Finland, with its domicile in the City of 
Vantaa, and listed on the Nasdaq Helsinki 
Stock Exchange since October 2001. The 
company’s registered address is Äyritie 22, 
01510 Vantaa, Finland.

Revenio Group Corporation’s main busi-
ness is the design, manufacture and sales 
of medical instruments used for measuring 
intraocular pressure and bone density. The 
continuing operations of the Revenio Group 
Corporation constitute a single reported busi-
ness area. Besides Finland, the company 
operates in the United States, where it has 
a subsidiary.

The figures in the consolidated financial 
statements are expressed in thousands of 
euros.

The Board of Directors of the Revenio Group 
Corporation has approved these financial 
statements for publication in its meeting on 
February 22, 2016. According to the Finnish 
Limited Liability Companies Act, sharehold-
ers have the right to approve or reject the 
financial statements in the Annual General 
Meeting following their issuance. The AGM 
may also decide on amendments to the fi-
nancial statements.

Copies of the financial statements are avail-
able at the Head Office of the Group’s par-
ent company and on the company’s website:
www.revenio.fi   
 
Accounting principles for 
the consolidated financial 
statements 
Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards, 
IFRS, approved for use in the EU. The IAS 
and IFRS Standards and SIC and IFRIC 
Interpretations in effect on December 31, 
2015 have been applied. International 
Financial Reporting Standards refer to the 
Standards and their interpretations approved 
for application in the EU in accordance with 
the procedure stipulated in EU regulation 
(EU) no 1606/2002 and embodied in Finnish 
accounting legislation and the statutes en-
acted under it. The notes to the consolidated 

financial statements also comply with Finnish 
accounting and company legislation comple-
menting the IFRS Standards.

The consolidated financial statements are 
chiefly based on the purchase method of ac-
counting. Exceptions are available-for-sale 
financial assets stated at cost, and financial 
assets recognized at fair value through profit 
or loss, including derivatives.

The preparation of financial statements in 
conformity with IFRS requires the use of 
certain critical accounting estimates. It al-
so requires management to exercise its 
judgment in the process of applying the ac-
counting principles. These are disclosed un-
der “Critical accounting estimates and judg-
ments” below.

The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in the euro currency, which is the 
operational and accounting currency for the 
Group’s parent company and all of its subsid-
iaries, except for Icare Inc., which operates 
in USD. 
 
Revenio has changed the presentation of 
the non-controlling interest in its annual ac-
counts. In the future the company will al-
locate its consolidated comprehensive in-
come to the parent company shareholders 
and non-controlling interest share of the net 
income even in the case that the noncon-
trolling interest share would be negative. 
This will have no impact on the net income, 
total balance sheet values or cash flows. 
The 2014 numbers have been adjusted to 
the new way of presenting.   
 
Application of new or revised IFRS 
Standards and IFRIC Interpretations
The consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared on the same principles as 
in 2014, with the exception of the following 
new standards, interpretations and revisions 
to standards that the Group has applied as of 
January 1, 2015. The Group applies all the 
new standards, interpretations and revisions 
and estimates the impact to be small. 

IFRS 2 – The definition of ”vesting condi-
tions” is clarified and a ”performance condi-
tion” and a ”service condition” are defined 
separately.

IFRS 3 – It is clarified that a liability regard-
ing the payment of a contingent consideration 
is classified as a financial liability or equity 
in accordance with the definitions included 
in IAS 32, and that all contingent consider-
ations (included and not included in financial 
items) to be paid otherwise than as equity are 

measured at fair value on each reporting day. 
IFRS 3 – It is clarified that IFRS 3 is not 
applied to the formation of joint arrange-
ments in the financial statement of the joint 
arrangement. 

IFRS 8 – A requirement has been added to 
disclose in the financial statements decisions 
made by management on the basis of judg-
ment when aggregating operating segments. 
In addition, it is clarified that it is only neces-
sary to present a balancing calculation be-
tween the assets of the segment if the assets 
of segments are presented. 
IFRS 13 – It is confirmed that current receiv-
ables and liabilities can still be classified on 
the basis of invoices if the effect of the dis-
counting is minor.

IFRS 13 – It is clarified that the portfolio ex-
ception included in IFRS 13 (net-based defi-
nition of the fair value of a group consisting 
of financial assets and liabilities) applies to all 
contracts within the scope of IAS 39 or IFRS 9. 

IAS 16 and IAS 38 – The handling of gross 
carrying value and accumulated depreciation 
is clarified when assets are recognized at a 
value based on revaluation. 

IAS 24 – If a company receives services from 
a third party (a company providing manage-
ment services) that are related to the tasks 
of key management personnel, fees paid for 
these services must be presented in the fi-
nancial statements apart from compensation 
that the company providing the management 
services has paid to their personnel or mem-
bers of the board.    
 
Subsidiary companies
Subsidiary companies are companies (in-
cluding structured entities) in which the 
Group has a controlling interest. The Group 
has a controlling interest in a company if the 
interest exposes the Group to the company’s 
variable returns or entitles it to such returns, 
and the Group is able to influence these re-
turns by exercising its power over the com-
pany. Subsidiary companies are consolidat-
ed wholly from and including the date on 
which the Group has acquired the right of 
control. The consolidation will cease when 
the right of control ends.

Additional purchase costs, if applicable, are 
recognized at fair value on the acquisition 
date and classified as a liability or sharehold-
er equity. Additional purchase cost classified 
as a liability is recognized via a gain or a loss 
at fair value on the last day of each reporting 
period. Additional purchase cost classified as 
equity is not re-recognized. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements Dec 31, 2015Notes to the consolidated financial statements Dec 31, 2015
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Goodwill is not amortized, but tested annu-
ally for any impairment. For this purpose, 
goodwill is attributed to one cash generating 
unit. Goodwill is attributed to those cash gen-
erating units that the Group expects to bene-
fit from the combination of operations having 
created the goodwill. Goodwill is valued at
acquisition cost less impairment losses.

Other intangible assets
An intangible asset is recognized on the bal-
ance sheet only if its acquisition cost can be 
reliably determined and it is likely that the 
asset will generate commercial benefit to the 
Group.

Other intangible assets with a limited useful 
life are recognized on the balance sheet and 
expensed on a straight-line basis over their 
useful lives. For acquisitions after January 
1, 2004, intangible assets are valued at fair 
value. Estimated useful lives for various as-
sets are:

Customer agreements 
and related customer 
relationships

straight-line 
depreciation 
1-7 years 

Patents and trademarks
straight-line 
depreciation  
10 years

Software
straight-line 
depreciation 
3-7 years 

Capitalized R&D 
expenses

straight-line 
depreciation  
10 years

The Group has no intangible assets with an 
unlimited useful life. 
  
Impairments of tangible and 
intangible assets
On every closing date the Group manage-
ment reviews asset items for any indication of 
impairment. If there are such indications, the 
amount recoverable from the said asset item 
is assessed. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of the asset item’s fair value less the 
cost arising from disposal and its value in use. 
When determining value in use, the expected 
future net cash flows from the asset item or 
cash-generating unit are that are discounted to 
their present value. The interest rate calculat-
ed by the WACC method (Weighted Average 
Cost of Capital) before taxes is used as the 
discount interest rate. Factors affecting the in-
terest in the WACC calculation include a risk-
free interest rate, the cost of borrowed capital, 
the risk premium on the stock market, the beta 
coefficient and the industry’s capital structure.

An impairment loss is recognized in the Profit 
& Loss Statement when the book value of 
an asset item is greater than its recoverable 

amount. The impairment loss is recognized
in the Profit & Loss Statement. For other as-
set items except goodwill, the impairment loss 
can later be reversed if a change in the esti-
mates used for determining the recoverable 
amount has occurred. The impairment loss 
is, however, not reversed by more than what 
the book value of the asset would be without
the recognition of the impairment loss.

Factors considered by the Group manage-
ment as central in determining whether im-
pairment testing should be done include the 
asset item’s significantly lower profit in com-
parison with previous or expected future prof-
its, negative changes in the industry or market 
conditions or threats thereof, and significant 
changes in the way the asset item is used or 
the business strategy.

Financial assets
Categorization
The Group’s financial assets are categorized 
under financial assets measured at fair val-
ue through profit and loss, loans and other 
receivables, and available-for-sale financial 
assets. The categorization depends on the 
purpose for which the asset has been ac-
quired and takes place in connection with the 
original recognition of the asset.

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit and loss
Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit and loss are held for trading 
purposes. A financial asset falls into this cat-
egory if it has been acquired mainly for sale 
in the near future. Derivatives are also held 
for trading purposes, unless they are cate-
gorized as hedges. Asset items in this group 
are short-term assets. 

Loans and other receivables
Loans and other receivables are assets not 
belonging to derivative assets, the payments 
of which are fixed or quantifiable and which 
are not quoted on an active market. They are 
included in short-term assets except when 
they mature more than 12 months after the 
closing date, in which case they are catego-
rized as long-term assets.

Financial assets available for sale
Financial assets available for sale are assets 
not belonging to derivative assets that are 
either explicitly categorized as such or not 
placed in any other category.

Financial assets available for sale include 
listed shares included in long-term as-
sets unless they are held for sale within 12 
months of the closing date, in which case 
they are categorized as short-term assets.

Financial assets – recognition and 
measurement
The acquisition and disposal of financial as-
sets are recognized based on the date of the 
transaction. Investments in financial assets 
not recognized through profit and loss
are recognized at the original value includ-
ing transaction costs. Financial assets recog-
nized through profit and loss are recognized 
at the original value, and the transaction 
costs are recognized as income in the Profit 
& Loss Statement. Financial assets are 
derecognized when rights to the cash flows 
from the investment have expired or been 
transferred, and the Group has transferred 
an essential part of their ownership-related 
risks and rewards. Financial assets available 
for sale and recognized through profit and 
loss are later measured at fair value.

Loans and other receivables are measured 
at amortized cost using the effective inter-
est method.

Unrealized and realized gains and losses 
due to changes in fair value relating to as-
sets categorized as financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss are recognized
in operating profit in the accounting period 
in which they arise. Dividend income from 
financial assets recognized at fair value, 
through profit or loss are recorded on the bal-
ance sheet as other income when the right to 
payment has arisen for the Group.

When securities categorized as available for 
sale are sold or depreciated, the changes in 
fair value recognized in equity are included 
under the balance sheet item “other oper-
ating profit/loss net.” Interest on securities 
available for sale, calculated using the effec-
tive interest method, is recognized in finan-
cial items on the balance sheet. Dividends 
from equity instruments available for sale are 
recognized in other income on the balance 
sheet when the right to payment has arisen 
for the Group.

The fair values of quoted investments are 
based on current bid prices. If there is no 
active market for a financial asset, fair value 
is established by using valuation techniques. 
These include the use of recent arm’s length
transactions, the fair values of other instru-
ments that are substantially the same, or the 
present value of discounted cash flows.

On each closing date, it is evaluated whether 
objective evidence exists that a financial as-
set is impaired. For available-for-sale equity 
instruments, a significant or prolonged de-
crease of their fair values below the acquisi-
tion cost is considered to constitute evidence 

Research and development 
expenses
Research expenses are recognized through 
profit or loss. Development expenses for new 
or more advanced products are capitalized on 
the balance sheet as intangible goods from 
the moment the product is technically feasi-
ble, it can be utilized commercially, and it is 
estimated that commercial benefits can be 
extracted from it. Capitalized development 
expenses include those material, work, and 
testing costs directly attributable to the com-
pletion of the product for its intended use. 
Development expenses recognized as ex-
penses earlier are not capitalized later.

Amortization is recognized for a good from 
the moment it is ready for use. A good not 
yet ready for use is annually tested for impair-
ment. After initial recording, capitalized R&D 
expenses are recognized adjusted by amorti-
zation on the purchase cost and impairment.
The useful life of capitalized R&D costs is at 
least 10 years, during which period they are 
recorded as expenses through straight-line 
amortization.

Employee benefits
Pension liabilities
The Group’s pensions are handled by ex-
ternal pension insurance companies. The 
Group only has defined contribution plans. 
Expenses related to defined contribution 
plans are recorded as expenses for the fi-
nancial period they arise. 

In addition, Revenio has a voluntary addi-
tional pension plan to certain employees and 
this arangement has been accounted for as a 
defined benefit plan. The insured retirement 
pension is 60 years. These defined benefit 
plans are handled by external pension insur-
ance companies.    
  
Share-based payments
The Group has a share-based incentive pro-
gram in which shares can be subscribed for 
at a price defined in the program. The bene-
fits granted on the basis of the arrangement 
are recognized at fair value at grant date, 
and recorded in the Profit & Loss Statement 
on a straight-line basis during the vesting pe-
riod. The expense at grant date is based on 
fair value calculated according to the Black-
Scholes option pricing model. The effect on 
the financial result of the arrangement is pre-
sented in the Profit & Loss Statement under
employee benefit expenses. Granted options 
are equity instruments. When option rights 
are exercised, the considerations received 
on the basis of subscriptions are recorded in 
the unrestricted equity reserve under share-
holders’ equity.

Lease agreements
The Group as lessee 
Part of the equipment used for the Group's 
production and business support functions 
is leased. Leases for tangible and intangible 
goods where the Group carries a substantial 
portion of the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as finance lease agreements. 
Finance leases are capitalized at the com-
mencement of the lease at the present value 
of the minimum lease payments, and are de-
preciated over the useful life of the asset or 
over the lease period, if shorter. Each lease 
payment is allocated between liability and fi-
nance charges during the lease period in a 
way that the interest rate of the outstanding 
liability remains unchanged. Lease liabilities 
are included in financial liabilities.

Leases where the lessor retains a significant 
portion of the risks and rewards are classi-
fied as other leases. Payments made under 
these leases are recognized in the Profit & 
Loss Statement as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the period of the lease.

The Group does not act as a lessor towards 
external parties.    
  
Dividends 
Payment of dividends to the company’s 
shareholders is recognized as a liability on the 
consolidated balance sheet for the financial 
period during which the distribution of profit is 
approved by the Annual General Meeting.  
 
Income taxes
The tax expense in the Profit & Loss 
Statement comprises the tax based on the 
company’s taxable income for the period to-
gether with deferred taxes. The tax based 
on taxable income for the period is the tax-
able income of the Group companies calcu-
lated on the applicable tax rate. The tax is ad-
justed for any tax related to previous periods. 
Deferred tax is calculated on all temporary dif-
ferences between their book and actual tax 
values. Deferred tax is not recognized for ac-
countable assets and liabilities not concern-
ing combination of operations when the rec-
ognition of such an asset or liability will not 
affect accounting results nor taxable income 
at the time of the transaction. Deferred tax is 
not recognized for non-deductible goodwill im-
pairment or for distributable earnings of sub-
sidiaries where it is probable that the differ-
ence will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The largest temporary differences, thus de-
ferred tax, arise from unused tax losses and 
the fair-value recognition of intangible and 
tangible assets in connection with corporate 
acquisitions.

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the ex-
tent that it is probable that future taxable prof-
it, against which the temporary differences 
can be utilized, will be available.  
     
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are valued 
at original acquisition cost less accumulat-
ed depreciation and amortization as well as 
impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment are amortized 
using the straightline method based on the 
estimated useful life of the asset. Estimated 
useful lives for various assets are:
 

Buildings and 
constructions

straight-line depre-
ciation 20 years

Machinery and 
equipment

straight-line depre-
ciation 3-5 years 

 
    
 
    
 
When a part of property, plant and equipment 
is dealt with as a separate entity, costs relat-
ed to its replacement are capitalized. In oth-
er cases, costs arising later are included in 
the accounting for a tangible asset only if it 
is likely that the asset will generate commer-
cial benefit to the Group, and the acquisition 
cost of the asset can be reliably determined. 
Other repair and maintenance costs are rec-
ognized through profit or loss as realized.

When a tangible asset is classified as 
available for sale in accordance with 
the IFRS 5 standard, its depreciation is 
discontinued.

The residual value and useful life of assets 
are checked at least in connection with each 
financial statement and, if necessary, adjust-
ed to reflect changes in the expectation of 
economic benefit.

Gains and losses from disposals are deter-
mined by comparing the disposal proceeds 
with the book amount and are included in 
other operating income or expenses.  
    
Intangible assets
Goodwill 
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost 
of an acquisition over the fair value of the 
Group’s share of the net assets of the ac-
quired company at the date of acquisition. 
For companies acquired before January 1, 
2004, goodwill represents the excess of the 
cost of an acquisition over the book value of 
the Group’s share of the net assets of the 
acquired company at the date of acquisition.
For associated companies, goodwill is in-
cluded in the acquisition cost.
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micro-economic factors that affect demand 
in the business. The estimates used reflect 
actual history and are consistent with exter-
nal information.

As presented in the recognition principles, the 
income and expenses from long-term proj-
ects are recognized based on percentage of 
completion when the end result of the proj-
ect can be reliably assessed. Percentage-of-
completion recognition is based on estimates
on expected income and expenses from the 
project, as well as reliable measurement of 
the project’s progress. In case estimates on 
the end result of the project change, the rec-
ognized sales and profit are adjusted for the 
period when the change is first known and es-
timated. Any expected loss from the project is 
recognized immediately as an expense.  
     
 
Management of financial 
risks 
Financial risks and the risk manage-
ment process
The management of financial risks is the 
responsibility of the CEO together with the 
Board of Directors. The Board defines the 
main outlines of the company’s financing 
and the general management principles for 
financial risks, and gives guidelines as nec-
essary for any special issues such as liquid-
ity risk, interest risk, credit risk, and the in-
vestment of surplus liquid funds. The Board 
of Directors discusses the Group’s financial 
standing at its monthly meetings. 

According to its strategy, the company may 
seek growth through acquisitions of compa-
nies and business operations. The imple-
mentation of these acquisitions may require
debt financing. Debt can also be used for 
other strategic and operational purposes 
decided on by the Board. Equity financing 
may also be used for all financing needs, in 
particular for acquisitions of companies and
business operations.

Types of financial risks
In its operational activities, the company 
may be exposed to several types of finan-
cial risks, including changes in currency ex-
change rates, interest rates and changes in 
the stock market. A central objective of fi-
nancial risk management is to identify fi-
nancial market risks that are relevant to the 
Group, and seek to minimize the harmful 
effects of financial market changes on the 
Group’s profit.

The main areas of financial risk manage-
ment are:

(i) Currency risk
The United States is a significant export 
market for the company’s Health Tech seg-
ment. The company has a subsidiary in the 
United States through which sales are con-
ducted on the US market. The operating 
currency of the subsidiary is the U.S. dol-
lar. In sales to and local purchases in the 
U.S., the company is exposed to a risk of 
fluctuating exchange rates between the 
U.S. dollar and the euro. At the end of the 
financial period, the company’s cash and 
cash equivalents in U.S.dollars were USD 
1,080,000. In the event the Euro weakens 
against the U.S. dollar by 10 per cent, this 
would increase the company’s cash and 
cash equivalents on the closing date by 
EUR 110,000.

Invoicing between Icare Finland Oy and 
Icare US Inc. takes place in USD. The 
currency risk is borne by Icare Finland 
Oy, since business transactions between 
Group companies are not hedged against 
currency risks.The U.S. market represents 
approximately 45% of the total net sales of 
the Group's continuing functions. Icare US 
Inc. had USD 1,183,000 in account receiv-
ables from sales on the closing date. Icare 
US Inc. had USD 670,000 cash in bank on 
the closing date. The Group's USD curren-
cy account held no balance on the clos-
ing date.

(ii) Interest rate risk 
In the company’s balance sheet structure, 
interest rate risk is involved in borrowings. 
The Group’s profit and cash flow from op-
erations are to an essential extent indepen-
dent of fluctuations in market interest. 

When taking up new financing, for example 
for corporate acquisitions, the company al-
ways evaluates the need for interest rate 
hedging, taking into account the amount 
of debt, hedging costs and expected in-
terest rate development during the financ-
ing period. Approximately 73 per cent of 
the Group’s borrowings have fixed interest 
rates. The Group’s non-current loans from 
banks are fixed in three months’ Euribor. 
The increase of reference rates by one 
percentage point would on December 31, 
2015 increase the annual interest cost of 
interest-bearing debt by an estimated EUR 
2,500. (2014: approx. EUR 7,000). The 
sensitivity analysis takes into account the 
Group’s floating rate debt. The company 
has no interest rate investments or deriv-
atives to which cash flow hedging would 
be applied.

(iii) Credit risk 
The Group’s credit policy lays down the 
requirements for selling on credit and 
the requirements for credit management.
Corporate customers who are granted a 
credit insurance limit by an external cred-
it insurance company are eligible for credit 
sales. The credit quality of a new customer 
is controlled by applying for a credit insur-
ance limit every time a new customer rela-
tionship is established. The credit limit and 
credit sales eligibility is reassessed if the 
customer’s purchase volumes change or if 
the credit insurance company changes the 
granted credit limit as a result of a change in 
the customer’s credit quality.

No single customer or customer group con-
stitutes a significant credit risk concentra-
tion for the Group. During the financial pe-
riod, credit losses and credit loss reserves 
recognized through profit and loss totaled 
EUR 33,574.71 (EUR 0). The theoretical 
maximum credit risk at the end of the period 
corresponds to the book value of trade re-
ceivables. The aging of trade receivables is 
presented in Note 18.

(iv) Liquidity risk
The most significant factor affecting the suffi-
ciency of liquid funds in the short term is the 
profitability of the business operations. Thus 
the development of cash flows from opera-
tions is affected by the management’s profit-
ability management measures, and addition-
ally, operational risks and external risks such 
as general economic development, financial 
market conditions and other macroeconom-
ic demand factors over which the company 
management has no control.

The Group’s liquidity in 2015 remained good. 
Liquidity was positively influenced by the 
good profitability development of the Health 
Tech segment. Liquid funds were decreased 
in 2015 by the payment of dividends. On 
December 31, 2015, the Group’s cash and 
cash equivalents totaled EUR 8,319,000 
(2014: EUR 4,105,000). The company con-
tinuously monitors and assesses the fi-
nancing needs of its business operations 
to ensure sufficient liquidity for financing its 
operations. In addition to its cash and cash 
equivalents, the company has a revolving 
credit limit of EUR 2 million for efficient man-
agement of its liquidity at Group level. The 
limit was not used during the financial peri-
od. The checking account limit in use during 
earlier financial periods has been terminated 
and paid back. The Board of Directors fol-
lows the actual and forecast development of 
the Group’s liquidity monthly, and decides on 
possible corrective actions.

of impairment. The accumulated loss, deter-
mined as the difference between acquisition
cost and current fair value less previously 
recognized impairment loss for the said as-
set, is transferred through profit or loss. An 
impairment loss relating to equity investment 
is not later reversed through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are initially recognized 
in accounting at fair value less transaction 
costs. Subsequently, all financial liabilities 
are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method. Financial liabili-
ties include current and non-current liabili-
ties. Financial liabilities are categorized as 
current unless the Group has an uncondi-
tional right to postpone payment at least to 
12 months after the closing date.

Commissions associated with loan commit-
ments are recognized as transaction costs 
to the extent that it is probable that the en-
tire loan commitment or part of it will be tak-
en up. In such a case, the commission is en-
tered in the balance sheet until the loan is 
taken up. When it is, the commission asso-
ciated with loan commitments is recognized 
as part of the transaction costs. If the loan 
commitment is unlikely to be taken up, the 
commission is recognized as an advance 
payment for a liquidity service and is amor-
tized as a cost for the period of the loan 
commitment.

A financial liability is removed from the bal-
ance sheet when the contractual obliga-
tions related to the liability expire. If needed, 
credit accounts are included in loans recog-
nized in current debt.

The fair values of all financial assets and li-
abilities are presented in Note 26.

Equity
Outstanding ordinary shares are presented 
as share capital. Transaction costs due to 
the issuance of new equity instruments are 
presented as a deduction from equity. The 
own shares repurchased by Revenio Group 
Corporation are presented as a deduction 
from equity.

Goodwill
Regardless of whether any indications of im-
pairment exist, the recoverable amount for 
goodwill is assessed annually. The recover-
able amount is the fair value of the asset less 
disposal cost, or the fair value if higher. Fair 
value means estimated future cash flows 
from the said asset or cash-generating unit
that are discounted to their present value. 
The discount rate used is a pre-tax rate that 

reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset.

An impairment loss is recognized in the Profit 
& Loss Statement when the book value of 
an asset item is greater than its recoverable 
amount. The impairment loss is recognized 
in the Profit & Loss Statement. 

The assessment of fair value is based on es-
timates of future cash flows. The cash flows 
are most affected by discount interest rates, 
closing values as well as the assumptions 
and estimates used in assessing cash flows. 
The management determines the discount 
interest rate based on the WACC method 
(Weighted Average Cost of Capital). Even 
though the management estimates that the 
assessments have been made with due dili-
gence, the estimates may differ significantly 
from actual future values. Discounted cash 
flows are calculated at the level of cash-gen-
erating units.

Inventories
Inventories are recognized at the lower of 
cost and net realizable value. The acquisi-
tion cost is determined using the FIFO meth-
od. The net realizable value is the estimat-
ed selling price in a conventional transaction 
less the cost to make the sale. The acquisi-
tion cost of completed products and work in 
progress comprises direct costs such as ma-
terials, direct costs of labor, other direct costs 
and the allocation of the variable manufactur-
ing overheads and fixed overhead at normal
operating capacity. 

Sales receivables
Trade receivables are recognized at original 
invoiced price less impairment loss. An im-
pairment loss is recognized when evidence 
exists that the company cannot collect its re-
ceivables in accordance with the initial terms 
and conditions. The impairment loss is the 
difference between the book value of the re-
ceivables and their recoverable amount, and 
it corresponds to the present value of expect-
ed cash flows. Evidence is regularly consid-
ered to exist when the receivable is more 
than 180 days outstanding when no credit 
insurance or a security through other means 
is available. External evidence of a risk relat-
ed to a receivable even before it is 180 days 
outstanding will lead to the recognition of 
impairment loss. Such evidence may be, for 
example, the debtor’s significant economic 
difficulties, company reorganization or bank-
ruptcy proceedings. The impairment loss is 
recognized in the Profit & Loss Statement in 
other operating expenses.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in 
hand, bank deposits withdrawable on de-
mand and other liquid short-term invest-
ments with original maturities of one month 
or less from acquisition.   
   
Provisions
Provisions on the balance sheet are proba-
ble future liabilities due to earlier events, the 
amount of which can be reliably estimated. 
Provisions are measured at the discounted 
present value of the cost required to cover 
the liability. The discount rate used is a rate 
that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks spe-
cific to the liability.

Critical accounting estimates 
and assumptions 
The preparation of the financial statements 
requires the use of estimates and assump-
tions about the future. The actual results may 
differ from these estimates and assump-
tions. In addition, judgment needs to be ex-
ercised in the application of the accounting 
principles.

The most significant items of the financial 
statements where the management has 
been required to use its judgment and for 
which the estimates include significant un-
certainty are presented below. 

In acquired businesses, the definition of the 
fair value of intangible assets is based on es-
timates about the cash flows from those as-
sets. Estimates and prognoses need to be 
used for the durations of customer contracts 
and the cash flows generated by them with 
regard to intangible assets. The Group tests 
goodwill annually and assesses indications 
of impairment as described above under ac-
counting principles. The recoverable amounts 
of cash-generating units are defined based 
on value in use. These calculations require 
the use of estimates on the profitability of the 
business and on all factors that may affect it. 
For intangible assets with a limited useful life, 
it is estimated annually whether any indica-
tions of their impairment exist. If such indica-
tions are detected, the intangible assets are 
subjected to impairment testing. The recov-
erable amounts of cash-generating units are 
defined based on value in use. These calcula-
tions require the use of estimates. More infor-
mation on the impairment testing of goodwill 
and intangible assets is provided in Note 14.

Besides the Group strategy, and action and 
financial plans and prognoses for the coming 
years, Group management bases its prog-
noses on estimates about the macro- and 
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31.12.2015 Appendix Under 1 year 1–2 years 2–5 years Over 5 years Cash flow 
total

Trade payables and other non-in-
terest-bearing debt 24 2,462 0 0 0 2,462

Loans from finance institutions
- principal 22 433 59 117 304 914
- interest payments 5 2 2 0 9
Finance lease liabilities 22
-principal 0 0 0 0 0
-interest payments 0 0 0 0 0

The Group's capital management activities seek to optimize capital 
structure and thereby support the Group's business activities by en-
suring normal operating conditions for business activities, while also 
increasing shareholder value and aiming for the best possible profit.

Capital structure can be influenced by dividend distribution and the 
issue of shares. The Group may vary and adjust the amount of divi-
dends paid to shareholders or the number of new shares issued, or 
decide to sell assets in order to reduce its debts.

The Group monitors its capital structure through leveraging. At 
the end of 2015, the Group's interest-bearing net liabilities totaled 
EUR -7.1 million (EUR -2.7 million at the end of 2014) and leverag-
ing stood at -48.3 per cent (-22.4 %). When calculating leveraging, 
interest-bearing net liabilities are divided by shareholders' equity. 
Interest-bearing liabilities are included in net liabilities, with inter-
est-bearing receivables and cash and cash equivalents deduct-
ed. The Group's strategy is to keep leveraging below 25 per cent. 
There has been no change in this strategy since the previous year.

The Group applies external capital requirements in respect of loans 
from financial institutions in 2012, and part of project warranties. 
These capital requirements cover minimum equity ratio, the own-
ership relations between the Group’s parent and subsidiaries, and 
the maximum amount of interest-bearing net debt in relation to op-
erating profit before depreciations. The Group continuously moni-
tors these key figures as part of monthly assessments of its finan-
cial position.

 

 Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015 Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
Financial liabilities 1,178 1,405
Cash and cash equivalents 8,319 4,105
Net liabilities  -7,141 -2,700
Total equity 15,033 12,061
Net leveraging -48.3% -22.4%

Earlier corporate acquisitions by the Group have included stock 
swaps, which may involve contingent considerations agreed for pe-
riods of several years. These contingent considerations can also 
be balanced by transferring the company’s own shares to the sell-
er. An estimate of such contingent considerations is recognized on 
the balance sheet under other financing liabilities at the time of the 
transaction. The consolidated balance sheet did not include such 
contingent considerations at the end of the financial period or the 
comparison period.

31.12.2014 Appendix Under 1 year 1–2 years 2-5 years Over 5 years Cash flow 
total

Trade payables and other non-in-
terest-bearing debt 24 1,856 0 0 0 1,856

Loans from finance institutions
-principal 22 630 398 353 0 1,381
-interest payments 15 4 4 0 23
Finance lease liabilities 22
-principal 24 0 0 0 24
-interest payments 1 0 0 0 1

The Group’s interest-bearing debt at end of period:

Liability Use Initial amount, 
TEUR

Principal outstanding, 
TEUR Vintage

Bank loan Revolving credit 2,000 250 2012
Bank loan Subsidiary’s TEKES loan 502 360 2010–2013

The parent company bank loan mentioned above includes financial 
covenants that are reported to the bank annually for the preceding 
12-month period. In case of breach of covenants, the creditor may de-
mand accelerated payback of the credits or, alternatively, the increase 
of the interest by 0.5 percentage points. The sensitivity margins of 
the covenants, based on equity ratio, conditions related to the Group 
structure and the ratio of the Group’s net debt to EBITDA, were good 

in 2015.According to the management’s assessment, there is no in-
dication that the covenants would be breached during the remainder 
of the loan period.

The table below details the contractual maturity analysis. The figures 
are not discounted and include both interest and principal payments.
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Jan 1–Dec 31, 
2015

Jan 1–Dec 31, 
2014

Jan 1–Dec 31, 
2015

Jan 1 – Dec 31, 
2014

TEUR Done Software Solutions Oy Contact center (Midas Touch Oy)
Income 631 1,573 0 3,450
Expenses -453 -1,240 0 -3,110
Profit before taxes 178 333 0 340
Taxes 0 -5 0 18
Profit after taxes 178 328 0 358

Gains from divestment before taxes 1,648 0 0 -1,988
Taxes 0 -5 0 0
Gains from divestment after taxes 1,648 -5 0 -1,988

Profit for the period, discontinued 
operations 1,826 323 0 -1,630

Cash flows:

Cash flow from operations 5 354 0 237
Cash flow from investing activities -5 -19 0 -9
Cash flow from financing activities 0 0 0 0

Jan 1–Dec 31, 
2015

Jan 1–Dec 31, 
2014

Jan 1–Dec 31, 
2015

Jan 1–Dec 31, 
2014

TEUR Information Display (FLS Finland Oy)
Income 0 0 Profit from discontinued operations is 

presented on the Profit & Loss Statement 
row Net profit from discontinued opera-
tions, consisting of sold or available-for-

sale companies.

Expenses 0 -28
Profit before taxes 0 -28
Taxes 0 0
Profit after taxes 0 -28

Gains from divestment before taxes 0 0
Taxes 0 0
Gains from divestment after taxes 0 0

Profit for the period, discontinued 
operations 0 -28

Cash flows:

Cash flow from operations 0 -28
Cash flow from investing activities 0 0
Cash flow from financing activities 0 0

1) Operating segments  
The Group consists of a single reportable segment formed out of its independent subsidiaries with business operations.  

On December 1, 2014, the Group decided to divest Boomeranger Boats Oy and Done Software Solutions Oy, which represented its Technology 
and Services segment, and the companies have been sold during the review period 2015. 

The segment reported by the Group is:
Revenio Health Tech 
(Icare Finland Oy, Icare Inc., Oscare Medical Oy and Revenio Research Oy)

Design, manufacture and sales of tonometers; design, 
manufacture and sales of bone density measurement 
device; and management of the Group's R&D projects 

Information about geographical areas
2015, TEUR

Finland  Other Europe Others Total
Net sales 774 4,809 14,667 20,250
Assets 16,250 0 2,175 18,425
Investments 2,239 0 34 2,273

2014, TEUR
Finland  Other Europe Others Total

Net sales 620 4,254 11,157 16,031
Assets 17,693 0 1,643 19,336
Investments 1,150 0 0 1,150

2) Net sales
TEUR 2015 2014

Net sales, goods 20,250 15,843
Net sales, services 0 188
Total 20,250 16,031

3) Discontinued operations
The discontinued operations of the Group in 2015 comprise the business operations of Kauhajoen Sisälogistiikka Oy, Done Software Solutions 
Oy and Boomeranger Boats Oy. Boomeranger Boats Oy’s business operations were sold on February 25, 2015 and those of Done Software 
Solutions Oy were sold on May 7, 2015. Kauhajoen Sisälogistiikka Oy has been placed in liquidation, and the company will be dissolved in 2016. 

The profits, gains from divestments and share of cash flows for the discontinued operations were: 

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015 Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014 Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015 Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014

TEUR Boomeranger Boats Oy Kauhajoen Sisälogistiikka Oy / 
Done Logistics Oy

Income 230 3,666 0 323
Expenses -398 -3,484 -33 -482
Profit before taxes -168 182 -33 -159
Taxes 0 0 0
Profit after taxes -168 182 -33 -159

Gains from divestment be-
fore taxes 341 -3,122 0 0

Taxes 0 4 0 0
Gains from divestment af-
ter taxes 341 -3,118 0 0

Profit for the period, discon-
tinued operations 173 -2,936 -33 -159

Cash flow from operations 5 -1,461 -58 327
Cash flow from investing 
activities -3 -71 0 0

Cash flow from financing 
activities 0 0 0 0
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8) Other operating expenses

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Voluntary personnel costs -221 -96
Rent -315 -312
Other operating expenses -16 -19
IT, machinery and equipment expenses -371 -326
Marketing and travel expenses -1,676 -1,318
R&D expenses -96 -387
Administrative services -2,083 -865
Other operating expenses -47 -42
Total -4,827 -3,365

9) Research and development expenses

The Profit & Loss Statement includes R&D costs recognized as expenses in the amount of EUR 96,000 in 2015 (2014: EUR 387,000)

10) Financing expenses (net)

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Interest on financial liabilities -15 -32
Exchange rate losses from liabilities -241 -5
Other financial expenses -30 0
Exchange rate gains from liabilities 419 267
Other financial income 11 15
Total 144 245

The Group did not acquire any new businesses in the 2015 financial period. 

5) Other operating income

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015 Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
TEUR TEUR

Grants and subsidies received 50 10
Others 27 9
Total 78 19

6) Employee benefit expenses

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015 Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
TEUR TEUR

Salaries and wages -3,206 -2,111
Pension costs – defined contribution plans -551 -456
Other indirect personnel expenses -139 -51
Total -3,896 -2,618

Average number of personnel during financial period Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015 Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
Revenio Health Tech (Icare Finland Oy, Icare Inc.,  
Oscare Medical Oy and Revenio Research Oy) 32 25

Discontinued operations 0 44
Administration (Revenio Group Corporation) 5 5
Total 37 74

Information of the management’s employment benefits, shareholdings and option rights are presented in Note 28.  
Related party transactions. Information on options granted are presented in Note 21. Share-based payments.

7) Depreciation, amortization and impairment

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Depreciation and amortization by type of asset
Development expenses -195 -112
Intangible assets -80 -221
Depreciation and amortization by type of asset, intangible assets total -275 -333

Property, plant and equipment
Machinery and equipment -268 -193
Depreciation, amortization and impairment during financial period, total -268 -193

Impairment total 0 0

Depreciation, amortization and impairment during financial period, total -542 -526

4) Acquired businesses
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13) Property, plant and equipment

Land and water areas Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Acquisition cost Jan 1 0 64
Transfer to non-current assets for sale 0 -64
Acquisition cost Dec 31 0 0
Book value Dec 31 0 0
Book value Jan 1 0 64

The additions to the historical cost of land and water do not include items rented through finance lease agreements.

Buildings and constructions Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Acquisition cost Jan 1 0 979
Transfer to non-current assets for sale 0 -979
Acquisition cost Dec 31 0 0
Accumulated depreciation Jan 1 0 -354
Depreciation during the year 0 -42
Transfer to non-current assets for sale 0 396
Accumulated depreciation Dec 31 0 0
Book value Dec 31 0 0
Book value Jan 1 0 625

The additions to the historical cost of buildings and structures do not include items rented through finance lease agreements.

Machinery and equipment Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Acquisition cost Jan 1 2,691 3,702
Increase during the period 338 435
Transfer to non-current assets for sale 0 -787
Decreases during period -1,421 -659
Acquisition cost Dec 31 1,608 2,691
Accumulated depreciation Jan 1 -2,198 -3,133
Transfer to non-current assets for sale 0 394
Depreciation during the year -209 -234
Decrease during the period, divestments 1,428 775
Accumulated depreciation Dec 31 -978 -2,198
Book value Dec 31 630 493
Book value Jan 1 493 569

Finance lease agreements, machinery and equipment Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Acquisition cost Jan 1 444 736
Transfer to non-current assets for sale 0 -40
Decreases during period -444 -252
Acquisition cost Dec 31 0 444
Accumulated depreciation Jan 1 -437 -645
Transfer to non-current assets for sale 0 57
Depreciation during the year 0 -74
Decrease during the period, divestments 437 225
Accumulated depreciation Dec 31 0 -437
Book value Dec 31 0 7
Book value Jan 1 7 91

Advance payments and purchases in progress Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Acquisition cost Jan 1 85 0
Increase during the period 61 85
Decreases during period -85
Acquisition cost Dec 31 61 85
Book value Dec 31 61 85
Book value Jan 1 85 0

11) Income taxes

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Income tax for actual operations -1,343 -601

Tax from previous financial periods 18 -5

Change in deferred tax liabilities and assets 12 -316

Income taxes -1,313 -922

Reconciliation of tax expenses in the Profit & Loss Statement and taxes calculated using the parent company tax rate 20% (20%):

Tax rate reconciliation Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Profit before taxes 5,903 4,658

Income tax using parent company tax rate -1,181 -932

Different tax rates of foreign subsidiaries -41 28

Non-taxable income 310 230

Non-deductible expenses -314 -7

Impact of change in corporate tax rate on deferred tax asset 0 0

Temporary differences created and reversed in deferred tax assets and liabilities 12 104

Use of previously unrecognized losses from taxation 0 -420

Tax adjustments for previous fiscal years 18 -5

Tax losses without recognized deferred tax assets -117 79

Taxes recognized in Profit & Loss Statement -1,313 -922

12) Earnings per share

The undiluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit for the period by the weighted average number of outstanding shares 
during the financial period.

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015 Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
Profit for the period attributable to owners of parent (TEUR), continuing operations 4,865 3,736

Profit for the period attributable to owners of parent (TEUR), discontinued operations 1,907 -4,430
Weighted average number of outstanding shares during the financial period (own 
shares deducted), qty 7,936,670 7,876,183

Undiluted earnings per share (EUR), continuing operations 0.61 0.47

Undiluted earnings per share (EUR), discontinued operations 0.24 -0.56

Diluted earnings per share (EUR), continuing operations 0.61 0.47

Diluted earnings per share (EUR), discontinued operations 0.24 -0.56

The diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit for the period by the weighted average number of outstanding shares during 
the financial period, including the diluting effect of stock options. The 329,800 (473,300) stock options had a diluting effect of 31,127 shares at 
the end of the financial period.
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Goodwill impairment testing sensitivity analysis 
According to the sensitivity analysis performed using goodwill testing methods, the following changes may also occur in key items without
any need to lower existing goodwill:

Cash-generating unit (CGU)

Increase in  
discount rate,  

percentage points

Decrease in the op-
erating profit level of 

the unit used in the 
forecast period, %

CGU1: Icare 272.9 98.6

As far as the assessment of Icare Finland Oy's recoverable amount is concerned, management is of the opinion that no potential change in any 
key forecast factor, reasonably assessed, could result in a situation in which the goodwill recorded in the consolidated balance sheet would 
have to be lowered.

15) Intangible assets

Intangible assets
Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015

TEUR
Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014

TEUR
Acquisition cost Jan 1 5,316 4,683
Increase during the period 1,113 726
Transfer to non-current assets for sale 0 -32
Decreases during period -2,016 -61
Acquisition cost Dec 31 4,413 5,316
Accumulated depreciation Jan 1 -2,491 -2,253
Transfer to non-current assets for sale 0 31
Depreciation during the year -268 -345
Decreases during period 2,016 76
Accumulated depreciation Dec 31 -743 -2,491
Book value Dec 31 3,670 2,825
Book value Jan 1 2,825 2,327

Intangible assets consist mainly of capitalized R&D expenses, patents acquired in connection with corporate acquisitions, and other intangible 
assets. They also include software.

14) Goodwill

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
TEURGoodwill

Acquisition cost Jan 1 1,191 6,966
Book value Jan 1 1,191 6,966
Increase during the period 0 0
Decreases during period 0 -5,775
Acquisition cost Dec 31 1,191 1,191
Book value Dec 31 1,191 1,191

Breakdown of book values of goodwill:
Revenio Health Tech 1,191 1,191
Discontinued operations 0 0
Book value Dec 31 1,191 1,191

Goodwill impairment tests    
For goodwill impairment testing in the 2015 financial period, the Group consisted of one cash-generating unit to which
the goodwill stated on the consolidated balance sheet is allocated. The cash-generating unit and its allocated goodwill amount is: 

Cash-generating unit (CGU) Goodwill, TEUR
CGU1: Icare, Revenio Health Tech segment 1,191
Total goodwill December 31, 2015 1,191

This goodwill has accumulated through corporate acquisitions. The di-
vision of the companies into cash-generating units follows the Group’s 
corporate structure.

The justifications for recognizing goodwill have been separately as-
sessed in connection with each corporate acquisition. The justification 
for recognizing Icare Finland Oy’s goodwill is the proprietary intraoc-
ular pressure measurement technology it has developed and owns, 
and the strong competitiveness and market potential of the products 
based on the technology. 

The recoverable amounts from CGUs are determined by the value-
in-use method. The cash flow projections are based on forecasts ap-
proved by the management and covering a five-year period.

In addition to strategy, latest budgets and forecasts, management bas-
es its cash flow projections on an estimate of the effect of the recent
trade cycle changes on the capability of the CGUs to generate cash 
flows, and on other external information management deems to have 
this effect. The assumptions used are consistent with past develop-
ments, and, in the management’s opinion, moderate in respect of the 
growth and profitability opportunities in the coming years.

The pre-tax discount interest rate used for calculating value-in-use is 
determined separately for each cash-generating unit using the WACC 
(Weighted Average Cost of Capital) method, which projects the total 
cost of own and borrowed capital taking into account the specific risks 
of the assets.

Cash-generating unit (CGU)

Discount interest 
rate %

Dec 31, 2015

Discount interest 
rate %

Dec 31, 2014
Change 2014–2015

CGU1: Icare 7.6 8.7 -1.1

The percentage of increase in the terminal value is assumed at 2%. Annual recoverable cash flows have been assessed with regard to the 
company's strategy and current level of profits for all calculation components over a five-year period and with the same accuracy that has been 
used for drawing up action plans and budgets for units, until the year serving as the basis for the terminal value.

On the basis of the testing performed, there was no reason to lower the goodwill specified in the consolidated balance sheet for the 2015 fi-
nancial period.
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17) Inventories

Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Materials and supplies 977 1,036
Work in progress/advance payments 87 -49
Finished goods 695 269
Total 1,759 1,256

18) Trade and other receivables

Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Sales receivables 2,031 1,760
Other receivables 176 212
Accrued income 352 376
Total 2,559 2,348

The balance sheet values of trade and other receivables constitute the maximum credit risk amounts. No significant credit risk concentrations 
are included in the receivables.

Aging of trade receivables
and items recognized as impairment

Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Impairment
losses Net Dec 31, 2015

Not fallen due 1,552 1,552
Fallen due

Under 30 days 259 259
30–60 days 73 73
61-90 days 175 175
Over 90 days 6 -34 -28

Total 2,065 -34 2,031

Aging of trade receivables
and items recognized as impairment

Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Impairment
losses Net Dec 31, 2014

Not fallen due 1,375 1,375
Fallen due

Under 30 days 260 260
30–60 days 58 58
61-90 days 60 60
Over 90 days 7 7

Total 1,760 0 1,760

19) Cash and cash equivalents

Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Bank accounts and cash in hand 8,319 4,105
Total 8,319 4,105

16) Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Itemization of deferred tax assets, 2015
Jan 1, 2015

TEUR

Recognized in 
the Profit & Loss 

Statement
TEUR

Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Internal inventory margin 188 43 231
Postponed depreciation 17 -11 6
Total 205 32 237

Itemization of deferred tax assets, 2014
Jan 1, 2014

TEUR

Recognized in 
the Profit & Loss 

Statement
TEUR

Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

From tax losses carried forward 420 -420 0
Finance leases -18 18 0
Options 64 -64 0
Cash and cash equivalents 9 -9 0
Internal inventory margin 46 142 188
Postponed depreciation 0 17 17
Total 521 -316 205

Itemization of deferred tax liabilities, 2015
Jan 1, 2015

TEUR

Recognized in 
the Profit & Loss 

Statement
TEUR

Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Capitalization of intangible assets from value allocation 127 -127 0
Measurement of tangible and intangible assets 
at fair value in connection with combinations of business 26 -10 16

Corporate restructuring -135 135 0
Total 18 -2 16

Itemization of deferred tax liabilities, 2014
Jan 1, 2014

TEUR

Recognized 
in the Profit & 

Loss Statement
TEUR

Transferred to 
non-current  

liabilities for sale
TEUR

Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Capitalization of intangible assets from value allocation 130 -3 0 127
Measurement of tangible and intangible assets 
at fair value in connection with combinations of 
business

65 -39 0 26

Impact of change in tax rate -6 6 0 0
Corporate restructuring -26 -41 -68 -135
Total 163 -77 -68 18

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are temporary differences arising mainly from inventory internal margin. 

Dec 31, 2015
221

Dec 31, 2014
187

Deferred tax assets net 221 187
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21) Share-based payments  
 
Option rights of personnel   

Option scheme 2007
The company has a stock option program decided by the Board of 
Directors on November 23, 2007, based on the authorization of the 
Annual General Meeting on April 3, 2007, comprising a maximum of 
3,684,365 option rights. Ten option rights entitle to the subscription of 
one Revenio Group Corporation share. The total maximum of shares 
available for subscription on the basis of outstanding option rights 
was 0.6% of the total number of shares and voting rights at the end 
of the financial period, when the new shares subscribed for using the 
option rights have been registered.

The option rights are divided into three series: A (1,684,365 option 
rights), B (1,000,000 option rights) and C (1,000,000 option rights). 
The subscription period for series A is May 1, 2009 to May 1, 2013 
(expired), that for series B November 1, 2010 to November 1, 2014 
(expired), and that for series C May 1, 2012 to May 1, 2016. The share 
subscription price is the weighted average quotation of the Revenio 
Group Corporation share on November 1–30, 2010, EUR 1.24 (se-
ries C).On the record date of dividend distribution, the subscription 
price is decreased by the amount of dividend decided between the 
end of the determination period and the beginning of the share sub-
scription period.

By way of deviation from the shareholders' preemptive subscrip-
tion right, the option rights are granted to members of the Revenio 
Group’s management and to Revenio's wholly owned subsidiary, 
Done Medical Oy. The shareholders’ preemptive subscription right 
is waived as the option rights are intended to constitute a part of the 
incentive program of Revenio Group Corporation.

At the time of issuance, all of the 2007B and 2007C option rights, as 
well as part of the 2007A option rights, were granted to Done Medical 
Oy. At the end of the financial period on December 31, 2012, the op-
tions granted to personnel were of the series 2007A, 2007B, and 
2007C option rights. The remaining 2007A, 2007B, and 2007C option 
rights held by Done Medical Oy can be granted to personnel in full or 
in part on a later date. Granted option rights are equity instruments.

In case the employment contract of the recipient of an option right 
ends before the share subscription period, the person must, without 
consideration, offer back to the company such option rights for which 

the share subscription period had not yet started on the date of the 
termination of the employment contract. 

Option scheme 2015
Based on the share issue authorization granted by the General 
Meeting of March 19, 2015, Revenio Group Corporation's Board 
of Directors decided, on August 10, 2015, to implement a new op-
tion scheme comprising a maximum of 150,000 option rights. Each 
option right entitles the holder to subscribe to one Revenio Group 
Corporation share.

The option rights are divided into three series: A (50,000 option rights), 
B (50,000 option rights) and C (50,000 option rights). The subscrip-
tion period for series A is May 31, 2017 to May 31, 2019, that for se-
ries B May 31, 2018 to May 31, 2020, and that for series C May 31, 
2019 to May 31, 2021. 

The share subscription price shall be for stock option 2015A the 
trade-weighted average price of Revenio's shares on NASDAQ OMX 
Helsinki Ltd. During September 1 – October 15, 2015 with an addi-
tion of 15 per cent, for stock option 2015B the trade-weighted aver-
age price of Revenio's shares on NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd. During 
September 1 – October 15, 2016 with an addition of 15 per cent and
for stock option 2015C the trade-weighted average price of Revenio's 
shares on NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd. During September 1 – October 
15, 2017 with an addition of 15 per cent.

The subscription price of a share to be subscribed to with option rights 
will be reduced after the period determining the subscription price has 
ended, on the record date of each dividend payment, and by the num-
ber of dividends set before the share subscription.

The stock options shall be issued, in deviation from the sharehold-
ers’ pre-emptive rights, gratuitously to the key personnel of Revenio 
Group and to the subsidiary Done Medical Ltd wholly-owned by 
Revenio Group. The Company has a weighty financial reason for the 
issue of stock options, since the stock options are intended to form 
part of the commitment and incentive program for the Revenio Group 
key personnel.

The Board of Directors shall decide upon the distribution of stock 
options to the key personnel employed by or to be recruited by the 
Revenio Group. The Subsidiary shall be given stock option rights 
to such extent that the stock option rights are not distributed to the 
Group personnel. 

20) Changes in the number of shares and their impact on equity

The following presents the changes in the number of shares and their impact on shareholder equity in the 2014 and 2015 financial periods.

Number of 
shares

Share
equity
TEUR

Share 
premium

fund
TEUR

Reserve for 
invested 

unrestricted 
equity
TEUR

Own 
shares

Total
TEUR

Jan 1 2014 7,850,479 5,315  2,439 4,499 -57 12,196
Share subscription with options Mar 14, 2014 6,040 12 12
Share subscription with options May 30, 2014 26,500 46 46
Own shares held by company May 31, 2014 43 43
Share subscription with options Sep 26, 2014 10,600 19 19
Share subscription with options Nov 14, 2014 38,459 67 67
Direct expenses from share subscriptions -12 -12
Dec 31 2014 7,932,078 5,315 2,439 4,631 -14 12,371

Number of 
shares

Share
equity
TEUR

Share 
premium

fund
TEUR

Reserve for 
invested 

unrestricted 
equity
TEUR

Own 
shares

Total
TEUR

Jan 1 2015 7,932,078 5,315  2,439 4,631 -14 12,371
Share subscription with options Mar 6, 2015 1,000 2 2
Share subscription with options Jun 4, 2015 2,211 3 3
Treasaury shares held by company May 31, 2015 43 43
Share subscription with options Sep 25, 2015 8,522 11 11
Share subscription with options Dec 12, 2015 2,617 3 3
Jan 31 2015 7,946,428 5,315 2,439 4,650 29 12,433

All issued shares have been paid in full. The company's share capital consists of 7,946,428 shares of a single class. At the end of the financial 
period, the company held 554 of its own shares (REG1V). All shares confer an equal right to dividends and the company’s funds.

Description of equity reserves   
   
Share premium reserve
Where shares have been issued or option rights granted under the repealed Finnish Companies Act (734/1978), the monetary considerations 
received from subscriptions are recorded in equity and the share premium reserve according to the terms and conditions of the arrangement 
less transaction costs.

Reserve for invested non-restricted equity
The invested unrestricted equity fund includes other equity investments and the subscription
price of shares to the extent it is not recognized in share capital by an explicit decision.

Fair value reserve
The difference between the fair value and the subscription price of directed share issues used for consideration for acquired operations is 
recognized in the fair value reserve. 

Own shares reserve
The own shares reserve includes the acquisition cost of own shares in possession of the Group. The acquisition cost of repurchased shares is 
presented by decreasing equity. When own shares are canceled, the corresponding amount is transferred to the accumulated profits account.

The Board of Directors proposes to the ordinary Annual General Meeting convening on March 15, 2016 that the parent company’s distribut-
able funds are used as follows:
- Payment of a dividend of EUR 0.70 per share, a total of EUR 5,562,500.00 with the number of shares at the end of the financial period
- Retention of the remainder of distributable funds in equity.
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23) Operating leases

The Group as lessee
Minimum lease payments payable on the basis of other non-cancellable 
leases:

Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Within 1 year 387 517
In more than 1 and no more than 5 years 611 989
In over 5 years 50 0
Total 1,049 1,506

The Group leases most of the production and office premises used by it. The most significant lease liability pertains to the premises in Vantaa 
used by the parent company and the Health Tech segment, for which the remaining liability runs for approximately 4.5 years. Other business 
premise leases run indefinitely with 3- or 6-month notice periods.

22) Financial liabilities

Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Long-term financial liabilities measured at amortized costs
Loans from financial institutions 176 574
Capital loans 264 199
Loans from non-controlling interests 304 0
Total 744 773

Short-term financial liabilities measured at amortized costs
Repayments of long-term loans from financial institutions 398 608
Loans from joint ventures 36 0
Finance lease liabilities 0 24
Total 433 632

The fair values of liabilities are presented in Note 26.
The Group’s loans from financial institutions have fixed and floating interest rates. The average interest rate is 1.01% (2014: 1.23%). All of the 
Group’s current and non-current finance liabilities are in the euro denomination. The loans will mature by 2019.
Some of the loans from financial institutions include collateral, for which mortgage of company assets is used.
The amounts of the Group’s floating-interest liabilities and their contractual repricing periods are: 

2015
TEUR

2014
TEUR

Up to 6 months 250 750
Total 250 750

Maturing periods of finance lease liabilities:
Dec 31, 2015

TEUR
Dec 31, 2014

TEUR
Finance lease liabilities – minimum rent totals
Within 1 year 0 25
Total 0 25

Finance lease liabilities - present value of minimum rent
Within 1 year 0 24
Total 0 24

Financing expenses accumulating in the future 0 1
Total amount of finance lease liabilities 0 24

Changes in options 2015 2007C
Outstanding options at beginning of financial period 0 473,300
New options granted during financial period 150,000 0
Options returned to the company 0 0
Reallocated options 0 0
Used options 0 143,500
Expired options 0 0
Outstanding options at end of financial period 150,000 329,800
Exercisable options at end of financial period 150,000 329,800

Definition of fair value 
The Group uses the Black-Scholes model for determining the fair value of options. The expected volatility is determined on the basis of actual 
historical share price development, taking into account the remaining validity periods of the options. The fair value of the shares is based on 
actual quotations. 

Assumptions used for fair value determination, financial periods 2012–2014: 2007C, granted on  
Apr 26, 2012

Expected volatility 52
Average time to maturity, years 3.0
Risk-free interest 3.0
Personnel retention, % 100
Fair value of option on grant date, EUR 0.143

No expenses were recognized from option programs 2007B and 2007C during the financial period or the 
comparison period. 

As part of the conditions of his employment contract, Mr. Olli-Pekka Salovaara, President and CEO of the Revenio Group Corporation, or a 
company where he holds a controlling interest, is entitled to demand a directed share issue to themselves at any time during the employment 
contract. The share price will be the average price on the last 30 trading days, and the maximum amount of the issue EUR 1.0 million. The 
share issue will be directed to the President and CEO by authority of the Board of Directors, or, in the event of no such authorization being in ef-
fect, a general meeting of shareholders shall be convened to grant the authorization and/or decide upon the said share issue. The options have 
been recognized as expenses at the time of granting in the financial period 2007, to a total of EUR 55,000.
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Other long-term benefits consist of the 2013–2015 long-term incen-
tive program for the members of the 2013 corporate Management 
Team. Payments based on the incentive program will be effected 
no earlier than in 2016. Expenses arising from short-term incentive 

programs are recognized as provisions in the financial statements of 
the year of their determination and presented under Related party 
transactions in the financial period during which the Board of Directors 
decides on their payment.

Salaries and remunerations of the members of the Board 
of Directors and the President and CEO:

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Olli-Pekka Salovaara, President & CEO: 296 321
Pekka Tammela, Chairman of the Board 36 36
Rolf Fryckman, member of the Board 18 18
Ari Kohonen, member of the Board 18 18
Pekka Rönkä, member of the Board 18 13.5
Kyösti Kakkonen, member of the Board 18 13.5
Total 404 420

The President and CEO's period of notice for which he is entitled to a salary is 18 months if notice is given by the company and 6 months if giv-
en by the CEO. The CEO’s retirement age is defined by law. During the financial period, no credit loss provisions or expenses have been recog-
nized for lost or uncertain related party transactions. 

Members of the Management Team deemed to be related parties and the managing directors of subsidiaries 
possessed the following option rights at the end of the financial period:

Option right Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014
2007B 0 2
2007C 0 85,000
2015 41,000 0
Total 41,000 85,002

27) Commitments 

Mortgages Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Mortgages given
Loans from financing institutions with mortgages as collateral 250 750
Mortgages given for bank loan collateral 2,000 1,500
Bank guarantees with mortgages as collateral 0 1,272
Mortgages given for bank guarantees 2,743 1,370
Mortgages given, total 4,743 2,870

Collateral Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Pledges
Pledged cash and cash equivalents as collateral for own lease liabili-
ties, goods credits and project work 0 77

Pledges total 0 77

Guarantees 
Absolute guarantees for subsidiary 0 1,309
Bank guarantees on behalf of third party 95 0
Guarantees total 95 1,386

Related party transactions: Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Employment benefits for management
The board and the management team are included in the management
Salaries and other short-term employment benefits 752 721
Other long-term benefits 51 125
Pension 125 152
Total 928 998

28) Related party transactions

The Group's related parties consist of the parent company, the subsidiaries and associated companies, the President and CEO, and the mem-
bers of the Board of Directors and the Management Team.

Parent and subsidiary relationships of the Group: Domicile Ownership
Parent company Revenio Group Corporation Vantaa
Done Medical Oy Seinäjoki 100,0%
Kauhajoen Sisälogistiikka Oy Helsinki 100,0%
Icare Finland Oy Helsinki 100,0%
Revenio Research Oy Vantaa 100,0%
Oscare Medical Oy Helsinki 53,0%
Icare Inc. Missouri 100,0%

All Group companies are consolidated in the parent company’s consolidated financial statements. Kauhajoen Sisälogistiikka Oy is classified as 
operation to be discontinued.

24) Trade payables and other current liabilities

Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Trade payables 675 784
Other liabilities 199 125
Accrued expenses and deferred income 1,588 946
Total 2,462 1,856

Material items included in accrued liabilities and deferred 
income
Accrued personnel expenses 1,214 690
Other accruals and deferred income 374 256
Total 1,588 946

25) Adjustments to cash flows from operating activities

Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

Non-cash operations:
Depreciation, amortization and impairment 542 526
Total 542 526

26) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Non-current financial assets Dec 31, 2015
Book value Fair value Dec 31, 2014

Book value Fair value

Loans from finance institutions 176 176 574 574
Capital loans 304 304 199 199
Total 480 480 773 773

The fair values of current liabilities are equal to their book values, since the effect of discounting is not significant. Nearly all of the Group's 
non-current liabilities have floating interest rates, and their book values do not differ materially from their fair values on the closing date, as the 
company's credit premium has not changed in a material degree since the loans were taken out.

At the time of granting, the options listed above were held by the sub-
sidiary Done Medical Oy, to which they had been granted in 2007. No 
option rights have been granted to members of the Board of Directors. 
Ten option rights entitle the holder to subscribe for one Revenio Group 
Corporation share at the price defined by the option program, which is 
the weighted average price of the Revenio Group Corporation share for 
the last 30 trading days prior to the time of granting on NASDAQ OMX 
Helsinki Stock Exchange. The main principles of the option program’s 
conditions are detailed above in Note 21 Share-based payments.

The stock options shall be issued, in deviation from the shareholders’ 
pre-emptive rights gratuitously to the key personnel of Revenio Group 
and to the subsidiary Done Medical Ltd wholly-owned by Revenio 
Group. The Company has a weighty financial reason for the issue of 
stock options, since the stock options are intended to form part of the 
commitment and incentive program for the Revenio Group key person-
nel. One option right entitles their holder to subscribe for one share.
The option scheme's terms and conditions are presented in Note 21.

Consulting fees paid to Board's related party

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015
TEUR

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
TEUR

57 0
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Parent company profit & loss statement (FAS)

Appendix
Jan 1–Dec 31, 

2015
EUR

Jan 1–Dec 31, 
2014
EUR

Net sales 1 431,920.00 295,195.07
 
Other operating income 2 12,200.00 8,276.30

  
Employee benefit expenses
Salaries and fees 3 -838,912.84 -854,015.98
Indirect personnel costs
Pension costs -185,503.33 -197,269.63
Other indirect personnel costs -36,319.67 -4,991.69
Personnel expenses total -1,060,735.84 -1,056,277.30

Depreciation, amortization and impairment

Depreciation and amortization total -17,067.24 -19,622.15

Other operating expenses 4 -952,752.69 -746,943.11

Net profit/loss -1,586,435.77 -1,519,371.19

Financial income and expenses 5
Income from shares in Group companies 0.00 1,410,149.98
Other financial income and interest receivable 343,452.89 64,134.34
Impairment of share in Group companies 0.00 -3,122,076.24
Interest and other financial expenses -176,705.03 -22,550.75
Financial income and expenses total -166,747.86 -1,670,342.67

Profit/loss before extraordinary items -1,419,687.91 -3,189,713.86

Extraordinary income and expenses 6
Extraordinary income 9,509,473.53 7,439,441.34
Extraordinary expenses -1,076,967.23 -2,352,874.27
Extraordinary income and expenses total 8,432,506.30 5,086,567.07

Profit/loss before appropriations
and taxes 7,012,818.39 1,896,853.21

Income taxes for the financial period 7 -1,253,073.85 -849,431.51

Net profit/loss 5,759,744.54 1,047,421.70

30) Shares and shareholders and information on shareholders
Information on the shares and shareholders of the parent company is presented in the notes to the financial statements of the parent company.

31) Events after the financial period
There are no significant events after the financial period in view of the 2015 financial statements drawn up in accordance with the IFRS Standards. 

29) Key figures from the last five financial periods

Jan–Dec, 2015
12 months

IFRS

Jan–Dec, 2014
12 months

IFRS

Jan–Dec, 2013
12 months

IFRS

Jan–Dec, 2012
12 months

IFRS

Jan–Dec, 2011
12 months

IFRS
Net sales, TEUR 20,250 16,031 13,508 21,563 21,449
Operating profit, TEUR 5,760 4,413 4,273 4,255 3,340
Operating profit, % 28.4 27.5 31.6 19.7 15.6
Profit before taxes, TEUR 5,903 4,658 4,191 4,683 3,013
Profit before taxes, % 29.2 29.1 31.0 21.7 14.0
Net profit for financial period, TEUR 6,497 -694 4,338 -287 3,911
Net profit, % 32.1 -4.3 32.1 -1.3 18.2
Gross capital 
expenditure, TEUR 2,273 1,150 913 287 707

Gross capital expenditure, % of net sales 11.2 7.2 6.8 1.3 3.3
R&D expenses, TEUR 882 1,020 846 350 360
R&D expenses, % 4.4 6.4 6.3 1.6 1.7
Return on equity, % 48.0 -5.1 25.7 -1.8 14.1
Return on investment, % 55.0 1.1 29.7 0.4 20.2
Equity ratio, % 81.6 62.4 66.1 62.2 66.6
Net gearing, % -48.3 -22.4 -16.8 -12.2 -17.3
Gearing 6.1 11.6 17.7 21.6 9.9
Average number of personnel 37 74 209 198 201

Key indicators per share
Jan–Dec, 2015

12 months
IFRS

Jan–Dec, 2014
12 months

IFRS

Jan–Dec, 2013
12 months

IFRS

Jan–Dec, 2012
12 months

IFRS

Jan–Dec, 2011
12 months

IFRS
Earnings per share, continuing 
operations, EUR 0.61 0.47 0.38 0.50 0.03

Earnings per share, discontinued 
operations, EUR 0.24 -0.56 0.18 -0.54 0.02

Equity attributable to equity owners of 
the parent per share, EUR 1.96 1.52 1.91 1.91 2.14

Dividend per share, EUR 0.70 0.45 0.30 0.20 0.20
Dividend payout ratio, % 82.1 * 54.3 * 392.2
Effective dividend yield, % 2.4 3.1 2.4 5.0 4.2
P/E ratio, continuing operations 46.7 30.7 22.4 8.0 171.4
Diluted number of shares, 
at end of period 7,946,428 7,932,078 7,850,479 7,692,973 7,688,973

Diluted number of shares, average during 
period (acquired own shares excluded) 7,936,670 7,876,183 7,845,121 7,683,379 7,686,233

Share price, year low, EUR 14.33 11,32 4.00 3.30 3.00
Share price, year high, EUR 34.90 17,20 14.30 5.00 6.20
Share price, average, EUR 22.06 14,38 8.34 4.20 4.40
Share price at end of period, EUR 28.61 14,55 12.38 4.00 4.80
Market capitalization at end of period, 
MEUR 227.3 115,4 97.2 30.8 36.9

Turnover, number of shares 2,822,593 2,669,163 2,964,541 3,268,179 3,936,797
Turnover, % 35.5 33.7 37.8 42.5 51.2

The earnings per share indicators have been calculated using the average diluted numbers of shares during the financial periods, and the 
equity per share indicators using the diluted numbers of shares at the ends of financial periods, taking account of the effect of the reverse 
share split implemented on March 27, 2013. The dividend per share of EUR 0.70 in 2015 represents the proposal made by the Board of 
Directors to the Annual General Meeting of March 15, 2016

Parent company profit & loss statement (FAS)Notes to the consolidated financial statements Dec 31, 2015



73 74

Parent company cash flow statement (FAS)

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015
EUR

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
EUR

Cash flow from operations
Profit before extraordinary items -1,419,687.91 -3,189,713.86
Planned depreciation 17,067.24 19,622.15
Unrealized exchange rate income and losses -15,854,03 -28,182.63
Financial income and expenses -150,893.83 288,375.32
Change in non-interest-bearing current receivables -44,458.61 -25,442.84
Change in non-interest-bearing current liabilities 3,387,310.05 -175,613.33
Interest and payments paid from operations -176,705.03 -22,914.05
Interest and payments received from operations 327,598.86 35,951.71
Direct taxes paid -1,011,018.80 -869,641.35
Cash flow from operations 913,357.94 -3,967,558.88

Cash flow from investment activities
Investment in tangible and intangible assets -36,241.70 -11,398.25
Receivables from long-term receivables 97,609.00 0.00
Loans granted 0.00 -973,315.72
Other investment 0.00 -2,500.00
Capital gains from other investments 3,112,775.74 922,678.73
Cash flow from investment activities 3,174,143.04 -64,535.24

Cash flow from financing activities
Share capital increase through issue of new shares 27,634.00 131,774.75
Repayments of long-term borrowings -500,000.00 -500,000.00
Dividends paid and other distribution of profits -3,568,929.65 -2,355,348.3
Group contributions received and paid 3,971,036.60 6,537,787.79
Cash flow from financing activities -70,259.05 3,814,214.24

Change in cash and cash equivalents 4,017,241.93 -217,879.88

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 3,309,251.57 3,527,131.45
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 7,326,493.50 3,309,251.57
Change in cash and cash equivalents 4,017,241.93 -217,879.88

Parent company balance sheet (FAS)

Assets Appendix Dec 31, 2015
EUR

Dec 31, 2014
EUR

Non-current assets 8

Intangible assets
Other non-current expenses 1,041.31 4,152.54
Advance payments and construction in progress 27,983.80 0.00
Intangible assets total 29,025.11 4,152.54

Tangible assets
Machinery and equipment 17,260.25 22,958.36

Investments 9
Holdings in Group companies 6,851,528.74 9,135,177.73
Holdings total 6,851,528.74 9,135,177.73

Non-current assets total 6,897,814.10 9,162,288.63

Current assets

Non-current receivables
Receivables from Group companies 10 4,622,999.00 3,992,168.00
Non-current receivables, total 4,622,999.00 3,992,168.00

Short-term receivables
Sales receivables 0.00 783.93
Receivables from Group companies 10 10,678,470.55 7,321,106.08
Other receivables 71,911.00 71,911.00
Accrued income 11 165,791.00 189,586.54
Short-term receivables total 10,916,172.83 7,583,387.55

Bank and cash 7,326,493.50 3,309,251.57

Inventories and short-term assets total 22,865.665.33 14,884,807.12

Total assets 29,763,479.43 24,047,095.75

Shareholder equity and liabilities Appendix EUR EUR
Shareholder equity 12
Share capital 5,314,918.72 5,314,918.72
Share issue 9,300.00 0.00
Share premium reserve 2,439,301.82 2,439,301.82
Reserve for invested non-restricted equity 4,649,524.08 4,631,190.08
Retained earnings 795,915.77 3,274,223.72
Profit for the period 5,759,744.54 1,047,421.70

Shareholders’ equity total 18,968,704.93 16,707,056.04

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Loans from financial institutions 13 0.00 250,000.00
Accrued expenses and deferred income 0,00 125,000.00
Non-current liabilities, total 0,00 375,000.00

Current liabilities
Loans from financial institutions 13 250,000.00 500,000.00
Trade payables 251,417.46 239,625.62
Liabilities to Group companies 14 9,537,195.12 6,029,305.72
Other liabilities 6,461.46 10,799.37
Accrued expenses and deferred income 15 749,700.43 185,309.00
Current liabilities total 10,794,774.50 6,965,039.71

Borrowed capital total 10,794,774.50 7,340,039.71

Liabilities total 29,763,479.43 24,047,095.75

Parent company cash flow statement (FAS)Parent company balance sheet (FAS)
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Notes to the profit & loss statement
1) Distribution of net sales 

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015
EUR

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
EUR

Administrative services to subsidiaries 431,920.00 295,195.07
Net sales total 431,920.00 295,195.07

2) Other operating income
Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015

EUR
Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014

EUR
Administrative services to others 12,200.00 8,276.30
Other operating income total 12,200.00 8,276.30

3) Salaries and remunerations
Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015

EUR
Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014

EUR
President & CEO -192,892.24 -320,507.32
Board Members -108,000.00 -99,600.00
Other salaries and remunerations -373,142.35 -507,356.49
Total -674,034.59 -927,463.81
Accrued salaries and remunerations total -838,912.84 -854,015.98

Average number of personnel during period Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015 Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
Management 2 3
Others 3 4
Total 5 7

4) Other operating expenses
Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015

EUR
Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014

EUR
Rent of business premises 63,010.55 -63,532.79
Vehicle and travel expenses -164,748.94 -91,525.71
Machinery and equipment expenses -68,195.38 -66,508.40
Marketing and entertainment -41,851.08 -40,129.47
Expert services purchased -247,839.78 -190,949.34
Administrative expenses -171,914.82 -175,497.81
Other operating expenses -195,192.14 -118,799.59
Total -952,752.69 -746,943.11

Auditor’s fees
Auditor’s fees 36,000.00 36,000.00
Certificates and statements 200.00 0.00
Other fees 3,757.50 5,000.00
Total 39,957.50 41,000.00

5) Financing income and expenses
Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015

EUR
Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014

EUR
Dividend income from Group companies 0.00 1,410,149.98
Impairment of investment in non-current assets 0.00 -3,122,076.24
Exchange rate gains 151,966.45 28,182.63
Interest income from others 10,327.10 3,675.05
Interest income from Group companies 15,723.54 32,276.66
Interest payable to others -4,725.46 -15,943.28
Other financing expenses to others -6,543.77 -6,607.47
Total 166,747.86 -1,670,342.67

6) Extraordinary income and expenses
Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015

EUR
Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014

EUR
Extraordinary income
Group contributions received 7,987,698.76 6,473,005.90
Group contributions paid -311,712.12 -2,352,874.27
Profit from disposal of property, plant and equipment, investments 1,521,774.77 966,435.44
Loss from disposal of property, plant and equipment, investments -765,255.11 0.00
Total 8,432,506.30 5,086,567.07

7) Income taxes
Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015

EUR
Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014

EUR
Income tax for extraordinary items -1,535,197.33 -824,026.33
Income tax for actual operations 282,123.48 298,575.49
Income tax for previous fiscal years 0.00 -316,980.67
Total -1,253,073.85 -849,431.51

Notes to balance sheet assets

8) Changes in property, plant and equipment acquisition costs and other non-current expenses by 
balance sheet item

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015
EUR

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
EUR

Intangible assets
Other non-current expenses
Acquisition cost Jan 1 43,989.54 43,989.54
Acquisition cost Dec 31 43,989.54 43,989.54
Accumulated depreciation Jan 1 -39,837.00 -27,867.63
Depreciation during the year -3,111.23 -11,969.37
Accumulated depreciation Dec 31 -42,948.23 -39,837.00
Book value Dec 31 1,041.31 4,152.54
Book value Jan 1 4,152.54 16,121.91

Advance payments and construction in progress
Acquisition cost Jan 1 0.00 0.00
Increase during the period 27,983.80 0.00
Acquisition cost Dec 31 27,983.80 0.00
Book value Dec 31 27,983.80 0.00
Book value Jan 1 0,00 0.00

Tangible assets
Machinery and equipment
Acquisition cost Jan 1 40,830.21 31,638.07
Increase during the period 8,257.90 10,386.26
Decreases during period 0.00 -1,194.12
Acquisition cost Dec 31 49,088.11 40,830.21
Accumulated depreciation Jan 1 -17,871.85 -10,219.07
Depreciation during the year -13,956.01 -7,652.78
Accumulated depreciation Dec 31 -31,827.86 -17,871.85
Book value Dec 31 17,260.25 22,958.36
Book value Jan 1 22,958.36 21,419.00

Holdings in Group companies
Acquisition cost Jan 1 9,135,177.73 12,588,318.53
Increase during the period 0.00 2,500.00
Decreases during period -2,283,648.99 -333,564.56
Impairment during period 0.00 -3,122,076.24
Acquisition cost Dec 31 6,851,528.74 9,135,177.73
Book value Dec 31 6,851,528.74 9,135,177.73

Notes to the parent company’s financial statements Dec 31, 2015Notes to the parent company’s financial statements Dec 31, 2015

Notes to parent company financial statements Dec 31, 2015    
Accounting principles for the parent company financial statements
  
Basis of preparation
The financial statements of the parent company Revenio Group Corporation have been prepared in accordance with  
the Finnish Accounting Act, Limited Liability Companies Act and the Finnish Accounting Standards (FAS).

Asset valuation 

Valuation of fixed assets
The companies fixed assets have been valuet at the aquisition value from which the depreciations have been deducted.  
The depreciation method has been selected based on historical analysis. 
The difference between aquisition valua and resiual value have been posted as depreciation.
Estimated useful lives for various assets are:
Intangible Assets  3 years  straight-line depreciation  
Other long term expenses  3 years straight-line depreciation  
Machinery and equipment  3 years straight-line depreciation  

Subsidiaries
Direct expenses from the acquisition of subsidiary companies are recognized in the acquisition cost of subsidiary company holdings.

Pension arrangements
Personnel’s pension security is handled by external pension insurance companies. Pension costs are recorded as expenses  
in the year in which they are incurred.

Lease agreements
Rent for assets acquired through lease agreements is recognized as expense in the Profit & Loss Statement over the lease period.
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13) Interest-bearing debt
Dec 31, 2015

EUR
Dec 31, 2014

EUR
Bank loan 250,000.00 750,000.00
Total 250,000.00 750,000.00

14) Intra-group liabilities
Dec 31, 2015

EUR
Dec 31, 2014

EUR
Current intra-group liabilities
Intra-group bank account 3,605,357.29 553,042.99
Other liabilities 5,931,837.83 5,476,262.73
Total 9,537,195.12 6,029,305.72

15) Principal items of accrued liabilities and deferred income
Dec 31, 2015

EUR
Dec 31, 2014

EUR
Personnel expences 471,616.19 181,022.66
Income taxes 221,845.21 0.00
Other accruals and deferred income 56,239.03 4,286.34
Total 749,700.43 185 309,00

9) Holdings in other Group companies Dec 31, 2015

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014
Group companies Domicile Ownership share Ownership share
Done Medical Oy Seinäjoki 100% 100%
Kauhajoen Sisälogistiikka Oy Helsinki 100% 100%
Done Software Solutions Oy Seinäjoki 0% 100%
Icare Finland Oy Helsinki 100% 100%
Boomeranger Boats Oy Loviisa 0% 100%
Oscare Medical Oy Helsinki 53% 53%
Revenio Research Oy Helsinki 100% 100%

10) Current receivables from Group companies

Dec 31, 2015
EUR

Dec 31, 2014
EUR

Long-term receivables
Capital loan receivables 4,293,831.00 3,663,000.00 
Loans receivable 329,168.00 329,168.00
Total 4,622,999.00 3,992,168.00

Short-term receivables
Sales receivables 156,122.20 102,703.43
Loans receivable 10,506,624.81 7,218,402.65
Other receivables 15,723.54 0.00
Total 10,678,470.55 7,321,106.08

Receivables from Group companies, total 15,301,469.55 11,313,274.08

11) Prepaid expenses and accrued income

Dec 31, 2015
EUR

Dec 31, 2014
EUR

Personnel expences 42,751.94 38,166.45
Prepaid expenses 122,569,16 130,844.58
Income taxes 0.00 20,209.84
Total 165,321.10 189,220.87

Notes to balance sheet liabilities
12) Changes in equity

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2015
EUR

Jan 1–Dec 31, 2014
EUR

Share capital
Share capital Jan 1 5,314,918.72 5,314,918.72
Share capital Dec 31 5,314,918.72 5,314,918.72

Share issue
Share issue Jan 1 0,00 0,00
Unregistered option payments 9,300.00 0,00
Share issue Jan 31 9,300.00 0,00

Share premium reserve
Share premium reserve Jan 1 2,439,301.82 2,439,301.82
Share premium reserve Dec 31 2,439,301.82 2,439,301.82

Reserve for invested non-restricted equity
Reserve for invested non-restricted equity Jan 1 4,631,190.08 4,499,415.33
Share subscriptions with stock options 18,334.00 131,774.75
Reserve for invested non-restricted equity Dec 31 4,649,524.08 4,631,190.08

Profit/loss from previous financial periods
Profit/loss from previous financial periods Jan 1 4,335,573.15 7,195,005.69
Dividends -3,568,929,65 -3,906,854.24
Profit/loss from previous financial periods Dec 31 766,643.50 3,288,151.45

Amount paid for own shares in possession of the company
Own shares in possession of the company Jan 1 -13,927.73 -57,127.73
Shares transferred as fees to members of the Board 43,200.00 43,200.00
Own shares in possession of the company Dec 31 29,272.27 -13,927.73

Profit/Loss for the period
Profit/loss for the period Dec 31 5,759,744.54 1,047,421.70

Equity total Dec 31 18,959,404.93 16,707,056.04

Distributable funds
Reserve for invested non-restricted equity 4,649,524.08 4,631,190.08
Profit from previous financial periods less treasury shares held by the company 795,915.77 3,274,223.72
Profit for the period 5,759,744.54 1,047,421.70
Distributable funds Dec 31 11,205,184.39 8,952,835.50

The share capital of Revenio Group Corporation on December 31, 2015 was EUR 5,314,918.72, and the number of shares 7,946,428.
There is one class of shares. All shares confer an equal right to dividends and the company’s funds. On the closing date, the company held 
554 of its own shares (REG1V).

Notes to the parent company’s financial statements Dec 31, 2015Notes to the parent company’s financial statements Dec 31, 2015
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Option rights of personnel  
  
Option scheme 2007 
On the basis of the share issue authorizations approved by the Annual 
General Meeting of April 3, 2007, the Board of Revenio Group Corporation 
decided, on November 23, 2007, on a new corporate option scheme com-
prising a maximum of 3,684,365 option rights. Ten (10) option rights entitle 
to the subscription of one Revenio Group Corporation share. The total max-
imum of shares available for subscription on the basis of outstanding option 
rights was 0.6% of the total number of shares and voting rights at the end 
of the financial period, when the new shares subscribed for using the option 
rights have been registered.

The option rights are divided into three series: A (1,684,365 option rights), B 
(1,000,000 option rights) and C (1,000,000 option rights). 
The subscription period for series A is May 1, 2009 to May 1, 2013 (expired), 
that for series B November 1, 2010 to November 1, 2014 (expired), and that 
for series C May 1, 2012 to May 1, 2016. The share subscription price is 
the weighted average quotation of the Revenio Group Corporation share on 
November 1–30, 2010, EUR 1.24 (series C).

By way of deviation from the shareholders' preemptive subscription right, the 
option rights are granted to members of the Revenio Group’s management 
and to Revenio's wholly owned subsidiary, Done Medical Oy. The sharehold-
ers’ preemptive subscription right is waived as the option rights are intended 
to constitute a part of the incentive program of Revenio Group Corporation.

At the time of issuance, all of the 2007B and 2007C option rights, as well as 
part of the 2007A option rights, were granted to Done Medical Oy. 

 
Option scheme 2015 
Based on the share issue authorization granted by the General Meeting of 
March 19, 2015, Revenio Group Corporation's Board of Directors decid-
ed, on August 10, 2015, to implement a new option scheme comprising a 

maximum of 150,000 option rights. Each option right entitles the holder to 
subscribe to one Revenio Group Corporation share.

The option rights are divided into three series: A (50,000 option rights), B 
(1,50,000 option rights) and C (50,000 option rights). The subscription pe-
riod for series A is May 31, 2017 to May 31, 2019, that for series B May 31, 
2018 to May 31, 2020, and that for series C May 31, 2019 to May 31, 2021. 

The share subscription price shall be for stock option 2015A the trade-weight-
ed average price of Revenio Group Corporation's shares on NASDAQ 
OMX Helsinki Ltd. During September 1–October 15, 2015 with an addition 
of 15 per cent, for stock option 2015B the trade-weighted average price 
of Revenio Group Corporation's shares on NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd. 
During September 1–October 15, 2016 with an addition of 15 per cent and 
for stock option 2015C the trade-weighted average price of Revenio Group 
Corporation's shares on NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd. During September 1–
October 15, 2017 with an addition of 15 per cent.

The subscription price of a share to be subscribed to with option rights will 
be reduced after the period determining the subscription price has ended, on 
the record date of each dividend payment, and by the number of dividends 
set before the share subscription.

The stock options shall be issued, in deviation from the shareholders’ 
pre-emptive rights, gratuitously to the key personnel of Revenio Group 
Corporation and to the subsidiary Done Medical Ltd wholly-owned by 
Revenio Group Corporation. The Company has a weighty financial rea-
son for the issue of stock options, since the stock options are intended to 
form part of the commitment and incentive program for the Revenio Group 
Corporation key personnel.

The Board of Directors shall decide upon the distribution of stock options 
to the key personnel employed by or to be recruited by the Revenio Group 
Corporation. The Subsidiary shall be given stock option rights to such ex-
tent that the stock option rights are not distributed to the Group personnel. 

17) Other notes
        Stock option rights granted to personnel and management

The number of shares and stock option rights held by the members of the Board of 
Directors, the President and CEO, and entities in their control on December 31, 2015

% No.
Shares 15.5% 1,228,945
Option rights 4.0% 7,500

At the end of the financial period on December 31, 2015, the valid and unused share issue authorization for the Board of Directors, as 
decided by the ordinary Annual General Meeting of March 19, 2015, covered 793,207 shares, including special rights to shares as stipulated 
in section 10, paragraph 1 of the Finnish Limited Liability Companies Act, and the authorization to repurchase the company’s own shares 
covered 793,207 shares. As of December 31, 2015, the company held 554 of its own shares (REG1V). The authorization to issue shares and 
repurchase its own shares is valid until April 30, 2016.

Major shareholders Dec 31, 2015
No. of shares Percentage of shares and 

percentage of voting rights
1 Joensuun Kauppa ja Kone Oy 591,509 7.4%
2 Merivirta Jyri 500,000 6.3%
3 Gerako Oy 340,000 4.3%
4 Investment Fund Evli Suomi Pienyhtiöt 323,681 4.1%
5 Etera Mutual Pension Insurance Company 265,000 3.3%
6 Alpisalo Mia Elisa 184,561 2.4%
7 Investment Fund Danske Invest Suomen Pienyhtiöt 170,000 2.1%
8 Eyemaker's Finland Oy 155,000 2.0%
9 Investment Fund Evli Suomi Select 128,900 1.6%
10 Salovaara Olli-Pekka 104,207 1.3%
Others 5,183,570 65.2%
Total 7,946,428 100.00%

Shareholders by sector Dec 31, 2015
No. of 

shareholders
Percentage of 
shareholders No. of shares

Percentage of shares 
and percentage of 

voting rights
Companies 272 4.2% 1,623,411 20.4%
Households 6,164 94.7% 4,475,482 56.3%
Financial and insurance institutions 17 0.3% 798,093 10.0%
Foreign entities and nominee-registered 10 0.6% 708,143 8.9%
Non-profit entities 13 0.2% 76,299 1.0%
Public entities 1 0.0% 265,000 3.3%
Total 6,507 100.00% 7,946,428 100.00%

Shareholders by share ownership Dec 31, 2015

Shares, qty No. of 
shareholders

Percentage of 
shareholders No. of shares

Percentage of shares
and percentage of 

voting rights
1–1000 5,755 88.4% 1,221,728 15.4%
1001–5000 600 9.2% 1,259,946 15.9%
5001–10000 70 1.1% 507,597 6.4%
10001–50000 63 1.0% 1,151,326 14.5%
50001– 19 0.3% 380,5831 47.9%
Total 6,507 100.0% 7,946,428 100.0%

16) Notes to collateral and commitments 
Company collaterals amount to 2,000,000 eur.

Collateral Dec 31, 2015
EUR

Dec 31, 2014
EUR

Mortgages given
Bank loan guarantees for subsidiaries 0.00 1,271,860.44
Bank loan guarantees for others 94,501.02 0,00
Total 94,501.02 1,271,860.44

Commitments and other liabilities Dec 31, 2015
EUR

Dec 31, 2014
EUR

Mortages
Loans from financing institutions with mortgages as collateral 250 750
Mortgages given for bank loan collateral 2 500 1 500
Lease commitments
Lease commitments maturing next year 3,987.84 12,204.76
Lease commitments maturing later than next year 14.284.80 24,950.08
Total 18,272.64 37,154.84

Lease agreements run for 2–5 years and do not include special notice or purchase option clauses.

Rent liabilities Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014
Rent liability for business premises maturing next year 308,783.66 303,079.92
Rent liability for business premises maturing later than next year 437,443.52 746,227.18
Total 746,227.18 1,049,307.10

Notes to the parent company’s financial statements dec 31, 2015Notes to the parent company’s financial statements Dec 31, 2015
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Signatures to the financial statements  
and review of operations   
 
Vantaa, Tuesday, February 23, 2016    
 
Board of Directors and President & CEO of  
Revenio Group Corporation    
 
Pekka Tammela Rolf Fryckman Ari Kohonen
Board Chairman Board member Board member
     
Kyösti Kakkonen Pekka Rönkä Olli-Pekka Salovaara
Board member Board member President & CEO

Auditor’s note

We have issued an audit report today based on the audit  
we have performed.

Helsinki, Tuesday, February 22, 2016

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy
Firm of Authorized Public Accountants 

Samuli Perälä
Authorised Public Accountant

Information concerning bookkeeping data 
  
Accounting ledgers utilized format 

Journal and general ledger CD-ROM
Accounts payable and accounts receivable CD-ROM
Bound balance sheet book Printed on paper 
    
Voucher types   
 
Type Legend Archiving method                          
10 Handelsbanken Electronic       
11 Nordea Electronic       
12 Danske Bank Electronic       
30 Accounting for accruals Electronic       
40 Purchase invoice Electronic       
50 Purchase payment Electronic       
60 Sales invoice Electronic       
70 Sales payment Electronic       
80 Pay slips Electronic       
99 Memo vouchers Electronic       
AT Composed by the system Electronic       
T Automatic accounting entries Electronic        

Storage of accounting materials   
Accounting materials are stored at the headquarters of  
Revenio Group Corporation in Vantaa in original electronic  
and written form at the address Äyritie 22, 01510 VANTAA

Auditor’s Report 

To the Annual General Meeting of Revenio Group Corporation 
We have audited the accounting records, the financial statements, 
the report of the Board of Directors and the administration of Revenio 
Group Corporation for the financial period January 1–December 31, 
2015. The financial statements comprise the consolidated balance 
sheet, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes 
in equity and statement of cash flows, and notes to the consolidat-
ed financial statements, as well as the parent company’s balance 
sheet, income statement, cash flow statement and notes to the fi-
nancial statements.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors and the President & 
CEO 
The Board of Directors and the President & CEO are responsible 
for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, as well as for the preparation 
of financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with the laws and regulations 
governing the preparation of the financial statements and the report 
of the Board of Directors in Finland. The Board of Directors is respon-
sible for the appropriate arrangement of the control of the company’s 
accounts and finances, and the President & CEO shall see to it that 
the accounts of the company are in compliance with the law and that 
its financial affairs have been arranged in a reliable manner. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial state-
ments, the consolidated financial statements and the report of the 
Board of Directors based on our audit. The Auditing Act requires that 
we comply with the requirements of professional ethics. We conduct-
ed our audit in accordance with good auditing practice in Finland. 
Good auditing practice requires that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments and the report of the Board of Directors are free from material 
misstatement, and whether the members of the Board of Directors of 
the parent company and the President & CEO are guilty of an act or 
negligence which may result in liability in damages towards the com-
pany or whether they have violated the Limited Liability Companies 
Act or the articles of association of the company. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and 
the report of the Board of Directors. The procedures selected de-
pend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control rele-
vant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements and report of 
the Board of Directors that give a true and fair view in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the ap-
propriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements and the report of 
the Board of Directors. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion on the consolidated financial statements
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the financial position, financial performance, and 
cash flows of the group in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU. 

Opinion on the company’s financial statements and the report 
of the Board of Directors 
In our opinion, the financial statements and the report of the Board 
of Directors give a true and fair view of both the consolidated and 
the parent company’s financial performance and financial position in 
accordance with the laws and regulations governing the preparation 
of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors 
in Finland. The information in the report of the Board of Directors is 
consistent with the information in the financial statements. 

Helsinki, February 23, 2016

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy 
Authorized Public Accountants 

Samuli Perälä
Authorized Public Accountant

Signatures to the financial statements and review of operationsSignatures to the financial statements and review of operations
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General Meeting

Ordinary and extraordinary general 
meetings of shareholders 

The ordinary Annual General Meeting is 
held annually on a date determined by 
the Board of Directors no later than the 
end of June. The AGM considers matters 
stipulated by the company’s Articles of 
Incorporation, and any other proposals/
recommendations made to the AGM. In 
recent years, Revenio’s ordinary Annual 
General Meeting has been held in March–
April. The company may also convene an 
extraordinary meeting of shareholders. 
General meetings of shareholders are 
convened by the Board of Directors.

An extraordinary general meeting of 
shareholders shall also be convened if 
shareholders with at least 10% of the com-
pany’s shares demand it in writing for the 
consideration of a specific matter.

As a rule, the AGM considers matters 
presented to it by the Board of Directors. 
In accordance with the Finnish Limited 
Liability Companies Act, a shareholder 
has the right to submit a matter under the 
jurisdiction of the AGM for consideration 
by a request to the Board of Directors, 
made sufficiently in advance for the mat-
ter to be included in the notice of the AGM. 
The shareholder shall deliver the request 
to include a matter on the agenda for the 
AGM, together with its grounds or sug-
gested decision, to the address Revenio 
Group Corporation, Äyritie 22, 01510 
VANTAA, FINLAND, in writing. The com-
pany will notify by the end of the financial 
year prior to the AGM the date by which 
shareholders shall deliver their request on 
its website and event calendar. 

After the notice of the AGM has been pub-
lished, similar proposals made by share-
holders who own at least 10% must be 
published separately.

Principal matters to be decided by the 
general meeting of shareholders
The principal matters to be decided by the 
general meeting of shareholders are: 
• the number of members on the Board 

of Directors
• election of the members of the Board 

of Directors 
• the remuneration and financial bene-

fits paid to members of the Board of 
Directors

• election of the company’s auditor and 
deciding on the auditor's fee

• adoption of the financial statements
• the discharge of the President & CEO 

and the members of the Board of 
Directors from liability 

• amendments to the Articles of 
Incorporation 

• changes in share capital 
• distribution of the company’s funds, 

such as the distribution of profit 

Notice of the general meeting of 
shareholders 
Notice of a General Meeting shall be giv-
en no earlier than two (2) months and no 
later than twenty-one (21) days prior to the 
meeting by publishing the notice on the 
company’s website at www.revenio.fi, or 
additionally also in at least one Finnish-
language national daily newspaper as de-
termined by the Board of Directors, or by 
delivering the notice in writing to the ad-
dress entered for each shareholder in the 
shareholder register. The notice of the 
general meeting shall indicate:
• the time and place of the meeting
• the proposed agenda for the meeting 
• proposal for members to be elected to 

the Board of Directors together with 
their personal information 

• proposal for the remuneration of the 
members of the Board of Directors

• proposal for auditor
• guidelines for the procedure the share-

holder must follow in order to partici-
pate and vote in the general meeting 

• the record date determining the right 
to participate and vote in the general 
meeting 

• the place where documents related to 
the meeting and decision proposals 
are available 

• the address of the company’s website 
 
The notice and the Board’s proposals for 
the meeting are published in the form of a 
stock exchange release. 
In addition to the above information, the 
following will be presented to shareholders 
on the company’s website no later than 21 
days prior to the meeting: 
• the total number of shares and votes 

by classes of shares on the date of the 
notice

• the documents to be presented to the 
general meeting

• decision proposals by the Board or an-
other executive body 

• matters included on the agenda for 
which no decision is proposed
 

Right to participate in general meet-
ings of shareholders
Shareholders who are registered in the 

Company’s shareholder register,¬ main-
tained by Euroclear Finland Ltd, ¬on¬ 
the record date specified ¬by ¬the ¬com-
pany¬ have the right to attend the AGM. 
Participants are required to register for 
the general meeting by the date given 
in the notice, which is no later than ten 
(10) days prior to the date of the meet-
ing. Shareholders may attend the meeting 
in person or by a proxy representative. A 
proxy representative must present a dated 
power of attorney or otherwise in a reliable 
manner prove that they are authorized to 
represent the shareholder. The sharehold-
er or proxy representative may have one 
assistant at the meeting. 

Minutes of the Annual General 
Meeting
Minutes will be taken at general meetings 
of shareholders and made available, to-
gether with attachments relating to the de-
cisions made by the meeting, to the share-
holders, on the company’s website within 
two (2) weeks of the meeting. Attachments 
relating to decisions made by the meet-
ing will be available only to the extent they 
pertain to the actual subject matter of the 
decision. In addition, the decisions of the 
general meeting are published in the form 
of a stock exchange release without de-
lay after the meeting. Documents of the 
General Meeting are available on the com-
pany’s website for at least five years after 
the Annual General Meeting.

Senior management presence at gen-
eral meetings
The intention is for all members of 
Revenio Group Corporation’s Board of 
Directors to be present at general meet-
ings of shareholders. The Chairman of 
the Board, members of the Board, and 
the President & CEO are present at gen-
eral meetings. In addition, the auditor at-
tends ordinary Annual General Meetings. 
A candidate to the Board of Directors 
must be present at the general meeting 
deciding on their election. 

Share classes 
The company has one class of shares. 
One share entitles to one vote. In a vote, 
the decision of the general meeting shall 
according to the Finnish Limited Liability 
Companies Act usually be the propos-
al carried by more than half of the votes 
given. According to the Finnish Limited 
Liability Companies Act, however, there 
are several matters that require a qual-
ified majority in respect of the num-
ber of shares and the votes granted by 
the shares. Such matters include the 

Corporate governance statement of  
the Revenio Group Corporation 2015

The Revenio Group Corporation's 
regulations and administrative code
Revenio Group Corporation (”Revenio” or ”the company”) is a Finnish 
public limited company. Its obligations and the responsibilities of its 
decision-making body are governed by Finnish law. The Revenio 
Group comprises the parent company Revenio Group Corporation 
and its subsidiaries. The company is domiciled in Vantaa.

The highest decision-making authority rests with the Annual General 
Meeting of the company’s shareholders. The shareholders elect the 
members of the Board of Directors and the auditors of the compa-
ny in the Annual General Meeting. The day-to-day operations of 
the Revenio Group is managed by the Board of Directors and the 
President & CEO. The company operates according to the single-ti-
er administration model.

In its decision-making and corporate governance, Revenio Group 
Corporation abides by the Finnish Limited Liability Companies Act, 
other legal provisions concerning listed companies, Revenio Group 
Corporation's Articles of Association, and the rules and guidelines 
issued by Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd. The company complies with the 
Finnish Corporate Governance Code issued on October 1, 2015 
by the Securities Market Association (”governance code”). The full 
Governance Code is available at www.cgfinland.fi. 

Deviation from Governance Code recommendations
The Members of the Board of Directors elected by the Annual General 
Meeting on March 19, 2015 are all male. This constitutes a deviation 
from recommendation No. 8 of the Governance Code, according to 
which a Board of Directors should include both genders. The com-
pany strives to balance the composition of the Board of Directors to 
the extent possible.

REVENIO GROUP CORPORATION
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

General Meeting

Auditor Board of Directors Internal
audit

President & CEO

Elects Elects

Elects

Elects

Reports

Reports

Issues auditor’s 
report

Revenio Health Tech Discontinued operations Group administration

Icare
USA Inc.

Icare
Finland Oy

Kauhajoen 
Sisälogistiikka Oy

Oscare
Medical Oy

53%

Revenio 
Research Oy
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President & CEO ensures that all members 
of the Board of Directors have sufficient in-
formation on the company’s operation, op-
erating environment and financial position, 
and that a new member of the Board will re-
ceive induction into the company’s operation

As stipulated by its charter, the Board’s prin-
cipal tasks are to:
• decide on Group strategy and ratify the 

strategies of the various business areas
• approve the Group’s annual plan (budget)
• approve the Group’s financing and invest-

ment policies
• ratify the Group’s risk management prin-

ciples, and discuss the Group’s most im-
portant risks and factors of uncertainty

• confirm and ratify the Group’s insurance 
policy

• discuss and approve the consolidated fi-
nancial statements, interim financial re-
ports, stock exchange releases pertain-
ing to these, and the review of operations

• decide on specific investments, acquisi-
tions, divestments, corporate reorganiza-
tion and commitments that have strategic 
or financial importance 

• decide on rules concerning management 
authorizations

• decide on the Group’s high-level structure 
and organization 

• appoint and dismiss the President & CEO, 
approve the CEO’s service contract, and 
decide on the CEO’s salary, benefits, and 
other financial remuneration 

• approve the appointments of the mem-
bers of the Group Management Team, the 
Managing Directors of subsidiaries, their 
salaries and financial benefits

• decide on the incentive systems of the 
Revenio Group, including the granting of 
any stock options within limits set by the 
general meeting of shareholders

The Board’s decision-making
The task of Revenio Group Corporation’s 
Board of Directors is to further the inter-
ests of the Group and all of its sharehold-
ers. Members of the Board do not represent 
the entities or persons who proposed their 
election. Members of the Board are disquali-
fied from participating in the management of 
matters or transactions taking place between 
themselves and the company. Voting is based 
on the simple majority vote principle. In the 
case of an even vote, the proposal supported 
by the Chairman will prevail. 

The Board’s meeting procedures and 
self-assessment
The Chairman is responsible for convening 
the Board meetings and for the work at the 
meetings. The Board has not assigned any 
particular areas of business for monitoring 
to its members. The Board annually reviews 
its operation and procedures, and performs 
self-assessments at necessary intervals.
 
In 2015, the Board of Directors met 20 times, 
and the average attendance of Board mem-
bers at meetings was 97%, while in 2014 it 
was 94%.

The attendance of Board members at 
meetings:
Fryckman Rolf  20/20 100%
Kakkonen Kyösti  20/20 100%
Kohonen Ari  20/20 100%
Rönkä Pekka  18/20 90%
Tammela Pekka  19/20 95%

Director’s fees and other financial benefits 
of the members of the Board of Directors
The ordinary Annual General Meeting of 
shareholders decides the fees and other fi-
nancial benefits of the members of the Board 
of Directors for one year at a time. According 
to the decision of the AGM on March 19, 
2015, 40 per cent of the Board members' fee 
is paid in the company’s own shares and 60 
per cent in money. No separate fees are paid 
to Board members for meeting attendance. 
The travel expenses of the members of the 
Board are reimbursed in accordance with the 
Finnish Tax Administration’s ruling on tax-free 
reimbursements of travel expenses.
 
President & CEO

According to the Articles of Incorporation, 
Revenio Group Corporation shall have a 
President and CEO. The CEO’s task is to 
manage the operation of the company in ac-
cordance with guidelines and rules laid out 
by the Board of Directors, and inform the 
Board of the development of the company’s 
business operations and financial position. 
Additionally, the CEO is responsible for or-
ganizing the company’s day-to-day man-
agement and to assure that the company’s 
asset management is arranged in a reliable 
way. The CEO is appointed by the Board 
of Directors, which also specifies the terms 
and conditions of the CEO’s employment 
in a written employment contract that has 
been approved by the Board of Directors. 
The contract also contains the financial ben-
efits of the employment, such as severance 
pay and any other compensations.
 
The Revenio Group Corporation’s President 

Remuneration to the President & CEO and the 
members of the Board of Directors 2014–2015 (TEUR):

2015 2014
Olli-Pekka Salovaara, President & CEO: 296 321
Pekka Tammela, Chairman of the Board 36 36
Rolf Fryckman, member of the Board 18 18
Ari Kohonen, member of the Board 18 18
Pekka Rönkä, member of the Board 18 13,5
Kyösti Kakkonen, member of the Board 18 13,5

President & CEO’s age of retirement, pension benefits, 
period of notice and discharge compensation:

Retirement age TyEL
Pension benefits TyEL, supplementary pension
Period of notice 18 months
Compensation payable in addition  
to salary for period of notice – 

President and CEO’s salary, bonuses and benefits in 
kind 2014–2015 (EUR)

Monetary 
salary

Performance 
bonuses

Fringe 
benefits

Employment-
based options Total.

Olli-Pekka 
Salovaara

2015
217,024

2015
51,840

2015
26,705

2015 
0

2015
295,569

2014
215,404

2014
103,680

2014
1,423

2014
0

2014
320,507

amendment of the Articles of Incorporation 
and the decision on a directed share issue. 

Revenio’s Articles of Incorporation do not 
include any redemption clauses or voting 
restrictions. To the knowledge of the com-
pany, no shareholder agreements exist for 
exercising voting rights in the company, 
nor restrictions on the transfer of the com-
pany’s shares.

Board of Directors 

Composition and Term of the Board of 
Directors and the independence of its 
members
According to its Articles of Incorporation, 
Revenio Group Corporation’s Board of 
Directors is to be composed of no few-
er than three (3) and no more than six (6) 
members. 

The requirements set by the company’s op-
eration and its development phase will be 
considered with regard to the composition 
of the Board of Directors. A candidate to the 
Board of Directors must have the necessary 
qualifications for the position and time to ful-
fil their duties. The number of members on 
the Board of Directors and its composition 
must enable efficient performance when 
the Board’s tasks are being managed. In 
order to ensure the diversity of the Board of 
Directors, the members’ competence, expe-
rience and industry-specific knowledge must 
be taken into account when candidates are 
being proposed as members of the Board. 
The company strives to have both genders 
represented in the Board of Directors and 
that members represent wide-ranging and 
diverse perspectives. 

The general meeting of shareholders elects 
the members of the Board. The Board elects 
its chairperson from among its members. 
All members of the Board of Directors are 
non-executive directors. According to the 
Articles of Incorporation, the term of a mem-
ber of the Board is one year beginning at the 
end of the general meeting of shareholders 
by which the member was elected and end-
ing at the end of the next ordinary general 
meeting of shareholders.

Board Members
Pekka Tammela (b. 1962), M.Sc. (Econ. & 
Bus.Adm.), APA

Pekka Tammela, M.Sc. (Econ. & Bus.Adm.), 
APA, is a partner in Pajamaa Partners Oy. 
He served in various managerial posts in 
1999–2006, such as CFO of Solteq Oyj and 
of Panostaja Oyj and as a senior manager 

in both KPMG and PricewaterhouseCoopers. 
Mr. Tammela has been a member of Revenio’s 
Board of Directors since April 3, 2007. 

Pekka Tammela and his controlling interest 
company owned on Dec 31, 2015 a total of 
26,069 Revenio Group Corporation's shares 
and 0 options.

Rolf Fryckman (b. 1954), optician
Rolf Fryckman is Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of Eyemaker's Finland Oy. He is al-
so a partner in the company, and plays a lead-
ership role in companies in which Eyemaker's 
Finland Oy has a stake. Since 2000, he has 
served in health technology startups and var-
ious sales and marketing roles. Mr. Fryckman 
has been a member of Revenio’s Board of 
Directors since April 8, 2010.

Rolf Fryckman and his controlling interest 
company owned on Dec 31, 2015 a total of 
163,698 Revenio Group Corporation's shares 
and 0 options.

Kyösti Kakkonen (b. 1956), LL.B.
Kyösti Kakkonen is the founder of Tokmanni 
Group and served as CEO of the Group for 
20 years until 2009. Today, Mr. Kakkonen 
acts as CEO in several companies of his 
own, such as Joensuun Kauppa ja Kone Oy, 
K2 Invest Oy and Kakkonen-Yhtiöt Oy. Mr. 
Kakkonen has been a member of Revenio'’s 
Board of Directors since March 20, 2014.

Kyösti Kakkonen and his controlling interest 
company owned on Dec 31, 2015 a total of 
591,509 Revenio Group Corporation's shares 
and 0 options.

Ari Kohonen (b. 1955), M.Sc. (Eng.), M.Sc. 
(Econ.) 
Ari Kohonen is Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of Gerako Oy. His previous posi-
tions include several international and in-
vestment banking positions at Nordea (1983-
2003) and a CEO’s position at Tekla Oyj 
(2004-2013). Mr. Kohonen has been a mem-
ber of Revenio’s Board of Directors since 
March 21, 2013.

Ari Kohonen and his controlling interest 
company owned on Dec 31, 2015 a total of 
341,860 Revenio Group Corporation's shares 
and 0 options.

Pekka Rönkä (b. 1952), M.Sc. (Eng.)
Pekka Rönkä, M.Sc. (Eng), has acted as 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of HLD 
Healthy Life Devices Oy and Magnasense 
Technologies Oy. He has also acted as 
Senior Vice President and General Manager 
of Thermo Fisher Scientific (1999-2012). Mr. 
Rönkä has been a Member of Revenio’s 
Board of Directors since March 20, 2014. 

Pekka Rönkä and his controlling interest 
company owned on Dec 31, 2015 a total of 
801 Revenio Group Corporation's shares 
and 0 options.

All Board Members are independent of the 
company and its major shareholders.

The Board reviews the neutrality of its mem-
bers on a regular basis. Board Members are 
obligated to provide the Board of Directors 
with the information required for the assess-
ment of neutrality. 
 
Responsibilities of the Board of Directors
The Board is responsible for the company’s 
administration and the appropriate organiza-
tion of the company’s business operations. 
It makes decisions on principles governing 
corporate strategy, organization, account-
ing, and finances. 
The Board appoints the company’s 
President & CEO and, based on the CEO’s 
proposal, the members of the company’s 
Management Team. It also ratifies the com-
pany’s organization and structure. Since the 
Board has not established an audit commit-
tee, the Board also takes care of the tasks 
of an audit committee according to the 
Governance Code. 

The Board has prepared a written char-
ter of its operation. The Board holds regu-
lar meetings approximately once a month, 
and more often as required. The company’s 

Assessment of independence of the members of 
Revenio Group Corporation’s Board of Directors

Independent of  
the company

Independent of significant 
shareholders

Fryckman Rolf Yes Yes
Kakkonen Kyösti Yes Yes
Kohonen Ari Yes Yes
Rönkä Pekka Yes Yes
Tammela Pekka Yes Yes

Corporate Governance Statement of Revenio Group Corporation 2015Corporate Governance Statement of Revenio Group Corporation 2015
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Risk management and 
control
Risk management
The Group’s risk management aims to en-
sure the continuity of business and the 
Group’s capacity to operate in any risk sce-
narios that can be identified in advance. 
Revenio Group Corporation’s Board of 
Directors confirms the risk management 
principles, strategic targets and priorities.

Risk management responsibilities and 
roles
The implementation of risk management 
is the responsibility of business manage-
ment teams and the Group’s Management 
Team. These bodies ensure that sufficient 
risk identification, assessment, manage-
ment and reporting procedures are includ-
ed in the processes under their respective 
responsibilities. 

Subsidiaries' business management teams 
locally organize risk management imple-
mentation methods, taking the subsidiary's 
size into account. For certain risk manage-
ment areas in which a centralized approach 
is appropriate, such as the management 
of insurance and financial risks, the par-
ent company's Board of Directors makes 
such decisions based on a proposal by the 
President & CEO. Risks and any chang-
es therein are reported to Revenio Group 
Corporation's Board of Directors. At least 
once a year, the Board considers major risks 
and their management, and analyzes the ef-
fectiveness of risk management.

Risk management is assessed by the 
Internal Audit function during internal audit 
procedures.

Risk management implementation 
The management of the subsidiaries will as-
sess the risks when preparing annual plans. 
Business segments' management discuss 
risks and their management, and update risk 
assessments at least once a year. Separate 
risk analyses are made for significant proj-
ects, such as major customer projects. 

Major risks and uncertainty factors
Revenio Group’s risks are defined as stra-
tegic, operational, trade cycle, hazard, and 
financial risks. 

The Group’s strategic risks include compe-
tition in all sectors, the threat posed by new 
competing products, and any other actions 
of the company’s rivals that may affect the 
competitive situation. Another factor posing 
a strategic risk is related to success in R&D 

operations and, therefore, preservation of 
the product range’s competitiveness. In the 
Group’s sectors, requiring particular exper-
tise in accordance with the strategy, essen-
tial risks also include those related to the 
retention and development of key person-
nel as well as dependence on the opera-
tional ability of the subcontractor and sup-
plier network.
Corporate acquisitions are part of the 
Group’s strategy. The success of these ac-
quisitions has a significant impact on the 
reaching of growth and profitability targets. 
Acquisitions may also change the Group’s 
risk profile.

Strategic risks and the need for action are 
regularly assessed and are monitored in 
connection with day-to-day management, 
monthly Group reporting, and annual strat-
egy updates.

Operational risks are associated with the 
retention and development of major cus-
tomers, the operations of the distribution 
network and success in extending the cus-
tomer base and markets. In the Health Care 
segment especially, operational risks in-
clude factors related to expansion into new 
markets, such as various countries' nation-
al regulations of marketing authorizations 
for medical instruments and the related of-
ficial decisions concerning the health care 
market.

The operational risks related to the manu-
facture, product development, and produc-
tion control of medical instruments are es-
timated to be higher than average in the 
Health Care segment, because of that sec-
tor’s requirements concerning quality. 

The ratio of deferred tax assets to assets in 
the consolidated Balance Sheet is not signif-
icant. Changes in business profitability and 
in both tax legislation and its interpretation 
could lead to changes in the availability and 
amount of deferred tax assets. 

Hazard risks are covered by insurance. 
Property and business interruption insur-
ance provide protection against risks in 
these areas. The business pursued is cov-
ered by international liability insurance.

Financial risks consist of credit, interest, li-
quidity, and foreign exchange risks. To man-
age credit loss risks, the Group has taken 
out credit insurance covering all companies 
in the Group. Every month, and more fre-
quently if necessary, the Board, in its meet-
ings, assesses matters related to finan-
cial issues. If required, the Board provides 

decisions and guidelines for the manage-
ment of financial risks concerning inter-
est-rate and currency hedging, for instance. 
The liquidity risk can be affected by the 
availability of external financing, the devel-
opment of the Group’s credit standing, the 
trend in business operations and chang-
es in the payment behavior of customers. 
Liquidity risks are monitored by means of 
cash forecasts, which are drawn up for peri-
ods of 12 months at most at a time.

Internal auditing

The Board of Directors is responsible for in-
ternal auditing, which is carried out by an ex-
ternal public accountancy firm, authorized 
by the Central Chamber of Commerce and 
selected by the Board. The authorized pub-
lic accountancy firm performing internal audit 
cannot be the same firm that acts as the com-
pany’s auditor. 

The objective of internal auditing is to assess 
and verify the efficiency of risk management, 
internal control, and management and admin-
istration. The audits are based on an annual 
audit plan approved by the Board of Directors 
of Revenio Group Corporation.

Internal auditing is conducted by Ernst & 
Young Oy.

Internal control

Revenio Group Corporation's internal control 
function is responsible for providing support 
and ensuring that: 
• the reaching of set targets
• the economical and efficient use of 

resources
• the management of risks related to the 

operations
• the reliability and accuracy of financial 

and other managerial information
• compliance with laws and regulations 

as well as with strategies, plans, internal 
rules, and set procedures

Internal control encompasses all financial 
and other control carried out by the Board of 
Directors, the President & CEO, and other 
personnel. At Group level, internal control is 
based on monthly reports, analyses and fore-
casts prepared by subsidiaries, all of which 
are discussed at the parent company's month-
ly Board meetings. The internal control practic-
es applied by subsidiaries with respect to, for 
example, key financial processes are defined 
in company-specific guidelines. 

and CEO is Mr. Olli-Pekka Salovaara, M.Sc. 
(Econ.) (b. 1960). Mr. Salovaara has more 
than 25 years of experience in different po-
sitions in international sales, marketing and 
general corporate management, includ-
ing the posts of Marketing Manager and 
Managing Director at Halton-System Oy, 
Development Director at Konecranes USA, 
and Managing Director of Pan-Oston Oy. 
While working for Ruukki Group Corporation, 
he was responsible for companies in the 
metal industry.

President and CEO Salovaara and his con-
trolling interest company owned on Dec 
31, 2015 a total of 104,387 Revenio Group 
Corporation's shares and 7,500 options.

Company management 
and administration of 
subsidiaries
Revenio Group’s Management Team con-
sists of the President & CEO and Managing 
Directors of Group’s subsidiaries. In 2015, 
the Management Team consisted of 
President & CEO Olli-Pekka Salovaara, 
Timo Hildén, Tomi Karvo, Ari Kukkonen 
and Robin Pulkkinen. In addition, Tiina 
Olkkonen participates in the Management 
Team’s work as an external communica-
tions specialist.
The members of the Boards of Directors 
of the subsidiaries of the Revenio Group 
Corporation are elected from Group man-
agement. Persons who have employment 
agreements or service contracts with Group 
companies are not paid a separate fee for 
membership on the Boards of Directors of 
subsidiary companies. The responsibilities 
of the Boards of subsidiaries are provided 
for in legislation. Business control of the 
subsidiaries takes place through the parent 
companys Board of Directors, President & 
CEO, the subsidiary’s Managing Director, 
and the Group’s management system.

Directors of the business segments and 
Managing Directors of subsidiaries Dec 
31, 2015 

Revenio Health Tech
Revenio Health Tech segment is headed by 
Olli-Pekka Salovaara, President and CEO 
of the Revenio Group, in addition to his oth-
er duties. His personal details are present-
ed above. The Managing Directors of the 
segment companies are:

Icare Finland Oy: Timo Hildén, M.Sc. 
(Econ.) since April 9, 2012. Timo Hildén 
has 30 years of experience in general man-
agement, sales and marketing positions 

within the health technology sector, at Orion 
Group, Labsystems, Thermo Electron and 
Thermo Fisher Scientific. In the early 1990s, 
he was involved in the launch of production 
and sales companies in Russia and China, 
later assuming responsibility for production 
and marketing units in the USA, Mexico and 
Finland. He was also in charge of product 
development units in Finland and the United 
States. Timo was involved in numerous ac-
quisitions while working for Thermo.

Hildén and his controlling interest compa-
ny owned on Dec 31, 2015 a total of 4,000 
Revenio Group Corporation's shares and 
7,500 options.

Revenio Research Oy: Timo Hildén, M.Sc. 
(Econ.) since December 29, 2014. 

Oscare Medical Oy: At the end of 2013, 
Revenio acquired a share of 53 per cent 
of Oscare Medical Oy, a company special-
izing in the detection and screening of os-
teoporosis. Revenio Group Corporation’s 
President and CEO Olli-Pekka Salovaara 
acts as the Chairman of the Board of 
Oscare Medical Oy.

Divested operations in 2015
In December 2014, Revenio announced that 
it would sell off its holdings in Boomeranger 
Boats Oy, sold in February 2015, and Done 
Software Solutions Oy, sold in May 2015, 
which represented its Technology and 
Services segment.

Remuneration

The remuneration system for the President & 
CEO, the Group Management Team, and the 
subsidiaries’ Managing Directors comprises 
a fixed monthly salary, short and long-term 
bonuses determined by the profit impact of 
the position, and a stock option program. 
The company does not have a share-based 
incentive scheme. As of January 1, 2012, the 
CEO, Group Management Team, and CEOs 
of subsidiaries will benefit from group pen-
sion insurance and medical expenses insur-
ance. The financial impact of this insurance 
is insignificant to the company.

The Board of Revenio Group Corporation 
decides on the salaries and other finan-
cial benefits of the Chairman of the Board, 
members of the Management Team, and 
the Managing Directors of subsidiaries. 
The Board also decides on the criteria for 
the performance-based bonus system and 
other principles for management's perfor-
mance-based bonuses. The President & 
CEO makes decisions pertaining to the 

salaries and bonuses of any Management 
Team members not mentioned above, 
and also decides on the details of perfor-
mance-based bonus schemes for other 
managerial staff, using the one-over-one 
principle. 

The maximum amount of perfor-
mance-based remuneration granted to 
members of Revenio Group Corporation's 
management is equal to four months' sala-
ry under the short-term performance-based 
bonus scheme and two months' salary un-
der the long-term scheme. A determina-
tion period of one year is used for both. The 
maximum remuneration for the President & 
CEO is equal to six months' salary under 
the short-term performance-based bonus 
scheme and four months' salary under the 
long-term scheme. The criteria for the short-
term performance-based bonus scheme are 
performance requirements at both Group 
level and for one's own area of responsibility, 
along with an assessment component. The 
Group's operating profit is the criterion for 
the long-term incentive scheme. The short-
term performance-based bonus scheme 
applies to 5 people in managerial posts 
at Group companies. A part of the current 
Group Management Team falls within the 
scope of the long-term performance-based 
bonus scheme.

In addition to its performance-based bonus 
scheme, Revenio Group Corporation also 
has option schemes for Group management, 
dating from 2007 and 2015. Revenio Group 
Corporation's Board of Directors decides on 
the distribution of options.

The Group’s financial 
reporting 
The Group's financial development and 
achievement of the Group’s financial goals 
are monitored through monthly financial 
reporting covering the entire Group. The 
monthly performance reports include actu-
al performance at the Group and segment 
levels together with analysis, realized per-
formance over the year before, realized per-
formance compared against financial plans, 
and forecasts for the current calendar year. 
In addition, each segment reports a number 
of key financial and business figures.

The Group’s short-term financial planning is 
based on annually drawn-up financial plans 
for the following calendar year. 

The Group’s financial position and develop-
ment are communicated through interim re-
ports and the financial statements release. 
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Related party transactions

The company will assess and monitor trans-
actions carried out with related parties and 
ensure that any conflicts of interests will be 
appropriately considered in the company’s de-
cision-making. The company maintains a list 
of related parties in its Group administration. 

Revenio Group Corporation does not have 
any relevant related party transactions with-
in its regular business operations that would 
deviate from regular business operations or 
market conditions.

The company provides information on relat-
ed party transactions according to the Limited 
Liability Companies Act and regulations gov-
erning the preparation of the financial state-
ments in the review by the Board of Directors 
and notes to the financial statements.

Insider issues

Revenio Group Corporation's Guidelines 
for Insiders
Revenio Group Corporation complies 
with the Guidelines for Insiders issued by 
Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd, which came into force 
on December 1, 2015. The guidelines have 
been sent to all insiders.

Revenio Group Corporation's permanent 
insiders and insider registers
Under the Finnish Securities Markets Act, 
Revenio Group Corporation's public perma-
nent insiders include the members of the 
company's Board of Directors, the President 
& CEO, and the chief auditor from the 
Authorized Public Accountants. The compa-
ny's Board of Directors has also decided that, 
alongside the President & CEO, the other 
members of the Management Team will also 
be permanent public insiders. Anyone defined 
as a permanent public insider, the statutory 
information concerning them and their close 
relations, and organizations in which they ex-
ercise control or influence have been entered 
in the company's public insider register.

The company’s permanent insiders al-
so include those who regularly receive, in 
the course of their duties for the Board of 
Directors, insider information and are there-
fore entered into the Group’s non-public, 
company-specific insider register. 

Supervision
Group Management supervises compliance 
with the Guidelines for Insiders and maintains 

the company's insider registers in coopera-
tion with Euroclear Finland Ltd. Permanent 
public insiders are regularly sent an extract of 
the information entered in the insider register. 
Their adherence to the restrictions on trading 
set for permanent insiders is monitored and 
the relevant guidelines are provided.

Permanent insiders cannot acquire or dis-
pose of securities issued by the company, or 
any securities or derivatives entitling to said 
securities, during the 14 days prior to the pub-
lication of an interim report and during the 
21 days prior to the publication of financial 
statements. These publication dates are an-
nounced annually in advance in a stock ex-
change release. In addition, those participat-
ing in projects involving insiders may not, 
during the project, trade in securities or de-
rivatives issued by the company.

Auditing

According to the Articles of Incorporation, 
the company must have one (1) regular au-
ditor, which must be a firm of Authorized 
Public Accountants certified by the Central 
Chamber of Commerce. The proposal to the 
Annual General Meeting on the company’s 
auditor is prepared by the Board of Directors. 
The term of the auditor is equal to the finan-
cial period of the company, and the term of 
the auditor ends at the end of the ordinary 
Annual General Meeting of shareholders fol-
lowing the election of the auditor. 

The auditor provides the statutory auditor’s 
report as to the company’s shareholders in 
connection with the financial statements, and 
regularly reports on its observations to the 
Board of Directors.

The Annual General Meeting of 2015 appoint-
ed PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy, Authorized 
Public Accountants, as the company’s audi-
tor. The principal auditor for the company is 
Mr. Samuli Perälä, APA. The AGM decided 
that the auditor’s fee be paid according to an 
invoice approved by the company. 

Auditors' fees in  
2014–2015, TEUR:

2015 2014
Auditing 36 36
Other services 4 5
Total 40 41

Other issues

Stock exchange information and releases
The financial content of stock exchange infor-
mation and investor communications are the 
responsibility of the President and CEO. The 
observance of rules and regulations in respect 
of stock exchange information is controlled 
and monitored by the company’s General 
Counsel and the CFO.

In its investor communications, the company 
observes a principle of equality and publishes 
all investor information on its website in both 
Finnish and English. 

IR Principles
The aim of the company is to provide continu-
ous, correct and up-to-date information to the 
market in order to provide a basis for deter-
mining the price of the company’s share. The 
goal is to improve awareness of the compa-
ny’s operations and increase the transparen-
cy of investor information, thus also increas-
ing the attractiveness of the company as an 
investment. 
 
The company publishes a printed annual re-
port in both Finnish and English. The compa-
ny maintains a mailing list for the annual re-
port. Interested parties may subscribe to the 
mailing list by sending email to info@revenio.
fi. Through this email address, it is also possi-
ble to subscribe to stock exchange and press 
releases delivered by email.
 
The company observes a 14-day silent period 
before publication of its interim reports and a 
21-day silent period before publication of its 
financial statements. At other times, investor 
queries are replied to by telephone, email and 
by organizing investor meetings.

Updates to the Corporate Governance 
statements and additional information
These Corporate Governance statements are 
published simultaneously with the company’s 
Annual Report for 2015 on the company web-
site and will be updated as necessary. Please 
email any questions and comments regard-
ing the Corporate Governance principles to 
info@revenio.fi.
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are based on the best knowledge of the management of the Group and its subsidiaries at the time 
they were made. Due to their nature, they contain a certain amount of uncertainty and may change 
in the event of developments in the general economic situation or conditions within the industry.
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